User Guide

A guide to Martin Audio's VU-NET Control and Monitoring Software for Multicellular and U-Net enabled Loudspeaker Systems

U-NET



DD12 ©CDDLIVE





Contents

.....

Version History	5
Installation	5
System requirements	5
Vu-Net	6
Introduction	
Menus	
Window components	7
Menu and Toolbar	7
File	
Edit	
Preferences	
Tools	
Window	
Help	
Tool bar	
Project Workspace	
Working Offline	
Adding Merlin, MLA, MLD and MLX	
Adding MLA Compact & DSX	23
Adding MLA Mini	
Adding DD12	
Adding PSX	
Adding CDD Live	
Arranging the Array components	
Device Discovery	
Device Discovery MLA Mini	
On line operation	
Right-Click menu	54
Renaming	
Presets & Snapshots	
Loading Presets	
Defining Zones	
Synchronize	
Delete	
MLA/MLD & Compact Arrays	
Array Cell Check	
PEQ Tab	
Array & Zone Ganging	

.....



Array ganging	77
MLX & DSX Arrays	81
Block PEQ	
Sub Array/Block Ganging	85
MLA Mini	
MLA Mini Cell check	
Assigning Zones in MLA Mini	
MLA Mini PEQ	92
MLA Mini Ganging	93
DD12	97
Overview	
EQ	
Zones	
Noise Gate	
PSX	
Overview	
EQ	
Zones	
Noise Gate	
CDD Live	
Overview	
EQ	
Zones	
Merlin	
Gain, Mute & Limiters	
Routing	
Input Channels	
Output Channels	
Delay	
Delay Link	
Ganging	
Ganging entire Merlins	
Input and output Ganging	
Individual parameter ganging	
Turning Ganging Off	
Loading Presets	
PEQ files	
Other options	
Synchronise	

.....



Master Overview	168
Show Mode	
Firmware Updates	176
Get Firmware Updates	176
Starting a Firmware Update.	
MLA/MLD Conversion Tool	



Version History

Manual Version 4.5;-

Vu-Net Version: 2.0.1.

Installation

MLA and MLA Compact touring system owners will have a Tablet PC as part of their system package which will be pre-loaded with all necessary software including the latest version of Vu-Net. For owners of Installed systems, MLA Mini, DD12, PSX or CDD Live systems, Vu-Net can be downloaded from the Martin Audio website at https://martin-audio.com/software/software/ and installed on a PC of your choice.

System requirements

Vu-Net requires a Windows PC running either Windows Vista, Windows 7, Windows 8 or Windows 10; no other operating systems are supported. We would recommend a 64 bit i7 processor running at 2.6GHz minimum with a minimum of 8GB of RAM. Display resolution must be no bigger than 1920x1080. The maximum size of text, apps and other items

File sizes are not particularly huge so a high-capacity Hard Drive is not necessary but an SSD drive will be faster and more reliable. It may be useful for a portable system to use a tablet-style PC which can be connected wirelessly to the network to allow freedom to listen to the system in all points in the venue and make any adjustments in real time.

Users have reported that Vu-Net works perfectly well on an Apple Mac using Bootcamp or under a virtual platform such as VM Ware Fusion or Parallels, (these options still require a copy of Windows Vista, 7, 8 or 10 to be installed) however this is not supported by Martin Audio.



Vu-Net

Introduction

Vu-Net is the application used to connect to a U-Net enabled device such as the multicellular family of products, the DD12, PSX, CDD Live or Merlin processor. Connection to the cabinets is achieved using the U-Net network protocol. Vu-Net is used to monitor and control the system, EQ optimisations for multicellular arrays are uploaded from the program and cabinet firmware is checked and updated. Vu-Net is supplied ready installed on the Panasonic tablet PC supplied with MLA and MLA Compact systems. It is an optional method of control for full use of MLA Mini, DD12, PSX and CDD Live.

Menus

Before we look at the design process that is used with a system it is worth taking a look at the file structure which we will refer back to throughout the chapter. When you run Vu-Net you will see the following Window;-

WART	Harith man
La la la bar a la compositione de la la compositione de la composition	Hartina Salawa Salawa Daline 📚
	S Past I
	C. Burner L. Color L.
	100
	Projety Value
	End Formance Systems

This is a blank screen with only 'New Project' and 'Open Project' active prompting you to start by using one or the other. Start by clicking on 'New Vu-Net project. You will see the following window;-

let project d creates a new project file and opens it. project	
project	
And Andread Contraction of the Andread Contract of the	
C:\my Display projects\projectdemo.vun	
	Finish Cancel
	Crymy Unipliky projects/projectionino.vun



Type a name for your project and select a suitable file location. As with Display 2.1 we would recommend creating one folder for all related files for a given event.

New VU-I This wize	Net project rd creates a new project file and opens it.	
Name:	User Guide System	
Location:	C:\User Guide Files\User Guide System.vun	
	(Finish Cancel

Once you have selected an appropriate name and file location click finish and a new project will be created;-

ter Date Propi Tang	P B Projector
2 Febra 2 Select 2 Margues	2 Uner Guide Projective
Network Uter Cable Ute	Freedom Dation
MLAMov Array DOL3 Spanne PSL3 Spanne COL Spanne COL Spanne COL Spanne	

You will notice that the top left of the main window has your project name and a number of options on the toolbar are now available.

Window components

The window has a number of distinct sections with their own function;-

Menu and Toolbar





Along the top of the window is a standard file menu and tool bar which gives quick access to a number of functions;-

File

<u>F</u> ile	Edit	Tools	Window	<u>H</u> elp
	New			
	Open			
	Close		Ctr	i+W
E.	Save		Ct	rl+S
9	Save A	As		
	Recen	t projec	ts	>
	Print		Ct	rl+P
	Exit			

The File menu controls all file management tools. The 'New' duplicates this function on the tool bar and is how you create a new project. Note that you cannot have several projects open simultaneously. If you select 'New' with another project already open you will see the following Window;-

?	Only on Do you	ne project can want to close	be opened a current proje	t a time. ect?	

'Open' enables you to open a project you have previously created and saved. As Vu-Net does not have an auto-save function it is wise to save your work at every step as is good practice for any application.

'Close' closes the presently active project.

'Save' is the standard Windows function to save the project, if it is the first time you have saved the project a window will appear giving you the opportunity to give the project a name and to choose a convenient file locations. As with Display 2.1 it is sensible practice to save the file in a folder dedicated to a specific event. All subsequent Saves will overwrite the existing file. As shown, the keyboard shortcut Ctl+S can be used to save a project. It is a good idea to frequently save your work. Vu-Net files are saved with a .vun file extension.

'Save As' gives you the facility to save your project with a different file name, retaining the original project. This could be useful if you wanted to try something but still have the option of returning to you original project file.

'Recent Projects' lists all VU-NET projects recently opened making it easy to find a project you may need to re-open.

'Print' will print the system layout in the main system overview window.

'Exit' will close the application

Edit

The Edit menu has a number of functions available;-





Note that exactly which of these menu items is displayed will depend on what active devices have been selected in the System diagram overview, Product such as MLA and MLA Compact have Presets that can be loaded, other devices such as DD12 or CDD-Live have Snapshots.

'Select All' selects every item on the main project window. All selected items will show four square black dots in the corners around the object or objects.

Load snapshot, Save snapshot, Save Preset and Define zones are functions relating to the relevant devices in the project and will be covered later in this manual.

Preferences

Preferences have some important options for how Vu-Net operates;-

Preferences		- 0 - x
Calculations Firmware update Help Mater Overview Network Observation User Interface	Calculations Venue Temperature in "C 20.0 •	Restore Defaults Apply
_		

Calculations: The first option is labelled 'Calculations' and allows you to select the venue temperature in steps of 5°. This is used when the option is selected in the Merlin Controller to read delay figures as a distance as opposed to time. The temperature adjustment calculates the delay time according to the speed of sound at that temperature. Select the desired temperature using the drop down box or an exact value may be typed directly into the box and click 'Apply'. Note that if you have a Merlin open in the project window the change will not be visible until you close it and reopen.

Firmware update: The next option is Firmware update;-



Preferences		
type filter test	Firmware update	Q • • • • •
Calculations Firmwate: update Help Hetwork Observation User Interface	Update Server UBL http://updates.martin-audio.com/u	pdates'
		DK. Cancel

This shows the web URL for the system to search for firmware updates which will be covered in the Firmware chapter. *This should not be changed unless notification is received from Martin Audio to do so*. If however it accidentally gets changed or deleted it is possible to reset all Default parameters by clicking on the Restore Defaults button. Note that this restores ALL Preferences so any that you wish to retain will have to be re-entered.

Help: Next are options for how the Help menu is displayed;-

Preferences		1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	
type filter text	Help		
Calculations Firmware update Help Network	Specify how help information is displayed. Open Modes Open halp search		
Observation User Interface	In the dynamic help view	•	
	Open help contents		
	In the help browser		
	ContextHelp Open window context help		
	In the dynamic help view		
	Open dialog context help		
	In a dialog tray		
	Restore D	efaults Apply	
	Automatica Automatica		
	ОК.	Cancel	

By default the help window is displayed in a dedicated help browser but you can select it to open in your default Internet Browser. Context help which responds dynamically to objects selected can be displayed as a window on the application or as an "Infopop"

Help includes a sub-menu for accessing help from remote infocenters. This is not currently operational and will be a future upgrade.

Master Overview: There is an option within Master Overview to show the Merlin Controllers in the system in the Overview tab. This is for systems where Merlins are used purely as a network interface with no audio passing through them which would make it unnecessary to monitor them in the Master Overview screen



By default the Master Overview opens in a secondary floating window, particularly useful when monitoring large systems with your PC connected to two or more screens. You can select the option to display the Master Overview as an embedded window within Vu-Net- it will appear as another tab in the same way as double clicking on any of the devices;-

Preferences		
type filter text	Master Overview	2
Calculations Firmware update Help Master Overview Network User Interface	Show Merlin controller Open in embedded window (slower response) Restore Defau	ta Apply
	ОК	Cancel

Network: The Network option is an important section for determining how devices are found on the Ethernet network;-

Preferences		
type filter text	Network	· · · · ·
Calculations Firmware update > Help Master Overview Network User Interface	Set comma separated bit of IP address device discovery process or leave the f devices. Examples of valid entries are 1 IP Address Filter Available IP addresses:	es that will be searched during the ield blank to search for all available 9216812° or 1923681°, 1921682.* Refresh
	10:00.4	
		Restore Defaults Apply
		OK Cencel

Running the application off line will display a blank window. When you have one or more Merlins connected (usually at least two for MLA and MLA Compact systems) their unique IP address will appear listed in the bottom 'Available IP addresses'. You can set an IP address Filter in the smaller window which will search only for IP addresses within the range of values between the two entered which should be separated with a comma;-





This could be used if you have two systems running on the same Ethernet network and need to control them independently. Only devices with their IP address set to values within the filter range will be found and the system will work completely independently as if there were no other devices on the network.

Note that if you are connecting to MLA Mini, DD12 or PSX via their integral USB port, no IP address will be visible. This function is only applicable to networks supported by Merlins or Ethernet connected devices such as the CDD Live range.

User Interface: The final option in the Preferences window is User interface;-

type filter test	User Interface	Contraction of the second seco
Calculations Firmware update > Help Master Overview Network User Interface	Increment Values Gain 0.5 ▼ Delay 0.25 ▼ Windows Power Options ✓ Allow VU-NET to modify Window System Diagram Options ✓ Show Merlin Ethernet wires ✓ Show Merlin Ethernet link quality ✓ Show CDD/CSX Live Ethernet link	rs power options. es quality Restore Defaults Apply

This allows customisation of certain functions within the application.

Increment Values;-



These allow the default increment values for both Gain and Delay to be changed as required. The default for Gain is 0.5dB but the options are for increments of 0.1, 0.2, 0.25, 0.5 or 1dB.

For delay, the default is 25ms, the options are 0.1, 0.2, 0.25, 0.5 or 1ms.

The Windows Power Option;-



Allows Vu-Net to prevent Windows from implementing changes to the power settings that can effect network operation. This should be left checked unless there is a very specific need to do otherwise



Finally there are a number of options for how the system diagram is displayed;-

System Diagram Options	
Show Merlin Ethernet wires	
Show Merlin Ethernet link quality	
Show CDD/CSX Live Ethernet wires	
Show CDD/CSX Live Ethernet link guality	

This is intended to reduce the number of lines on the System Diagram overview which may get cluttered in large systems with a high number of devices.

Tools

The tools menu;-



This has three important functions for system operation.

Preset Loader is used to upload EQ optimisations into the arrays.

Firmware Update Wizard is used to check and upload the latest firmware into the system components.

MLA/MLD Conversion Tool is used to convert the amplifier modules used in MLA and MLD cabinets from one type to another. Mechanically and electrically these are identical, they simply need a firmware conversion so the system is aware of what type of enclosure they are powering. An MLD module can be converted to an MLA or more commonly an MLA module to an MLD.

Window

The Window menu is used to determine which sections of the project window are displayed;-

Show View	18	Properties
Reset Perspective	ē.	Outline
		Network Status
T		System Event Log
		Biniste

The System Diagram is always visible but the other windows can be closed and reopened as required. By default they are all open but if closed they can be reopened by selecting them from the Window menu. The Reset Perspective option will restore the project layout to the default view.

Help

The help menu has a number of options;-

USER GUIDE



Hel	lp l	
	Welcome	ł
	User Guide	ł
	Essential Reading	l
	Send Feedback	l
	About VU-NET	l

'Welcome' opens the splash screen that is displayed when Vu-Net is run for the first time;-

	Welcome to	
	VULNET	Start using the software
	VZO	Go to Martin Audio website
		Go to MLA website
		1
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
	Services	M
UNET ODante		netis-cult.com
u-wei ieDonie		E

The lines 'Go to Martin Audio website' and Go to MLA website are hyperlinks and clicking on them will take you directly to the respective website if your PC is connected to the internet.

The window can be closed in one of three ways;-

- 1. Click on 'Start using the software'
- 2. Click on the x in the Welcome box in the top left of the window;-



3. Click on the drop down arrow in the top right of the window and select 'close';-

	~
Detached	
Size	
Restore	
Close	

Any of these will close the welcome screen to reveal the project window.

User Guide: This is essentially a link to this very guide slightly rearranged for use in the field when running the software. The contents page features links directly to the specific subject so you can very quickly navigate to where you need to be to discover the answer to something you don't fully understand.



Essential Reading: This opens a pdf document that outlines the new features in the latest version of Display 2.2 and how they affect their implementation in Vu-Net.

Send Feedback: opens a communication window which gives you an opportunity to communicate any issues or ideas for new features straight back to Martin Audio;-

Category
Send X Cancel

Note that an internet connection is required for your Feedback to reach Martin Audio.

Tool bar

The toolbar has a number of icons which offer either quicker access to commonly used functions from the file menus or specific functions which are essential to system set up and operation.

The first 4 icons are file management tools;-



These are New Project, Open existing project, Save and Save As.

The next group are graphic alignment tools for making your system diagrams look neat;-



The first, second, fourth and fifth of these are only active when two or more components are selected; the third is only active when one or more Merlin controllers are selected.

The first icon aligns all selected components horizontally on the page. The second aligns all selected objects vertically. The third tool is used with the Merlin. When a system is discovered its network connections are drawn in place. The two U-Net nodes on the Merlin, usually run as a closed loop will go off to the first cabinet in the array and back from the last cabinet. Depending on the layout of your system diagram this may mean that network cables are crossing over looking a little messy. This tool reverses the two network nodes in the diagram to try and neaten the diagram. Note that it is only adjusting the graphic representation; it is not making any electrical changes to the U-Net nodes in the Merlin.

The final pair of icons will reverse the position of any selected objects. Perhaps you have an MLA array to the right of an MLX array and you would rather position them round the other way, you just select both arrays and click on the 'Reverse order horizontally' button and their order will be reversed maintaining their connections and keeping them aligned. Likewise if you



wish to reverse the vertical order, position DSX subs under an MLA Compact array when the diagram has the subs on top, select the required components and click the 'Reverse order vertically button'

Discover Devices is the method by which U-Net connects to all system components once all hardware connections have been made;-



This will interrogate the U-Net network and find all connected devices opening Wizards for each type of device; MLA & MLD, MLX, MLA Compact, DSX, MLA Mini, MSX, DD12, CDD Live and Merlin. All devices on the same U-Net loop will be grouped together by type by the discovery process. Note that Vu-Net will discover devices regardless of how they are connected, either directly by USB in the case of MLA Mini, DD12 or PSX, via Ethernet for CDD Live and CSX Live, or over a U-Net loop via a Merlin acting as a network bridge

Master Overview;-



Gives an overview of all devices in the project displaying all bargraph level meters giving access to essential functions such as gain, mute and Delay and with a link to EQ functions. This is designed to be used once a show is in progress to allow easy monitoring of an entire system from a single page. The Master Overview is opened as another tab next to the Project System diagram and any other open arrays or components.

Show Mode;-



As the name suggests, this is intend for use during a show once set-up is complete. It changes the operation of the Mute function for all products. When disabled, all mutes can be selected and de-selected freely, when show mode is active;-



Any click on a mute button will bring up a pop-up window asking you to confirm that you want to Mute or Un-Mute that array or channel. It also disables the output cell check function, see later in this guide for details

The zoom function;-



Allows you to adjust the system diagram size to suit the complexity of the system on your PC display. The '-' and '+' buttons will decrease or increase the zoom in increments of 25%. Alternatively you can use the drop-down box to select either 10%, 25%, 50%, 100%, 125%, 150%, 200%, 300%, 400%, 600% or 800%. Particularly useful are 'Page' which will zoom to the maximum size



that the page will allow, 'Width' which will zoom to the maximum width of the diagram and 'Height' which will maximise the size to fit the height of the diagram.

Mute is essentially an "emergency" function if something is causing severe noise through the system you can click on the mute button;-



This will bring up the following window;-



As you can see it is a very drastic measure which will shut down the entire system which is why it should be considered as an emergency measure only and not an everyday means for muting the system. If you are sure you wish to proceed you can select 'Yes' if not click on 'No' and the window will disappear, the audio will remain routed. This function mutes every input and output on connected Merlins and every zone on all arrays. <u>Once used there is no global un-mute</u>, all Merlins and arrays will have to be individually un-muted. Note that Show Modes does not change operation of the System Mute, the confirmation window will always appear.

Our advice is never to leave a system muted within Vu-Net, always use a mute that can be defeated manually such as a Merlin output. If a system has been muted within Vu-Net and for some reason you lose network connectivity you will be unable to unmute and will have an unusable system!

System Disconnect



This will disconnect the project from the hardware in the system. A Window will pop up giving you a selection of options;-

-	VIL-NET has discon	nacted from the purters		
	It is not possible to	make any changes to the system	m until reconnected.	
-				

As you can see, once you are disconnected from the system you are unable to make any changes to the project, this is to ensure compatibility and accurate synchronisation when you reconnect. You have the option to reconnect straight from the window or can close the project with or without saving. Finally you can minimise the project. This is particularly useful if you have disconnected to switch from a Wi-Fi to a hard-wired connection, having minimised to can access the PC network setting to make the switch to a cable Ethernet connection.



Once Disconnected the Disconnect button will change to reconnect also allowing you to reconnect to the project;-



Project Workspace

The workspace is divided into several sections which can each be opened, closed or in the case of the ancillary section, "detached" as a floating window.

By default the workspace appears like this;-



There are three main sections, the first is the system diagram;-





This window will show all array components on the network and is used for all configuration changes and system monitoring. The palette on the left is used to manually enter system components when working off line (in normal use, Device Discovery is used to find all connected components). If you need to maximise the workspace the palette can be minimised by clicking on the white triangle in the top left corner of the palette;-

🔄 🔆 Palette	
Select	
C Marquee	
C Network	co
UNet Cable	
Network Cable	

The overall size of the System Diagram can be increased or decreased by clicking and holding on the gap between its right-hand edge and the left hand edge of the other windows. You can then drag either left or right to adjust the relative sixes of the windows. Alternatively, the white drop-down arrow gives you the option to maximise the screen. The other windows will not be closed; they will be represented by an icon on the right side of the page with the option to restore. Clicking restore will return the windows to their previous state.

On the right side of the window are two further windows;-





The first is a project overview window showing the open project. The window can be maximised, detached or closed by clicking on the white arrow in the top right corner. The project icon can be expanded if they have a small arrow to the left (a project that doesn't yet have any components added or discovered will not show an arrow). This will then show all connected components as in the picture above. Arrays will have a further arrow which if clicked will show all individual cabinets. This screen grab shows an enlarged project window in which the User Guide system has been expanded and one of the MLA arrays and one of the MLX arrays have also been expanded;-

8	Projects 3
	y User Guide demonstration.vun
	a 📕 MLA Array 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	m MLA Zone 1
	MLA Array 2
1.54	MLX Array 1
	m MLX Block: 1
	m MLX Block: 1
	m MLX Block: 1
	m MLX Block: 1
	m MLX Block 1
	m MLX Block: 1
	m MLX Block 1
	m MLX Block 1
	MLX Array 2
	a Unknown
	China Unknown
4.0	2nd Project.vun
3	* 3rd Project.vun

The final window by default has Properties and Outline available but by using the 'Show View' option in the Window menu, you can also select Network Status. This shows all three options available;-

	-
Property	Value
a Ethernet	
Master	No
a General	
Manufacturer id	0
Name	Merlin Master
Product id	0
Product instance	0
# UNET	
Family number	
Instance number	
Is connected	No

Any of the three options can be viewed by clicking on the relevant button. As with the Project window any of the selected options can be detached as a floating window, maximised or closed by clicking on the white arrow. If all options in the window are closed the project window will fill the space, if that is also closed the Project window will fill the space.



The Properties window will show the properties for any element selected in the System diagram. The example above shows the properties for a Merlin in an off line project. There are a number of options available for the Properties display selected by the icons in the top right corner of the window;-



The first pins the Property view of the selected element so it remains on view regardless of whether an alternative element or even project is selected. A second click on the icon will un-pin the view and any new selected element can have its properties displayed.

The next is the Show Categories button which is selected by default. This shows the categories for each of the properties and gives the option to display or hide any of the properties in a particular category by clicking on the small arrow leaving just the category heading.

The third icon displays advanced properties for the selected element.

The final icon will reset any modified properties to their default values.

The Outline window displays a miniature thumbnail of the system diagram for whichever project is selected;-



The network status shows the status of the network connection to all elements in all projects running in Vu-Net. This screen shot shows the network status of the elements in an MLA/MLD & MLX system (currently off line);-

	1	-
Available controllers :		
Controller	Status	
J Unknown		
Unknown	OFFLINE	
Unknown	OFFLINE	
MLA001	OFFLINE	
MLA 002	OFFLINE	100
MLA 003	OFFLINE	
MLA.004	OFFLINE	
MLA.005	OFFLINE	
MLA 006	OFFLINE	
MLA 007	OFFLINE	
MLA 008	OFFLINE	
MLA 009	OFFLINE	
MLA010	OFFLINE	
MLA011	OFFLINE	
MLD 001	OFFLINE	
MLA012	OFFLINE	
MLA013	OFFLINE	
MLA014	OFFLINE	
MLA015	OFFLINE	1 -



Working Offline

Before we move on to look at adding elements to projects it is important to understand the difference between working off line and normal on-line operation at an event. When working off line the Palette allows you to drop elements into the System Diagram, you can open arrays, speakers and Merlins as you would for an on-line system. This is useful as a means to get used to system operation in Vu-Net but very little beyond that. Unlike some systems you <u>CANNOT</u> create a system design off line and connect to a system on site. When connecting to a system you have to use Device Discovery which searches all available connected devices for system elements and automatically drops them into the system diagram showing their Ethernet and Vu-Net Connections. This is vital as every Vu-Net element has a unique factory set IP address which Vu-Net records so it can provide real-time monitoring of the system and can display the status of every device. If for example you re-connect to a system having used it on one day and shut down over night, Vu-Net will be able to detect that every cabinet has been turned back on and the status of all parameters of every DSP. We will show how to introduce all available elements into a project off line but will cover Device Discovery and on-line operation in a later chapter.

Adding Merlin, MLA, MLD and MLX

Adding any devices to a System diagram is a simple case of clicking on the required item in the Palette;-



Then click on the System Diagram workspace. The cursor will have a small white box with a cross in the centre prompting you to click where you wish to deposit the device. Here we see a new Merlin added to a project;-



The four black squares in the corners indicate that the device is still selected which is the default when a new element is added to a project. The most useful thing about this is that it gives you the opportunity to move it to exactly where you need it simply by using a click-drag-drop movement. A click anywhere else in Vu-Net will de-select the Merlin.

Adding an MLA/MLD array is done by clicking on the icon and then in the project window, you will see the following window;-





Enter the number of MLD required in the array. In the majority of systems this will be one or two. They will automatically be added to the bottom of the array.

Next this window appears;-

Diana antes alumber of exhibits		
Prese men number of cabinets		
	-	11

Note that you must enter the total number of cabinets including the MLD, <u>NOT</u> the number of MLA. The array will appear in the workspace like this;-

-		1
2	BELA DET	21
	MLA HE	- 21
8	MLA 001	21
8	-	21
8	-	21
×1	MLA DK	
8	MLANET	21
1	MLATER	21
X	MLA 805	21
*	MLATIN	-
×	MLATIT	21
2	MLATI	

The array is greyed-out to show that it is off line. Note that the largest array that can be added is a total of 24 cabinets which matches the maximum flown array from the flying grid. If you enter a number higher than 24 Vu-Net will enter a 24 box array.

MLX is added in the same way, you will see the same window requesting the total quantity of cabinets. Here is a six box array of MLX, note that in off-line mode sub arrays are always entered a single column of cabinets as if flown. Device Discovery of an online system gives you the option to specify ground stacked and draw the array exactly as it has been physically positioned;-



Adding MLA Compact & DSX

MLA Compact is added in exactly the same way, the only difference is that as there is no downfill enclosure you are simply asked the total number of cabinets;-



a	MUNS		121
8	MLAC		z
8	MLAC	061	21
2	MLAC	964	-21
8	MLAC	965	21
	MLAC	-	2
8	MLAG	417	21
2	WLAC		21
23	MELIC		-
87	MLAC	(818)	-
61	HELAC	911	
6	MLHO	412	- 21

DSX has a slightly different option. When DSX Array has been selected, you will first see the standard window asking for total number of cabinets. When this has been entered you will see the following window;-



With MLX and DSX is it easy to build and operate directional sub arrays, one of the most popular of these being the gradient or "CSA" array with a third of the subs facing backward and phase inverted. When devices are discovered in normal use their LED badges can be flashed to help identify which actual cabinets correspond to the icons in Vu-Net. Both MLX and DSX are designed to be used either front or rear facing and there is a front and rear LED badge so you can still easily identify the cabinet even when facing backward. In on-line mode you can select front or rear badge during the Device Discovery process but off-line you can specify rear facing when adding the array, the idea being you would add all front facing cabinets as one array and all rear facing as a second. You will have noticed the 'F' on each cabinet on the MLX array, if you select rear facing for the DSX you will see a 'B' to indicate the back LED has been selected. Here is a typical Cardioid array comprising six DSX;-

DSX Array 1	
M Dates F	
M outer F	DSX Array 2
No Dat we F	(이 CAX 881 8
10 000 E	Section B

The most common deployment for his configuration would be stacked two wide, three high with the middle two cabinets rear facing.

Adding MLA Mini

MLA Mini is deployed in blocks of four MLA Mini plus an MSX sub or amplifier module to driver them. This makes entry to Vu-Net a little different. First you need to specify how the system is to be physically deployed, the following window appears when you select MLA Mini Array and click in the System Diagram workspace;-



New MLAMini Array		×
Layout: 1.Flown 2.Flown in-front of MSX 3.Flown with Ground Stack MSX, MSX vertii 4.Flown with Ground Stack MSX, MSX horiz 5.Ground Stack next to MSX, MSX vertical st 7.Ground Stack next to MSX, MSX horizonta 8.Pole Mount 9.Four Single Fills 10.Two Double Fills	cal stack ontal row tack Il row	
1	ок	Cancel

- 1. Flown refers to a system with MLA Mini flown below the MSX sub using the flying frame and transition grid. The maximum configuration for this mode is three sets of Mini and MSX (twelve MLA Mini cabinets).
- 2. Flown in Front of MSX allows the maximum flown array of MLA Mini which is sixteen cabinets and allows for configurations with the MLA Mini flown using the flying grid with up to four MSX on a second grid flown behind the Mini.
- 3. Flown with Ground stack MSX, MSX vertical stack is from four to sixteen MLA Mini flown using a Universal Bracket (maximum four cabinets) or flying grid with the MSX on the ground under the array stacked on top of each other vertically.
- 4. Flown with Ground stack MSX, MSX horizontal row is from four to sixteen MLA Mini flown using a Universal Bracket (maximum four cabinets) or flying grid with the MSX on the ground under the array in a row horizontally.
- 5. Ground Stack on MSX is possible with one or two MSX and four or eight MLA Mini.
- 6. Ground Stack next to MSX, MSX vertical stack allows ground stack arrays with the MLA Mini stacked directly onto the ground, perhaps at the front of a stage for example, using the flying grid and the ground stack base plate. Two systems (eight MLA Mini) can be used in this configuration. The MSX would be placed to one side of the MLA Mini array stacked on top of each other when two are used with eight MLA Mini.
- 7. Ground Stack next to MSX, MSX horizontal array allows ground stack arrays as option 6 but with the MSX to one side of the MLA Mini array placed horizontally in a row when two are used with eight MLA Mini.
- 8. Pole Mount adds a single system of one MSX with four MLA Mini above on a pole mount.
- 9. Four Single fills is for using the MLA Mini individually as stage front fills for example.
- 10. Two double fills pairs the Mini to create two fills for various applications.

If you have selected the deployment options 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 or 7 you will next be asked to select the number MLA Mini cabinets;-

	X
ОК	Cancel
	OK

If you select a number greater than is possible for the desired deployment Vu-Net will automatically restrict the number to the maximum allowed.

Here are a few examples of MLA Mini arrays, first a single flown array;-





Next a systems with MSX ground stacked horizontally and MLA Mini flown;-



Finally a single system with the MLA Mini pole mounted;-





Adding DD12

DD12 can be added individually dragged across from the device menu;-



Adding PSX

PSX is also added in the same way, clicking on PSX in the Devices list and clicking in the system diagram workspace;-



As the system is off line there is no preset showing and the satelite cabinet is a generic shape. When used on line and selecting one of the three factory presets for either DD6, CD12 or XD15 the thumbnail picture reflects the selected cabinet.

Adding CDD Live

There are two CDD Live options in the Devices list, one for CDD Live full range cabinets and a second for the CSX Subwoofer from the range. Adding CDD Live will bring up the following window alling you to select one of the three full range models, CDD Live8, CDD Live12 or CDD Live15;-

New CDD LIVE Speaker	10-14 A
CDD LIVE Speaker: 1. CDDL8 2. CDDL12 3. CDDL15	
	OK Cancel

Type 1 to select CDD Live8, 2 to seelct CDD Live12 and 3 to select CDD Live15. Here we have added one of each product;-





Similarly, the choice of CSX Subs brings up an option window;-

		CSX LIVE Speaker:
		1. CSXL118 2. CSXL218
6	ОК	

Typing 1 adds a CSX Live118 and 2 adds a CSX Live218;-



Arranging the Array components

Vu-Net has a number of tools available to help keep the system diagram looking tidy.

Selecting elements can be done in a variety of ways. The most obvious is a single mouse click; the selected object will show the small black squares in the four corners around it. A subsequent click anywhere else will de-select the object, as will click on a second object. The selected element can also be changed using the left, right, up and down arrow keys, the object selected will jump in the direction of the keys.



Selecting multiple objects can be done two ways. First you can draw a box around multiple items. Click and hold in the corner of a group of objects and drag over all of them diagonally. A box will appear round all selected items until you release the mouse button whereupon all objects within the box will be selected. You can draw the box from any corner in any direction.



If you need to repeat this action several times you can select the Marquee tool from the Palette menu which changes the mouse cursor to a cross and enables box-drawing mode. Click on the Select icon in the Palette to return to normal select mode.

Secondly you can click to select an element then press and hold either Ctrl or Shift and click on all other elements you wish to select. Note that you can use a combination of selection modes if necessary; use the box-drawing method initially then Ctrl or Shift click to add additional elements to the selection.

Deselecting an element from a multiple selection must be done with Ctrl + click. With a multiple selection there is always one primary element, by default the last one added to the selection. This will have the familiar black squares in the corners; all other selected items will have white squares. You can change the primary element by a further Shift + Click on an object. Deselecting all objects is done in the same way as a single item by clicking anywhere on the work surface.

The icons on the tool bar offer quick and easy alignment of multiple objects, there are five tools available;-



The first aligns objects horizontally, here is a before and after of four arrays that have been selected;-



In the left hand shot the arrays have been positioned roughly in a line and all selected the right hand shot shows them all neatly lined up in a horizontal line.

The second allows alignment in the vertical;-

-





Again the arrays are not very well aligned but a simple click of the vertical alignment button and they are perfectly in line.

The fourth button will swap the horizontal position of all selected elements;-

The left hand shot shows a system drawn with the left and right arrays placed on the wrong sides, the right shot has been corrected with the reverse order horizontally button.

The fifth button swaps the order of all selected items in the vertical plane;-





The third button applies only to the Merlin. When a system is discovered on line all U-Net connections are shown from the Merlin to all arrays;-



The U-Net ports on the Merlin are on the top and bottom of the Merlin icon, in most cases this allows Vu-Net to draw the system connections neatly as in the above example but they may be instances where the position of the arrays and complexity of the system means that the network connections cross and the system diagram looks untidy;-



If this is the case, select the Merlin and click on the 'Reverse U-Net ports' button and the port position is reversed in the system diagram hopefully making the network connections look neater;-

.....





Note: this button reverses the port positions in the system diagram <u>ONLY</u>. It does <u>NOT</u> make and electrical changes to the two U-Net ports, it is purely and simply a graphical change.



Device Discovery

The normal method for operating a system following completing the system rigging and connection is to run Vu-Net is to run Device Discovery. It is good practice to check your network connectivity, first by using the network icon on the PC task bar which should show connection to your system (it will flag that there is no internet connectivity which can be ignored). Then by going into Preferences and selecting 'Network' and making sure that the Available IP addresses window has an IP address for every Merlin in use with your system. If all is ok you can proceed by clicking on the Discover Devices button;-



Assuming everything is OK with your network connection you will see the following window;-

Please wait, discovering devices on	the network	
	Cancel	_

The meter bar will gradually move across until it is completely green and all devices have been found. This may take a few seconds on bigger systems with large arrays of many cabinets.

There are a couple of other windows that may appear at this stage, as well as discovering all devices on the network and identifying their type and IP address, Vu-Net also checks their Firmware to ensure it matches the latest version stored in its internal Firmware database. If it detects an older Firmware version you will see the following window;-



For more detail on Firmware updates please see the relevant Firmware chapter.

Finally, it is possible you may see this window;-



This would indicate a problem up-stream of the Merlin; are the cabinets powered? Are all the network connections made? Is one of the Merlins set to Static IP instead of Dynamic? Can you see two green U-Net LEDs on all devices including the Merlin? If everything is ok try power cycling the Merlin and run Device Discovery again.

Note: It is <u>not</u> essential to have the complete system wired before you run Device Discovery; for example, you may wish to check each array individually as they are rigged so they can be flown out which is perfectly acceptable. Every subsequent press of Device Discovery will find any new elements that have been introduced to the network ignoring those already discovered.



Once Device Discovery has completed its scan you will see the following window;-

10.11.2.133			
Merlin controllers (1 unit) Merlin Sys Cut (040108) M A controllers M units)			
MLA-005 (0F 95 (0) 02 76 46 23 29) MLA-051 (48 104 A2 13 CD 46 23 3F) MLA-001 (04 15 34 00 164 23 18 F) MLA-001 (09 25 92 00 68 46 FR 09)			
05X controllers (6 units)			
DSA-009 (D9 15 96 7A 89 48 7C 49) DSA-007 (D9 15 48 C 5A 49 7C 49) DSA-007 (D9 15 48 C 5A 49 7C 49) DSA-004 (D9 15 4A 55 05 49 7C 49) DSA-004 (D9 15 4A 55 05 49 7C 49) DSA-006 (D9 15 4A 61 06 48 7C 49)			

This shows a list of all connected devices found grouped into categories; Merlin Controllers, MLA, MLD, MLX et cetera. Each individual U-Net network created either by a Merlin or USB connected device (such as an MSX or DD12) will create an individual window with the IP address shown at the top. All devices connected to that U-Net loop will be listed grouped by type.

Next press the 'Run Wizard' button and an individual Wizard will run for all categories, the first will be MLA, MLD or MLA Compact;-

Total Number of PNYS Total Number of ASSX Total Number of ASSX	CAL CADRETE 4 SHED CADRETE 4 YR 1	
Array MLA Array 1	No of cabinets	

If you have more than one array of each type of cabinet on the same U-Net loop you have the opportunity to divide them into two or more arrays as required. Use the up/down button to select the number of arrays then change the number of cabinets in each array to match what you physically have connected;-



Device Discovery Wizard		-	
Segment MLAs and MLDs in Specify number of arrays. Set arr	to arrays. vy name and number of cabi	nets within array by modifying tabi	
	Total Number of PNYS Total Number of ASSN Total Number of ARRA Ampy MLA Array 1 MLA Array 2	ICAL CARMETS: 4 CRED CARMETS: 4 OVS. 2 No of cabinets 2 2 2	
		< flack Next >	Finish Cancel

If the total does not match what Vu-Net has discovered the numbers will be flagged in red. Click next and you will see a new window showing the array or arrays;-

Device Discovery Waard	And in case of the local division of the loc	-	(=
isually verify and modify \	funet MLA arrays.		
Use 'ALL ON' button to check se Use drag'n drop technique to m	gmentation into arrays and BV tive cabinet within and across a	GNE button to check order of a mays. Use doubleclick to turn inc	abinets within array. dividual cabinet's
MLA Array 1	MLA Array 2		
ALL ON LED BY ONE	ALL ON LED BY ONE		
MLA-005	100-AJM R7		
MLA 059	101 MLA-003		
		10 10 10 10	
		Back Mart a	Fields Canada

If you have more than one array the first step is to use the 'ALL ON' button which will illuminate all the LED badges on the array to check that the Vu-Net arrays match the physical deployment. If there are any errors the cabinets can be dragged and dropped to the correct positions or array. If you only have one array it is still worth flashing all LED's to see the look on the faces of the lighting technicians when they see LED lighting over which they have no control...

Next click the 'BY ONE' button. This will flash the LEDs in sequence from top to bottom. As the U-Net network is bi-directional it is entirely possible that the arrays could have been discovered starting with what is actually the last cabinet in the array. If this has happened you will see the LEDs on the actual cabinets flashing from bottom to top and you <u>MUST</u> click 'REVERSE ORDER' to



get it flashing the right way up. This is essential so that Vu-Net knows that the array is orientated the right way, failure to do this could result in an EQ optimisation being loaded upside down producing an array attempting to produce a coherent, flat response for an audience 30 meters or so up in the air!

Next you will see the following window for any connected MLX or DSX;-

Total Number o	PHYSICAL CABINET			
Total Number o	ASSIGNED CABINETT			
Anay DSX Anay 1	No of cabinets 6	Arrangement Flown	No of columns	
		_		= =

By default the 'Arrangement' will be displayed as 'Flown' therefore the 'No of columns' field will show 1. If you click on 'Flown' it will toggle to 'Ground Stacked' and if this is how your subs are deployed you can select the number of columns to reflect in Vu-Net exactly how they are positioned;-

Total Number of	ARRAYS:	1	0	
Array	No of cabinets	Arrangement	No of columns	
DSX Array 1	6	Ground Stacked	2	

This could even mean making the columns equal the number of enclosures where a broadside array is being deployed;-


otal Number of	ASSIGNED CABINETS	- 6	
lotal Number of	ARRAYS:	6	
Аптау	No of cabinets	Arrangement	No of columns
DSX Array 1	1	Flown	1
DSX Array 2	1	Flown	1
DSX Array 3	1	Flown	1
DSX Array 4	1	Flown	1
DSX Array 5	1	Flown	1
DSX Array 6	1	Flown	1

Once you have selected the array configuration select 'Next' and you will see a similar window to the one for MLA, MLD or MLA Compact;-

Device Distancy Wu	and .			Contractor and a
Use VALL OIV button to Use VALL OIV button to Use drag in drag technol	modily VU-net DSX cabin a theck segmentation into ana must to move cabinet within an	ets. ys and 'EV ONE' buttor of across arrays. Our do	ito check order of cabi utileCick to turn individ	nets within anny. Sal calinet's
DSX REVER	(Aney 1 ISE ONDER LED BY ONNE			
FA DSX-809	F PM D5X-064 F			
177 DSX-887	Fill Dixeas			
and the second	THE DAME			
			- Andrew Providence	
		5.845	Filest >	Cancel

Repeat the process of flashing LED badges to ensure that the cabinets are in the correct order. If any are in the wrong position use drag and drop to reposition them. For a conventional sub stack this may not be vital as the parameters are likely to be identical for all cabinets but for cardioid or broadside arrays it is essential to ensure that they are correct so delay and other parameters applied are directed to the correct cabinet. At this stage you can also change the LED badge to flash on the rear. They are configured for the front LED by default signified by the 'F' on the thumbnails. Double click directly on the badge and you will see the 'F' become a 'B' to signify the back LED. This will flash instead of the front LED when selected. Note that selecting 'B' does not change any internal parameters that may be required for cardioid array operation, if simply changes the LED indicator from the front to the rear for cabinet identification. All parameter changes must still be entered manually;-



Print and N° button drop tech	f modify to sheck s migue to m	VU-net DS	X cabine	ets.							
		where camerial	within an	ys and '8 d across	IV ONE' be amays. Ut	utten t ie dout	a check a declick to	rder of c turn ind	doinets with widual cabir	in arrey. ret's	
ALLON	EX Amay 1 EXIST ONDE LED	ONE									
956-609	f 🕅	DSX-004	F								
35X-007	• 89	DSX-010									
15X-002	r m	DSX-006	F								
								_			
				1	+ fask	E	Net>	1	Prich .		Cancel
	ALL 094	ALL ON LED IN SL OOT F M SL OOT F M SL OOT F M	ALL COM LED WY CHART SX-000 F MM DSX-004 SX-007 B SM DSX-004 DX-002 F MM DSX-006	ALLON LED #YONK 51-000 F M DSC-004 F 52-007 B B DSC-000 B 52-002 F M DSC-006 F			ALL COM LED (#Y COME) SK-000 F K DSK-004 F SK-007 B K DSK-000 B DK-002 F K DSK-000 F	LED *** COME SI- 600 * 100 ESC-600 * SI- 602 * 100 ESC-600 * DI- 602 * 100 ESC-600 * DI- 602 * 100 ESC-600 *	LED	LED #YOHK SK-000 F R DSK-004 F SK-002 F R DSK-006 F DSK-002 F R DSK-006 F CK-002 F R DSK-006 F	Sk. 600 F SK. 600 F SK. 600 F SK. 600 F SK. 602 F SK. 600 F SK. 602 F SK. 600 F SK. 602 F SK. 600 F

Once you are satisfied with the sub layout click on 'Next' and the synchronisation of all elements on the U-Net loop will commence;-

vice	Sync direction	Progress	Result	
erlin Sys Ctrl	Controller -> VUNet		OK	Synchronize
LA-005	Controller -> VUNet		OK	Dynchronice
LA-053	Controller -> VUNet		OK	Synchromize
A-001	Controller -> VUNet	-	synchronizing	Synchronize
LA-003	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Synchronize
X-009	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Synchronize
X-007	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Synchronize
X-002	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Synchromize
X-004	Controller -> VUNet		queued	(Synchronice)
X-010	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Synchronize
X-006	Controller -> VUNet		queued	Gynchrimize

It possible (although unlikely) that one or more element will not synchronise correctly on the first pass in which case there will be a Red 'Fail' in the Result column for that device. If this occurs wait until the rest of the synchronisation is finished and click on the Synchronise button for that device in the extreme right column. The device will attempt a further synchronisation which should result in a success and a green 'OK'. A complete successful synchronisation will appear like this;-



rin Sys Ctrl Centroller -> VUNet OK A-005 Controller -> VUNet OK A-033 Centroller -> VUNet OK A-001 Controller -> VUNet OK A-003 Centroller -> VUNet OK C009 Centroller -> VUNet OK C007 Centroller -> VUNet OK C002 Centroller -> VUNet OK C004 Centroller -> VUNet OK C4010 Centroller -> VUNet OK C4010 Centroller -> VUNet OK C4010 Centroller -> VUNet OK C4006 Centroller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchroniza ler -> VUNet OK Synchroniza er -> VUNet OK Synchroniza
A-005 Controller -> VUNet OK A-033 Controller -> VUNet OK A-001 Controller -> VUNet OK A-003 Controller -> VUNet OK C009 Controller -> VUNet OK C007 Controller -> VUNet OK C002 Controller -> VUNet OK C004 Controller -> VUNet OK C4010 Controller -> VUNet OK C402 Controller -> VUNet OK C404 Controller -> VUNet OK C4010 Controller -> VUNet OK C4006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
A-053 Controller -> VUNet OK A-001 Controller -> VUNet OK A-003 Centroller -> VUNet OK c009 Controller -> VUNet OK c007 Controller -> VUNet OK c002 Controller -> VUNet OK c004 Controller -> VUNet OK c0010 Controller -> VUNet OK c002 Controller -> VUNet OK c004 Controller -> VUNet OK c006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
A-001 Controller -> VUNet OK A-003 Controller -> VUNet OK -009 Controller -> VUNet OK -007 Controller -> VUNet OK -002 Controller -> VUNet OK -004 Controller -> VUNet OK -010 Controller -> VUNet OK -006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OX Synchronize
-003 Controller -> VUNet OK 009 Controller -> VUNet OK 007 Controller -> VUNet OK 002 Controller -> VUNet OK 004 Controller -> VUNet OK 010 Controller -> VUNet OK 006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
009 Controller -> VUNet 0K 007 Controller -> VUNet 0K 002 Controller -> VUNet 0K 004 Controller -> VUNet 0K 100 Controller -> VUNet 0K 006 Controller -> VUNet 0K	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
007 Controller -> VUNet OK 002 Controller -> VUNet OK 004 Controller -> VUNet OK 120 Controller -> VUNet OK 006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
002 Controller -> VUNet OK 004 Controller -> VUNet OK 010 Controller -> VUNet OK 006 Controller -> VUNet OK	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
004 Controller -> VUNet 0K 110 Controller -> VUNet 0K 006 Controller -> VUNet 0K	er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize er -> VUNet OK Synchronize
010 Controller -> VUNet 0K 006 Controller -> VUNet 0K	er -> VUNet OK (Synchronize) er -> VUNet OX (Synchronize)
006 Controller -> VUNet 0%	er -> VUNet OX (Synchronize

This means that all settings residing in the DSP of all components have been uploaded into Vu-Net so you have a completely accurate picture of exactly how the system is configured on your tablet PC. You can click 'Finish' and a further 'Finish' on the Device Discovery Report window. Repeat the procedure for all connected Merlins which will all have their own U-Net ring of elements.

Once this is completed the Vu-Net workspace will appear as shown;-

vice Discovery Dentilian	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
HWC MEDDE MMEN N mackie com	MLA Array 2 Dif Array 1 Mattin Sys Ctri
	Available horn (impo)
DLAArray 1 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2 DLAArray 2	Hest Status 2032/2337 Codes
	Available controllers :
	Centroller Status 2 10.11.2.133
	Methin Sys CM Online MLA-005 Online MLA-033 Online MLA-031 Online
	MLA-003 Celline DSX-009 Online DSX-007 Online



Device Discovery MLA Mini

Device Discovery for MLA Mini is a little more involved as it is necessary to determine the deployment to ensure that the amplifier module is correctly configured, particularly between ground stacked and flown options as the software compensates for the fact that the cabling is done in different directions; for flown systems the cables attach from above so the longest NL4 on the Speaker cable loom going to the lowest cabinet, the opposite is true for ground stacked systems where the speaker loom comes from below with the longest NL4 reaching the upper-most cabinet.

Here is a small MLA Mini system with a pair of MSX Subs and 8 MLA Mini. We have connected via the USB connection on one of the MSX and the two are linked together with U-Net cables;-

USB MSX controllers (2 units) MSX 002 (HD000AD2R002381022) MSX 002 (HD000AB2B(SF138202))	entrollers per host and optionally run a wizard f	or the hints you wish to co	wtrol from VU-NET.	
MSX controllers (2 units) MSX 000 (#D000A0589230602) MSX 002 (#D000A028C8F130302)	SB			
	units) 246882136102) 128628F139202)			

If we click on 'Run Wizard' we see the following Window;-

egment MSXs into a lpecify number of arrays	rrays. . Set array name and number of MS	X2 within array by m	odfying table.	
	Total Number of PRVICA	I MER		
	Total Number of ASSIGNE	D M301 2	Contraction of the local division of the loc	
	Total Number of ARRAYS	10		
	Amay	No of MSK	No of MLA Mini	
	MLA Mini Array 1	2		
	_			

The first task is to determine how many arrays are deployed. By default Display assumes a single array comprising all of the MSX discovered, if the system is actually stereo for example we need to select 2 in the 'Number of ARRAYS' box;-



Tetal Rumber of PRYSIC	ALMER 2	_	
Total Number of ASSIGN Total Number of ARSAYS	ED MSA: 2		
Array	No of MSX	No of MLA Mini	
MLA Mini Anny 3 MLA Mini Anny 2	1	4	

This now shows two arrays each comprising of a single MSX and 4 MLA Mini. Click 'Next' and the next window is where we select the desired deployment;-

Device Discovery Wizard	
Visually verify and modify Vunet MLAMini Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' button or click a ci cabinets into appropriate position in the diagram	arrays, abinet to control cabinet's LED. Use drag'n drop technique to move matching its physical position.
MLA Mini Array 1	MLA Mini Array 2
ALL ON LED BY ONE	ALLON LED BY ONE
Foun in-front of MSX +	From in-front of MSX +
MEX BOARD ON PRA	MSX MLAMOR 002 NL4
	< flack Nex> Finish Cancel

This shows the two MLA Mini array which are deployed in the fault methods of Flown in front of MSX. The drop-down box shows all other options;-

.....



Device Discovery Wizard	
Visually verify and modify Vunet MLAMini Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' button or cick a c cabinets into appropriate position in the diagram	i arrays. abinet to control cabinet's LEO. Use drag'n drop technique to move matching its physical position.
HEA Mine Array 1 FLUON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER From In-Input of MEX From In-Input of MEX From In-Input of MEX Ground Stack on MEX Part Mount From With Ground Stack MEX Ground Stack mext to MEX Ground Stack mext to MEX	ALLOW LED BY ONE BEVERSE ORDER From in-front of MSX *
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

For a larger system the options will change, for example, as the maximum for pole mount is 4 cabinets, 8 or more in an array will remove this option;-

Subset of the second		
AL DON's but the number of cick a cabinet to centred cabinet's ED. By dense of cick AL DON's Don's AL DON'S DOOL Proving of the cick of MSK Form in-front of MSK Cound Stack on MSK Cound Stack on MSK Cound Stack new to MSK Cound Not to MSK <tr< th=""><th>d modify Vunet MLAMini arrays.</th><th></th></tr<>	d modify Vunet MLAMini arrays.	
	v, 'BY ONE' button or click a cabinet to co cabinets into appropriate position in the statement of the st	trol cabinet's LED. Use drag'n drop
<complex-block></complex-block>	cauties not appropriate position in the c	agrant matching its physical
ALON LD MORE CUESCODE Point Point Point-front of MSR. Cound Stack on MSR. Point Point	ray 1	
<complex-block></complex-block>	BY ONE	
Flown Rown Rown <td>DER</td> <td></td>	DER	
Piener Rown		
river Fourini - front of MSX Ground Stack on MSX rown with Ground Stack MSX Ground Stack next to MSX With With <td></td> <td></td>		
Read Frank Stack on MSX Rown with Ground Stack MSX Ground Stack next to MSX	front of LEV	
Record stack on AGA Rown with Ground Stack MSX • Ground Stack next to MSX • MSX NAMOR 001 NAMOR 001 NAMOR 002 NAMOR 002 NAMO	nung un mañ	
Flowm with Ground Stack MSX + Ground Stack next to MSX + MSX MAANIE 001 NAANIE 001 NA	LECK OF NESK	
MEACHINE CO2 MEACHINE CO2 ME	n Ground stack MSX +	
MSN HR.4 MLAMBE 001 HR.4 MLAMBE 001 HR.4 MLAMBE 001 HR.4 MLAMBE 002 HR.4 MLAMBE 002 HR.4 MLAMBE 002 HR.4	tack next to MSX	
RLAME 001 RLAME 001 RLAME 001 RLA RLAME 001 RLA RLA RLAME 002 RLA RLA RLAME 002 RLA RLA RLAME 002 RLA RLA		
MLAMPE 003 NLA NLAMPE 003 NLA NLA MLAMPE 002 NLA NLA NLA NLA NLA NLA	A	
NLAMPIC 003 NLA NLAMPIC 002 NLA NLAMPIC 002 NLA NLA NLA NLA NLA NLA NLA	1 18.4	
NLA MLAMPE 001 NLA MLAMPE 002 MLAMPE 002 NLA NLA MLAMPE 002 NLA		
HLAA HLAA HLAA HLAA HLAA HLAA HLAA HLAA	1	
HLA MANNE 2022 HLA MLAMINE 2022 HLA MLAMINE 2022 HLA		
NLAMER 002 NLA		
NLAMER 002 NLA	NLA	
NL4 MUMPE 002	74.4	
	2	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		



There are however additional options for ground stacked systems of eight or more MLA Mini, the black arrow against these brings out the option for stacking the MSX either horizontally or vertically;-

Device Discovery Wizard Visually verify and modify Yunet MLAMini arrays.	
Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' button or click a cabinet to control cabinet's LEE technique to move cabinets into appropriate position in the diagram matching). Use drag'n drop its physical
MLA Mini Array 1 ALL ON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER Pown with Ground Stack MSX * Pown Pown In-front of MSX Ground Stack on MSX Pown With Ground Stack MSX * Ground Stack next to MSX Ground Stack next to MSX MAX werlocal stack MSX horizontal row NA4 MAXING 000 NA4 MAXING 000 MA4 MAXING 000 MA4 MAXING 000 MA4 MAX	
< Back Next >	Finish Cancel

Selecting the various modes will change the array thumbnails accordingly and also importantly shows how the arrays should be cabled. This is particularly important as flown systems are cabled the opposite way to ground stacked with the longest NL4 cable reaching down to the lowest cabinet. For example Flown will appear like so;-





Ground stacked on MSX which is available for up to 8 cabinets appears like this, not the cable which unlike flown has the longer NL4s running up to the top cabinet;-

Device Discovery Wizard		
isually verify and modify \	/unet MLAMini arrays.	
Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' to technique to move cabinets into	utton or click a cabinet to control o appropriate position in the diagram	abinet's LED. Use drag'n drop n matching its physical
MLA Mini Array 1	Makande sunance Zec	anna an bhailte
ALLON LED BY ONE		
REVERSE ORDER		
Ground Stack on MSX +		
14.4 MLAAME 001 MLAAME 001 ML4 MLAAME 002 ML4 MLAAME 001 ML4 MLAAME 002 ML4 MLA GROUND ML5 GROUND ML5		
	Back Nest >	Tinidi Cancel

Pole mounted (only available for four cabinets), adds a pole;-

.....

Device Discovery Wizard	And in case of the local division of the loc			The state of the local division of the local	- 0 ×
Visually verify and mod Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY O cabinets into appropriate p	Ify Vunet MLAMini arrays. VE' button or click a cabinet to co sistion in the diagram matching it	ntrol cabinet's LED. Is physical position.	Use drag'n drop technic	que to move	
MLA Mini Array 1 ALL ON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER Poie Mount • MLANDE 001 MLANDE 001 MLANDE 001 MLANDE 001 MLANDE 001 MLA	MLA Mini Arzay 2 ALL ON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER Pole Mount -				
		4 Back	Net >	Finah	Cancel



There are two options to use Mini as front fills, either as four single cabinets or two pairs;-

Device Discovery Wizard	A REAL PROPERTY.	and the second se	- 0 ×
Visually verify and mod Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY O cabinets into appropriate p	lity Vunet MLAMini arrays. NE button or click a cabinet to co osition in the diagram matching i	ontrol cabinet's LED. Use drag'n drop technique to move ts physical position.	
MLA Mini Arzay 1 ALL ON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER Four Single Fills * MLA MULLIONE 003 MLAUDE 003 ML	MLA Mini Array 2 ALL ON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER Two Double Fills • MLANDE 002 MLANDE 002		
		< Back Next> Finish	Cancel

Finally you can ground stack the Mini next to the MSX;-





Once you have selected the appropriate deployment you can check the arrays by flashing the LED's on the front of the MSX as with MLA and MLA Compact cabinets. You can select 'ALL ON' to illuminate every cabinet in an array useful for identifying which array is which where two or more are in use, and 'BY ONE' which will flash all MSX in an array sequentially so you can check that they are in the correct order;-

Device Discovery Wizard		
Visually verify and modily Vunet MLA	Mini arrays.	
Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' button or cli technique to move cabinets into appropriat	ck a cabinet to control cabi e position in the diagram m	inet's LED. Use drag'n drop natching its physical
MLA Mini Array 3		
REVERSE ORDER.		
Figwn		
HL 3 FLOWN MESK FLOWN MESK FLOWN MAXIMUM 2005 HILL HILL MAAMDE 2005 HILL HILL MAAMDE 2005 HILL HILL MAAMDE 2005 HILL		
	Bark Net >	Finals Cencel

If they are not they can be drag and dropped into the correct positions until the Vu-Net flashing sequence matches the realworld cabinets. Clicking on one MSX will grey out all others until it has been dragged and dropped to the desired position;-





Device Discovery Wizard		x 0 0
Isually verify and modify N Use 'ALL ON' button, 'BY ONE' b technique to move cabinets into	Vunet MLAMini arrays. nutton or click a cabinet to control cabinet's L appropriate position in the diagram matchin	ED. Use drag'n drop 1g its physical
MLA Mini Array 1 ALLON LED BY ONE REVERSE ORDER From -		
	Net>	Freich

Once the cabinet sequence is corrected you can proceed by clicking next and synchronising the system;-

view synchronization betwee	n VU-NET and devices.		
Nevice 45X 001 (400900ADF8892130102) 45X 002 (40060AB29C8F130102)	Progress	Result OK OK	Synchranze Synchraniza
		- Back Flot +	Finish Cancel

Once complete the arrays will appear on the System Diagram window with the thumbnail representing how you have selected the system deployment. Here is an eight box system flown from MSX;-





This is a flown system with the MSX flown behind the Mini;-



Eight mini ground-stacked on their MSX;-





Eight flown Mini with ground-stacked MSX stacked vertically and horizontally;-



Similarly ground stacked with MSX in both horizontal and vertical modes;-





.....





On line operation

Note the differences from the off line mode of operation. First in the top tight corner you can see the indication that the Merlin and connected speakers are on line;-

	Merlins Online	Speakers Online	
--	----------------	-----------------	--

In the right hand corner we have selected network status and we now see all connected elements showing as Online;-

Available hosts (rings) i		
Host	Status	
10.11.2.133	Online	
Available controllers : Controller	Status	1
# 10.11.2.133		
Merlin Sys Ctrl	Online	
MLA-005	Online	-
MLA-053	Online	
MLA-001	Online	Н
MLA-003	Unline	
D5X-009	Online	
054-007	Unline	-

We now have the facility to Disconnect from the system whenever necessary, at the end of the night when a show is finished for example. Click on the 'DISCONNECT' button;-



You will see the Disconnecting System Window appear;-

Progress Information				
0	Disconnecting system			
-				
		Cancel		

Next you will see the following message;-



ystem pocumester			
VU-NET has disco It is not possible to	nnected from the system. o make any changes to the syste	m until reconnected.	

The Vu-Net Window will now appear as follows, note that the connection between PC and Merlin is showing as 'Disconnected' and the system in the Diagram window is greyed out. As the pop up window mentions, it is not possible to make any changes to the system whilst the system is in this state. We recommend using disconnect and re-connect when changing from a wi-fi to a wired connection for example when set-up is complete before the show start;-



The 'DISCONNECT' button is now a 'RECONNECT';-



And a click will restore the connection to the system. If the project has been saved, when re-opened you will be prompted to reconnect immediately. Once reconnected you will see the following message;-



As you can see, the System diagram detects and draws all network connections. Note that Ethernet connections from PC to Merlins are shown as a line regardless of whether it is a hard-wired cable, copper link or wireless connection. The Unet ports on



individual devices also show the network integrity. Good connections will show as a green U1 and U2 port. A faulty or missing connection between devices in an array will be shown as either a grey (no connection) or a red (connection with network errors) U-Net port. By hovering your mouse over a port displaying an error you will see details outlining the nature of the issue;-

	ML	AArray 1	
UI	M	MLA-002	12
UI	M	MLA-011	U2
UI	M	MLA-005	U2
UI	M	MLA-015	U2
UI	M	MLA-004	U2
UI	M	MLD-007	U2 E2
~			=

In most cases this is not critical as a U-Net topology is a redundant ring so if there is a break in the network connection, every device will still remain on line as the A cabinet or array off-line will appear in red, an individual off line cabinet will be shown at the position in the array;-



The network is monitored in real time so as soon as any network or cabinet issues have been resolved the connections and cabinets will return to the regular colour scheme;-





Right-Click menu

Access to array or Merlin functions are achieved in two ways; double clicking or right clicking, first we will look at the options available when selecting an element with a right mouse click as there are some configuration options that you may need to select first from this page. The right click menu varies according to the device selected, ;-

				Open			Open	
	Open Load	•		Load Preset Import PEQ Export PEQ			Load Snapshot Save Snapshot Import Snapshot	
	Save Synchronize Disconnect / Reconnect	•		Define Zones Synchronize Disconnect / Reconnect			Export Snapshot Synchronize Disconnect / Reconne	ect
	Rename Select All	F2 Ctrl+A		Rename Select All	F2 Ctrl+A		Rename Select All	F2 Ctrl+A
×	Delete	Delete	×	Delete	Delete	×	Delete	Delete

From left to right these are the right-click menus for the Merlin, an MLA or MLA Compact Array and a DD12 or PSX

'Open' will open the full configuration page in exactly the same way as a double click

'Load' for a Merlin offers two options, either load a saved Merlin Configuration file created using the Save function, or load a Preset file which will import a binary file created in XTA's Library Manager.

'Load Preset' will open the preset selection panel for the array;-

'Save' is also a function available for Merlin. There are three options, 'All', 'Inputs' and 'Outputs'. These will save the Merlin configuration as a Merlin *.meq file in a location of your choice on your hard drive. As the options suggest, 'All' will save the entire Merlin configuration, 'Inputs' just the input PEQ and delays and 'Outputs', all parameters from the output channels ignoring the inputs. The *.meq file can be saved and re-used in future projects or distributed to other MLA partners for use with other systems. It is loaded using the 'Load' function.

'Load Snapshot' for MLA Mini, DD12, PSX and CDD Live will open the Load Snapshot Window.

'Save Snapshot' allows you to store the configuration that you have created to a free user snapshot location.

'Import Snapshot' allows you to import a snapshot stored as a file.



'**Export Snapshot**' is an option for storing the configuration that you have created as a file on your PC so it can be used in other cabinets of the same type in the project or in the future with other systems.

'Select All' will select all components in the system design. The keyboard shortcut for this is Ctrl + A. PEQs

'**PEQ**' has two options, Import and Export. As we will see, it is possible to tailor the EQ of an array to suit personal preference. This is in addition to the array optimisation from Display 2.1 which will equalise the system to suit the response requested in the design. If there is a particular sound required for a style of music or requested by a sound engineer, the curve can be stored as a file and recalled for any future shows using these commands. Using the house EQ will be covered later in this chapter.

'Define Zones' is used with MLA and MLA Compact to zone the array up to a maximum of six zones.

'Synchronize' is a manual synchronise between the PC and connected device. This happens automatically when a device is first discovered.

'Disconnect/Reconnect' Allows you to disconnect a single device from the network turning it red in the Vu-Net window. Disconnect & Reconnect for MLA and MLA Compact has an additional option when selected which allows you to disconnect or recommend wither the entire array or individual cabinets within the array. this window appears.



The "On/Off" button at the top is the master control to connect or disconnect the array, which individual cabinet is connected or disconnected is determined by the individual on off switches for each cabinet in the array.

'Rename' allows you to give the Merlin, array or cabinet a name to suit the event and location if desired. Function key F2 is a shortcut to this option.

Renaming

Selecting 'Rename' from the right-click menu or pressing F2 with a device selected brings up the following window;-



leave enter new name (max 30 characters):	
MLA Main Left	

Type the required name which can be up to 30 characters. Press OK and the name will be shown on the device label in the System Diagram, Master Overview and when that device is selected.

Presets & Snapshots

We use two distinct terms for stored parameters when referencing recalling system memories within devices in Vu-Net but there are clear differences between a Snapshot and a Preset. "Snapshot" in common with digital mixing console terminology, is a memory which saves every setting of the devices at the moment that "Store" is pressed. This includes all gain, mute, input routing, EQ, phase and time delay. Any parameter that can be modified will be stored as part of a Snapshot

Presets are unique to the Multicellular products and are the optimised files created using Display 2 which enable MLA, MLA Compact and MLA Mini to deliver the coverage exactly as specified by the system technician when the system was designed in Display. A Preset or a number of presets are uploaded to the system using the Preset Loader tool and are recalled as shown. Recalling a Preset only recalls the optimisation in the User Preset location. It does not alter any other parameter that may have been modified such as input gain or parametric EQ.

Loading Presets

As we will see, system configurations for MLA and MLA Compact including different optimisations can be stored as Presets. These are stored in the DSP of each cabinet once uploaded so recalling is a simple network instruction to load whichever snapshot has been selected. It is therefore quick to do and could easily be done between acts at a festival for example. This could be extremely useful if you have done a number of optimisations for an outdoor space with different environmental conditions to compensate for the variation in air absorbsion during the day as the conditions change from bright sunlight to cool evening. If you need to save or select presets for several arrays simultaneously you would select the necessary arrays as already described, then use the Load or Save presets commands in the Edit menu, however if you just need to select presets in a single array you can do so using the menu functions available by right clicking. Selecting Recall Preset will bring up the following Window;-



Lo	ad Preset	×
FACT	ORY presets	
A	Undefined	
USER	presets	
В	Undefined	
c	Undefined	
D	Undefined	
E	Undefined	
F	Undefined	
G	Undefined	
н	Undefined	
1	Undefined	
	Undefined	
K	Undefined	
		Close

Note that this is an off line array which is why the Presets are showing "Undefined". Preset A is a factory default with no eq, phase or gain modifications. This is useful to load as a system test option so when listening to pink noise through individual cells it is easier to hear and differences between drivers. It is also valuable as an emergency setting, say you had a catastrophically late load-in and don't have time to create an optimisation file you can recall preset A and use the system essentially as a standard line array. You can easily upload an optimised Preset at a later stage, see the chapter on Preset Uploading.

Presets are loaded by clicking on the desired Preset number after which a window will show the upload progress ending with 'preset load success' Depending on the size of the array and complexity or the optimisation this may take anything from a few seconds to 10 or 15.

Defining Zones

By default every array is discovered as a single zone but from this menu any array can be divided into up to six zones which can all be equalised and have their gain trimmed independently. Perhaps the most common use for this is to zone an MLD independently from the rest of the array as there is often a requirement for the near-filed coverage to have quite different equalisation. As an example, we will take a twelve cabinet array and divide it into three zones; the MLD, the lower six MLA and the top five MLA.

First click on 'Define zones' in the right-click menu. Will see the following window;-



Cabinets per Zone	
12	
Total 12	
Add Delete	
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	

This shows a single zone of twelve cabinets, the total at the bottom is shown in green because it equals the numbers in all zones. We now click 'Add' and an additional zone is added of one cabinet below the first. The upper zone has its quantity reduced to eleven to maintain the total of twelve;-

Cab	nets per Zor	e	
	11		
	1		
	Total:12	- 11	
Adv	Dele	te	

Click 'Add' a second time, it is necessary to create the desired number of zones first and then modify the quantities in each zone. New zones are always added below the previous and the position in which they are shown corresponds to the physical position in the array;-

10
1
1
Total: 12
Add Delete
Totak 12



We want our top zone to consist of five MLA to click on the 10 shown in the top array and type "5". The quantity of cabinets is no longer 12 so the total is flagged red;-

Cabinets	per Zone	
1	i i	
Total	2.0.0	
Add	Delete	

Now type a "6" in the middle zone, we have restored the total to 12 so the total is shown green once again;-

5 6 1	Cabir	nets per Zone	
6		5	
		6	
		1	
Total: 12		Total: 12	
Add Delete	Add	Delete	

If we need to reduce zones at any time they can be deleted by clicking the delete button. Note that this will reduce the quantity of zones by one but will also reset the numbers in each zone. All zones will have a single cabinet up to the top zone which will have the balance of cabinets required to equal the total in the array. We have finished defining zones so can click OK. You will be warned that any ganging already implemented will be removed which is why it is sensible to create zones prior to any other processing. Processing zones will be covered in later chapters.

Synchronize

When connecting or reconnecting to any system the cabinets will be synchronised, these is also the facility to re-synchronise at any stage using the right-click menu.

Delete

Any array or Merlin can also be deleted from the right-click menu. This can also be achieved by selecting the item or items and pressing the 'Delete' Key.

MLA/MLD & Compact Arrays

MLA/MLD and MLA Compact arrays are almost identical when controlled and monitored via Vu-Net with the only significant difference being that MLA Compact has five cells to MLA and MLD's six. This chapter will predominantly refer to arrays comprising MLA with MLD where the same functionality is available for MLA Compact. All differences between the two will be explained



Double clicking on an MLA/MLD or Compact array or right clicking and selecting 'Open' will open a new window as an additional tab as shown;-



MLA compact arrays will appear almost identically, just under the MLA logo the name is "MLAC" and of course there are only five cells visible in the array thumbnail



This page is the Array Overview; each array also has a tab for Zone PEQ and Ganging. First we will look at the metering and gain faders. Here is a 12 box array that has been divided into three zones, the top eight cabinets, next three and an MLD. The Master and Zone Section looks like this;-





The Master Gain allows up to +15dB of gain or 40dB attenuation of the input level to the entire array, the meter shows the absolute level to the input stage of the cabinets, it is pre-fader so if the level is clipping it is an indication that you need to attenuate the signal upstream of the array, at the mixing console for example. The Master level as with the zone faders can be adjusted in four ways, either dragging and dropping the fader knob to the required level, clicking just above or below the fader knob which will increment or decrease the gain in steps specified in Preferences, clicking on the up/down arrows by the value window or by typing a specific gain into the box at the bottom of the fader. A value between 15 and -40 can be entered, is a value higher than 15 is typed, it will default to 15dB, if a value lower than -40 is typed it will default to -40.

Note that that the available gain and attenuation is combined for both the Master and Zone controls, for example if the Master is boosted by 15dB you will not be able to boost any Zones. If the Master is boosted by say 5dB you will have up to 10dB of boost available for the zones. If you attenuate the Master by say -30dB you will only have -10dB of attenuation for the zones and so on.

At the bottom of the Master fader is a Mute button which will mute the entire array. The button and all zone mutes will turn red when activated.

Next are the Zone faders which allow gain trim and mute for each of the zones that have been configured, in the example above there are three. The maximum number is six. Gain may be adjusted exactly as described for the Master fader, dragging the fader knob or typing a value. All zones may be adjusted completely independently. The zones also have a Mute button which will instantly mute a zone. A further click will un-mute the zone.

All zone mute buttons will also turn red to show they are all muted;-



The Mute buttons can be freely changed whilst in normal mode, during set-up for example but when in Show Mode you will be prompted to confirm a mute function to avoid accidentally muting something while a show is in progress. See the Show Mode chapter for more details.

The zone metering is post PEQ, each zone can be equalised independently so the metering will show the effect this has had in addition to the effect that any gain trim has contributed. The zone meters differ from the Master in that they display headroom rather than absolute level. OdB at the top of the scale indicates clipping the signal level reached will show how much headroom is available before clip.



The entire array is shown as a thumbnail diagram with each cell shown on every enclosure, on the left is an MLA/MLD array, on the right is MLA Compact, both have been zoned in the same way;-



The enclosures are grouped in their zones which are labelled on the left. The type of cabinet is shown on the left under the Martin Audio logo, the MLD is also a slightly different greenish colour. The cells in each enclosure are labelled next to their meters. The metering is post PEQ and pre amplifier and indicates level prior to limit. The yellow 0dB segment indicates that the limit threshold has been met, the Red LEDs illuminating show progressive amounts of gain reduction in each limiter.

In the right corner of each element you will see the temperature readout-



This displays two readings simultaneously, the top reading is the amplifier module that is showing the highest temperature, the number on the left shows which module, in the example above it is number three which is the final two HF cells. The bottom reading is the temperature of the DSP section.

Just above the temperature read-out is a display showing the input setting for each individual cabinet. Here we can see a cabinet set to AES Digital and one set to Analogue;-





This will display the last input setting used with each cabinet so you can see at a glance if you have a miss-match of input modes. When uploading EQ optimisations together with a house PEQ file all inputs are reset to analogue. Alternatively you can change the input mode manually and all cabinets will match, if for example you are running the system with an analogue feed and have one cabinet showing AES, select AES from the input selection (see below) then select analogue to change all cabinets back to analogue inputs. This indication is particularly useful if you have had to change a cabinet or amplifier module after loading optimisations, whilst you will need to reload the optimisation at some point, it is reassuring to be able to rapidly check the input mode if you hear any particularly strange sounds; a mix of analogue and AES inputs can sound extremely unpleasant.

Just below the zone level and metering is LED control if you need to identify a cabinet or cabinets again once you have completed Device Discovery;-



Pressing the 'play' triangle will start the LED running sequence from top cabinet to bottom. The play button then changes to a pause and the 'Next' and 'Previous' buttons are greyed out;-



Clicking the pause button will freeze the LED badge, the 'previous' and 'next' buttons can then be used to scroll the illuminated LED badge between the cabinets. Clicking the square 'Stop' button will extinguish the LEDs.

Below the LED buttons you will find the Delay section which will add a delay to every cabinet. The delay displayed will be that which was already residing in the array DSP when the devices were discovered and synchronised;-



The delay can be entered in two ways, either by scrolling up and down using the up/down button on the right of the value box. The increments are determined by the options in the Preferences menu, either 1.0, 0.5, 0.25, 0.2 or 0.1 milliseconds. Values can also be directly typed into the box. The maximum value is 1,000.00ms (1 second).

Next to the delay is displayed the currently active snapshot;-



In this case the factory default snapshot A. This display will automatically update when a new snapshot is loaded.

The final section on the System overview is the Input selection;-



This is divided into three sections, the first selects the source from either the rear panel XLR input or via U-Net;-





Note that digital audio over U-Net is not yet supported so this option should NOT be selected. When this option is active, the second section is used to select the Unet source from one of the Merlins discovered on the network;-



Once you have selected a Merlin, the final box gives you the choice of which channel from which to route the input to the array;-

No Channel	•
No Channel	-
Input-A	
Input-B	
Input-C	10.0
Input-D	E -
Output-1	
Output-2	
Output-3	1
Output-4	
Output-5	0
Output-6	-

However, as mentioned, until notified otherwise, ALWAYS keep 'Back Panel' selected. The second panel will display 'No Device' and will be greyed out, the third panel will allow selection of either Analogue (the default selection) or AES3 Digital;-

Analogue	
AES L	
AES R	
Analogue	

As AES feeds two interleaved digital channels you have the option to select either AES L or AES R. The initial display will match what the array was set to when the system synchronised until you use the Preset Loader and load one of the default PEQ's which will set the input to Analogue. See the chapter of Preset Loading for more detail.

Array Cell Check

Double clicking on the array diagram brings up a new diagnostics screen which enables testing of individual cells, an extremely useful tool for checking an array over either just before it is flown or back in the shop when a system is checked over. Note that this function is not available when in Show Mode;-

÷



LED : ON	Z1 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 21%
Mute Out Stage	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6
CELLS	Matigar KA 1 2 3 4 5 8 2050
Noise Gate	
Restore Defaults	NA MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C
0.00 👘	NA 1 2 3 4 5 6 2010
0.00 😌	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 0000 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 0000 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 0000
	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 39 5
	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00%
	Analogue MA 1 2 3 4 5 6
HEDE	Z) Mailingue MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 2010

This is how the window appears, the array diagram is still visible on the right but it is now also shown on the left with each cell shown but with a representation of its physical location in the cabinet;-



Each cell can be muted from this section, this can be done by individual cells or the entire cabinet depending on the selection mode selected;-



In 'MODULES' mode clicking on any cell will mute or unmute all calls in the cabinet. In 'CELLS' mode you can mute and unmute individual cells by clicking on them;-

-		
		**
		48
		48
		48



Or an entire cabinet can be muted by clicking on the button to the right of each enclosure regardless of which mode you have selected;-



This is how an entire muted enclosure is shown;-

		-
		*
		1

Pressing the Mute Array button;-

	MUTE ARRAY
1	LED'S ON

Will mute every cell in the array;-

-	NAMES OF TAXABLE PARTY OF TAXABLE PARTY.
MUTE ARRAY	
Muta Output Stage	
Selection Mode	
CELLS	
MODULES	
None Gate	
Restore Defaults	
Threshold (dE)	
0	
Depth (JB):	
Hold Time (mat	
0 😚	
HIDE	

Next to the Mute button is a play arrow;-





This will cycle through either each cell or each module (all six cells) selected using the Selection Mode buttons;-



IT will un-mute whoever is selected sequentially so that any audio such as pink noise can be heard through just that section of the array. If the entire array is un-muted when the play button is clicked it will mute the array before starting its sequence.

Below the play button is a check box labelled "LED's ON' which will illuminate each cabinet's front grille badge LED while the cells or entire module on that particular cabinet are un-muted to make is visibly obvious which cabinet you are hearing- something not always particularly easy if an array is 50m or more away from you.

There is an additional play arrow for each individual enclosure should you just wish to test a single cabinet.

It is good practice if you intend to use this test, to recall the default snapshot 'A' first. Without doing this all cells will have the last parameters used still loaded so the sound from each cell when heard individually will vary enormously making it difficult to judge if they are operating correctly.

When you have checked all cells, click on the "play" arrow a second time to stop the mute cycle. This is a very quick and easy test for the system; it can be completed in the shop or on an array that has just been rigged prior to flying the system into place. The big advantage is that there is no need to wait until front of house has been set up or any other part of the system, each array can be tested individually the only additional equipment that is required is a simple signal generator which can even be an app on a smart phone.

When the system has been tested and the signal source disconnected or switched off the system can be un-muted by a further click on the MUTE ARRAY button.

In addition to muting cells, you can also completely disable a cabinet by switching off the amplifier. This is designed for emergency situations if for example an amplifier module has a fault and is generating unwanted noise. If you have tried the mute function and the noise persists it is being generated by the amplifier not anything upstream in the audio path such as the DSP. In that instance the only option is to switch off the amplifier. The mains distribution system has a breaker on each pair of cabinets so if that were to be used to isolate a cabinet you would also unnecessarily switch off its neighbour so the mute output stage function allows independent isolation of a single cabinet without disrupting any other functions. The big advantage of this compared to physically powering off the entire cabinet is that the input and network sections are still powered as normal so no other functions are disturbed, the U-Net array and network will still appear functioning as normal just with the indication that the cabinet amplifiers are off. To use the function first click in the Mute Output Stage box in the top left of the window;-



Now click on either the thumbnail or the Mute all channels button of any cabinets which need to be isolated. All cells will appear muted and on the array view you will see AMP OFF appear above the temperature table;-



MUTE ARRAY	-	21 M Analogue
LEDSON		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C
Selection Mode		HL 1 2 3 4 5 6 03 12
CELLS		
Noise Gate	-	
ENABLED		HLA 1 2 3 4 5 6 09°C
Restore Defaults		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00 0
0.00 🚔		
0.00		
Hold Time ms	-41	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 03 6
		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 095
	-11	MLA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00%
		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 09%
HIDE		Z3 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C

Note that the Mute Output stage box must remain checked; if it is unchecked the cabinets will revert to the standard mute function and the AMPS OFF flags will disappear.

Also on the test page is the array noise gate control;-

Noise Gate				
ENABLED				
Restore Defaults				
Threshold (dB):				
0				
Depth (dB):				
0	-			
Hold Time (ms):				
0				
	-			

Each amplifier module has an internal noise gate set to keep the amplifier and DSP noise floor as inaudible as possible. By default it is enabled but it is possible that with very low levels of program material the gate operation may be audible and so the gate can be defeated by pressing the ENABLED button. The button will then display 'DISABLED';-





The threshold, depth and hold time have been carefully calculated to give the best balance between making the operation as inaudible as possible and maintaining a silent system but the parameters may be modified by either directly typing a value or by scrolling up or down using the arrows to the side of the value windows. The Threshold can be any value from +20 to -120dB, the depth from 0 to 120dB and the Hold time can range from 0 to 5,000 milliseconds. Default values are threshold of -84, Depth 10 and Hold time of 5000 for MLA and MLD and -67, 10 and 5000 for MLA Compact. These can be restored at any time by clicking the Restore Defaults button.

To return to the main window click on the HIDE button in the bottom left;-



If you have any muted output channels (muted not disabled), you will see the following window;-



This ensures that you do not suddenly unmute all output channels while you have a test signal applied; pink noise at full volume through an entire array is not something you want to suddenly subject a venue to. If you click OK you will return to the main window and all output channels will be un-muted. If you have disabled cabinets they will show AMPS OFF in the array thumbnails;-



Master	Zone 1	Zone 2 2	Lone 3	Zone 4 2	one 5	Zone 6	
-11	10	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			- 1 - 1		MLA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C Analogue 100°C
-12				4	4		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 000 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 0000 MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 0000
	1	40	-18	-18	-18	4	MLA 1 2 3 4 5 6
4 -19 -	-10 -24	-16 .34 -10	-24	-24 -10	-24	-10 -3	Malogue 100°C 100°C
-12 -29-	-30	-20 -29	-30 -38	-30 -20	-30		MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00%
.34 -30-		-30 -42 -30	-42 -5	30 .42 .30	-42	-30 -4	Miles 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C
-30	48 dB			48 68 40	dB	dB	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00'C
0.00 😑	0.00	0.00	0.00		221분	000	MA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C
LED							
DELAY	DELAY 0.00 - SNAPSHOT: UNKNOWN RA 1 2 3 4 5 6 00'C						
INPUT	BackPan	el 🔹 No Dev	ice	- Anal	ogué	•	LD 1 2 3 4 5 6 00°C

PEQ Tab

All types of array have a PEQ tab which offers multiple bands of equalisation plus a high pass filter that can be used as a means of tailoring the system sound to suit any preferences of the sound engineer or to deal with any peculiarities of the venue acoustics. It is important to note that this is completely independent to the Optimisation parameters which include parametric, FIR and all pass filtering. These parameters which are created in your Display 2.1 project are uploaded to a completely separate section within the cabinet DSP. They cannot be accessed manually. The PEQ section can be compared to the "grab" EQ in a conventional system which is commonly a third octave graphic equaliser at front of house and is used for subtle adjustment once a system has been configured in the system processors. This is the EQ window which is common to MLA, MLD and MLA Compact;-



The window has three sections, the buttons along the top, the graphic display window and the controls on the right of the window. First we will look at the buttons along the top.



First there are ten parametric EQ buttons plus the high pass filter;-



As you can see there are a number of colour variations for these buttons. Unused bands are pale blue until they are selected for editing by clicking on them in which case the colour goes to a brighter blue and the image shows the button depressed. Unused is defined as the gain left at OdB. A red button indicates that the band has been bypassed, irrespective of whether any gain change has been made. Bypassed bands will change to a pale red when selected. Green buttons indicate a band that has either cut or boost applied, these will go a pale green when selected. Note that the high pass filter is always active so will always appear green.

Next there are the zone buttons;-



In this example the array has three zones with zone 1 selected. As well as individual gain as already discussed, zones each have completely independent PEQ to allow precise adjustment, most commonly used with the MLD which often requires a different equalisation to the rest of the array. Clicking on the zone number brings up the PEQ page for that zone. If the array has not been divided into zones there will just be one button with a number 1, essentially the entire array is a single zone.

The graphic view of the equalisation is a relatively standard frequency response graph;-



The horizontal axis is frequency in Hertz from 20Hz to 20KHz, the vertical axis is gain from -18dB up to +18dB. Colour coding is also used on the graph to represent the various modes.

First there are two traces, one red, and the other white. The red trace is the response of the band that is currently selected; the white trace is the overall response of the entire PEQ.

Each small red circle represents the position of each of the ten bands plus the high pass. For all of the EQ bands the position on the horizontal represents the EQ centre frequency, the vertical position is the cut or boost applied. A solid red circle is the currently selected band, any greyed-out band indicates that an EQ has been bypassed. The circle labelled "HP" identifies the cut-off frequency of the highpass filter.



In the right corner is this icon;-



This is used to cycle between standard and daylight modes. In daylight mode the display changes to look like this;-



This is intended for use outdoors setting up a festival system where the normal display is difficult to view in bright sunlight. A further click on the icon will return to the default view.

In common with most PC controlled equalisation systems it is possible to make adjustments by dragging and dropping the filter curves. Left-click on any of the band rectangles and holding down the left mouse button, drag the icon horizontally to change the centre frequency or vertically to change the gain. Either Right-click and drag up and down or press Ctrl and drag up and down to adjust the filter Q factor. You can also use the left and right keyboard buttons to adjust the selected band frequency, up/down buttons to adjust gain and Page Up and Page down buttons which will adjust the Q factor. The graph will adjust and the audio adjustment will be made in real time.

If at any stage you need a reminder of how to control the PEQ, right click on the question mark icon at the top of the graph;-



This will bring up the following window;-


Alt + mouse move up/down - changes Q of selected filter	i	Let mouse outon click on filter is node for filter selection. Drag filter's node for changing filters frequency and gain. Right mouse button click on filter's node opens context menu with copy/paste functionality. Arrow up - increases frequency of selected filter Arrow down - decreases frequency of selected filter Arrow nght - increases gain of selected filter Arrow left - decreases gain of selected filter Page up - increases Q of selected filter Page down - decreases Q of selected filter Mouse wheel up/down - changes Q of selected filter Ctrl + mouse move up/down - changes Q of selected filter Alt + mouse move up/down - changes Q of selected filter	
---	---	---	--

There are also other functions available by right-clicking elsewhere in the graph window whilst the cursor is over one of the filters. This is the window that appears;-



First is a copy all function which will copy Gain, Frequency and Q, of the selected band. You can also copy Frequency, Gain or Q individually, you can then select a different band on the same or another graph (on a different zone or even different array) and paste whichever parameters have been copied. The paste option will paste whoever parameter or parameters have been copied onto the new filter that you have selected

The final section on the right of the window is the Properties panel;-



BYPA	ss	BYPASS	ALL	FLAT	r			
Type:	Pea	k						
reque	ncy	Q		Gain				
20K -	-	100 -		15 -				
		3	Ξ	-	1			
IOK E	31	-	-	10 -	5			
-	=	50 -	-	F				
5K -	-	40 -	-					
46 -	-	30	-					
3K -	-			2	2			
		22 -	-	0 -	-			
	-				:			
				-	-			
1K -	-	10 -	- 1	- 5 -	-			
Ξ	ΞI	=	=		1			
=	=	1	5					
500 -	51		-	-10 -	-			
****	1				1			
300	31							
200 -	- 1		-	-15 -	-			
		1.50	-	1	1			
			-		:			
100 =	=			-20 =	-			
	=	1. 1.1.1.1.1			2			
10.00	2	1 -	-		:			
40 -	-			-25 -	-			
30 -	-				1			
10-1		-			1			
20 -	-			-30 -	-			
327		5.21	-	65				

This shows all properties of the selected band. At the top you will see some text indicating which zone and which band the properties apply to. Below this are three buttons;-

BYPASS	BYPASS ALL	FLAT
--------	------------	------

BYPASS bypasses the individual band you have selected turning the BYPASS button and the filter button red. BYPASS ALL bypasses every band. FLAT will instantly change the gain to 0dB.

Next is a Filter type. Click on this and the drop down shows the options for each filter band;-

Туре:	Peak 🔹
Freque	Peak Low Shelf 2nd Order High Shelf 2nd Order

The default is 'Peak', a standard parametric EQ; the other options are 2nd order Low Shelf and 2nd order High Shelf.

Below are the three principal faders for adjusting the filter parameters;-





Parameters can be changed on the properties panel in three ways. The faders can be drag and dropped to a new value, the value can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons to the right of the value windows, and finally values can be directly typed into the value windows. The response graph will adjust according to the new values and vice versa, adjustments in the graph window will be reflected in the fader positions and values in the properties panel.

The High pass filter only has a single fader for the corner frequency. This may be adjusted in exactly the same way as the faders for the PEQ's. The 'Type' drop down offers three types of filter and slopes from 6dB up to 48dB per octave;-



Typer	Butterworth 6dB	
. ypus	Percel 1240	
reque	LinkWitz Riley 12dB	ſ
200 -	Butterworth 18d8	
	Bessel 18dB	
	Butterworth 24dB	9
	Buttenworth 48dB	
	LinkWitz Riley 48dB	+
200 -		
20210	······································	
	and the second se	
	and the second se	
	and the second s	
	the second se	
	the second second second	
100 -	-	
	the subscription of the su	
	The subscription of the local division of th	
-	-	
-	-	
	ALC: NOT THE OWNER.	
	the second se	
1	-	
	and the second division of the second divisio	
-		
20 -		
- 6		
15		
4.2	-	

To summarise, there are FIVE ways to adjust filter parameters;-

- 1. Click and drag on the graph
- 2. Use the arrow and page up & down buttons
- 3. Click and drag the properties faders
- 4. Use the up/down value buttons
- 5. Directly type values into the value boxes.

Whilst this might seem over-versatility, it is intended to offer several options to suit the way that the system is being operated. If adjustments are being made with a tablet PC in tablet mode with a stylus whilst walking around a venue, certain options may be easier to use than if you were sitting at a desk with a mouse plugged in to the PC.

Array & Zone Ganging

MLA Systems have a highly versatile set of ganging options to help make system set-up consistent across arrays or zones. This is the ganging page for a project consisting of two main MLA Arrays each of 12 enclosures and divided into three zones, plus two side hangs each of 7 MLA plus 1 MLD. This is how the Array/Zone Ganging tab appears;-



A Main Left				ZONE 1 EQ	∢ ×	ما لما لما الا	: ما نما نما ز	<u>ا''ما''ما</u> ''ما	1°
	INPUT	1 4×	8 140 A	ZONE 2 EQ	∢ ×	ها لما لما اله	: lat lat lat	ا ثما ثما ثما	2
				ZONE 3 EQ	4×	ما إحا إحا 8	الما لما الم	ا نما لما	4
A Main Right				ZONE 1 EQ	€×	ما لما لما 8	: الما أها إها:	ما <u>تما تما</u>	2
	INPUT	₹~ 4 ×	B. M.A.	ZONE 2 EQ	4×	ها نما لما الا	المالما	ا ثما ثما ثما	2
				ZONE 3 EQ	4×	8 14 14 14	: المث الم : المث	اتعالما	-
A Side Left	INPUT	₹> 4×	8. 100 1	ZONE 1 EQ	٩x	8 14 14 14	نها نها :	با تعالما أها	<u>1</u>
A Side Right	INPUT	tr 4× .	8 100 1	ZONE 1 EQ	٩x	ما:ما اها 8	: <mark>الم: الم</mark> :	ا تما تما	2

The icons represent the functions in each array the input functions appear as so;-



Left to right these are input source, Master Mute, Master Gain, Delay and Noise Gate (hovering the cursor over any icon will show a label if you forget what any of the icons represent). Note that all gain and delay parameters are offset ganged. If there is already a value entered before ganging is implemented this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value to any ganged gain or delay will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values.

The EQ appears like this;-



The functions are Zone Mute, Zone Gain, Highpass filter and the 10 bands of available parametric EQ.

It is possible to Gang an entire array or any individual function using the ganging groups at the top of the window.



Array ganging

The quickest way to gang a system and arguably the most common method is to click on the Label for the array. If we use the side hangs as an example as they are a single zone, click first the "MLA Side Left" and all functions turn the colour of the first available unused zone Group which is blue. Now click on "MLA Side Right" and its controls also turn blue. Alternatively, however you mouse over MLA Side Left for a few seconds until two arrows appear above the button. Move to the single arrow and the



message "Apply to below items within the array/device". This is the same functions as clicking on the button. Move over to the double arrow and the text "Apply to ALL items below" appears.



Click on the double arrow and both arrays will be ganged. This option will gang all of the same function on arrays below the button;-

				ZONE 1 EQ	« ×	8 14	تمالما		1010	10/14	اتطالد	<u> </u>	
	INPUT	₹> 4× .	3 m A	ZONE 2 EQ	∢ ×	8° L.		la'ila	<u>ما ہما</u>			2	
				ZONE 3 EQ	-(x	8 14	لمالما	la: la				<u> </u>	
A Main Right				ZONE 1 EQ	4×	8° 1	أهالما	la: la:	la:la	الما ا	المالد	<u>a</u>	
	INPUT	₹> 4×	8 -	ZONE 2 EQ	-(x	8 L.	الما إها	الم	ها نما	1 <mark>0/</mark> 14	انماند	d°	
				ZONE 3 EQ	٩x	8° 1.4	1 2		ما نما	<u>الما</u>		4	
ALA Side Left	INPUT	₹~ 4 ×	7 🚗 A	ZONE 1 EQ	4x	8 🖂						4	
LA Side Right	INPUT	€> dx	3 🖦 🔺	ZONE 1 EQ	H.X	8 1.				والعا		4	

Note that input source selection is not automatically ganged either by using the Array name or the Input group, these must always be selected individually to join a gang.

If we do the same with the main Left and right arrays they will also be ganged but as the arrays have been zoned into three, each zone is ganged individually zone groups being assigned in order of their availability;-



LA Main Left			1	ZONE LED		ritali	JIL SIL	AT AT	al to site	di alt	1.19	
Conserved the state of the state	THEFT	The law Pla	LAI	2016.2.50		rit_lit		NT 41	31.41 1	77.47	97.09	
	INPUT			ZUNE Z EQ								
	-		- 4	ZONE 3 EQ	4×	r la l	عالمناله			<u>بالمالا</u>	VIC:	
MLA Main Right				ZONE 1 EQ	4×	r la l	-		-		46	
	INPUT	TAX B		ZONE 2.EQ	-tx]	ritalt	didit	di di	diadi	Inth	31.49	
				20NE 2 ED	44	ritalt	UT AT	JIL AL	গা লা	The St.	21.02	
			1	TOME 2 EQ			A KONK	- 100- 10	* IC * IC			_
MLA Side Left	INPUT	5 4× 8 4		ZONE 1 EQ	dx (r/teit		4				
MLA Side Right	INPUT	5- 4× 8 -	•	ZONE 1 EQ	dx (8) I.a. I	والحوالة					-
	- <u>-</u> =											

You can see that zone 1 is red, zone 2 green and zone 3 yellow. Any EQ changes made on any zone will be duplicated in the zone on the other array.

It is also possible to zone just the array input functions, just the array EQ or individual parameters. In this example we just required the side hang EQ to be ganged leaving the input functions available for independent adjustment. First we selected an available Group, in this case pink, then clicked on "Zone 1 EQ" on both Side arrays;-



If we wanted to add the gain and delay to this gang simply click on those icons either individually or using the double arrow;-



Unassigned Groups: Assigned Groups:	
MLA Main Left	
MLA Main Right	
MLA Side Left	
MLA Side Right	

Perhaps a more practical example is to gang the entire array and just de-select any parameters that we do not wish to gang, here we will gang both Main left and right together, both Side hangs but then click on the mute icon so we can mute and unmute each array independently of each other;-

signed Groups:										_
MLA Main Left			ZONE	1 EQ 🛃	عالكا	المالعاد	مانمازه	الطائط		
	INPUT	€ 4× 8	ZONE	2 EQ	8 14 14	العالعالة	مانعانه			
			ZONE	3 EQ 4×	8 14 14	المالمال	مالماله	المالما	إلما	
MLA Main Right			ZONE	1 EQ 🔺	8 14 14		مانمانه	الطالطا		
	INPUT	1×8		2 EQ 🔺	8 14 1	المالعال	ه اه اه		e le'	
			ZONE	3 EQ ┥ 🗙	8 14. 14	المالمال	مانمانه	الما لما	<u>a:16</u> ;	
MLA Side Left	INPUT	5 4× 8	ZONE	1 EQ	8 4					
MLA Side Right	INPUT		ZONE	1 EQ 4×	8 4					

To un-gang any individual parameter, input parameter group, EQ group or entire array just click a second time and the ganging is removed.



MLX & DSX Arrays

MLX and DSX share many similar features to MLA, MLD and MLA Compact and are virtually identical to each other with regards to Vu-Net operation. Double clicking on a six box MLX array brings up this window;-



And DSX looks like this;-



Almost identical with just a minor difference in the position of the Led bargraph in the array diagram and of course the name under the Martin Audio logo.

The input gain and muting is identical to other cabinets and sub arrays can be zoned in exactly the same way giving independent gain and mute on the Overview page;-



M	aster	Blo	ck 1	BI	ock 2	Bi	ock 3	B	lock 4	B	lock 5	B	lock 6
+18 +15 +12	10 -	110	0 -3 -6	1	0 -3 -4	110	-3 -0	1	-3 -6		-3		-1
+9 +6			-9 -12	1111	-9 -12		-9 -12	·	-9	·······	-0 -12	······	-9 -12
0	T	T	-18		-18		-18		-18		-18	and the second	-18
-0	-10 -	-10	-24	-10	-24	-10	-24	-10	-24	-10	-24	-10	-24
-12	-20 -	-20	-30	-20	-30	-20	-30	-20	-30	-20	-30		-30
-18	to the second	- ter	-36		-36		-36		-36		-36		-36
-24	-30 -	-30	-42	t	-42	.30	-42	-30	-42	-30	-42	30	-42
-30 dBu	-40	40	dB	40	dB	40	dB	40	dB	40	dB	44	dB
	0.00 🖨	0.0 MI	00 ‡ JTE		0.00 ≑ MUTE		0.00 ÷	2	NO 🌐	-	AUTE -		

Sub arrays when zoned are referred to as 'blocks' rather than zones.

The array thumbnail is almost identical to the MLA/MLD and MLA Compact just with a single LED level meter to reflect the single cell. The temperature readout will always show '1' and display the temperature of the single amplifier channel on the top line and the DSP on the lower line. Input mode is also displayed above the temperature read-out. If the array has been zoned the zones or "blocks" are numbered from top to bottom;-

B1	AES R 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C
ATTENDARY OF	AES R 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C
B2	AES R 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C
and the second	AES R 1 0.0 *C 0.0 *C
B3	AES R 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C
ALL N	AES R 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C

Both subs have exactly the same LED, Array Mute, delay and input routing as for MLA, MLD and MLA Compact;-

LED		
DELAY	0.00	SHOW OUTPUT
INPUT	BackPanel - No Device	- Analogue -



There is however the significant difference of there being no snapshot name as subs do not have snapshot capability and there is an additional button "SHOW OUTPUT" which replaces the double click on the other products to bring up additional features;-



Clicking this button brings up the following window on both MLX and DSX;-

	(Output Channel		
LED	GAIN (dB)	DELAY (ms)	POLARITY	MUTE
LED	0.00	0.00	INVERSE	MUTE
LED	0.00	0.00	INVERSE	MUTE
LED	0.00	0.00	INVERSE	MUTE
LED	0.00	3.00	INVERSE	MUTE
LED	0.00	0.00	INVERSE	MUTE
LED	0.00	0.00	INVERSE	MUTE
Noise Gate		Mute	Output Stage	Reset Outputs
ENABLED	Restore Defa	ults		
hreshold (de	B) 0 🖶 De	epth (dB): 0	+ Hold Time	(ms) 0 🖨

This allows individual control of gain, phase, polarity and mute for each sub in the array. Most often used when creating cardioid arrays with a third of the subs rear facing and requiring independent control of the rear facing subs to the front. The LED button gives you the option to flash the LED of each sub to ensure that you are applying parameters to the correct cabinet. The gain allows independent adjustment of the gain of each sub and is automatically adjusted to match the gain structure of the system determined by the SPL reference set in the Display 2.2 optimisation, see the chapter on Preset loading for more details. If at any stage you wish to reset the parameters, perhaps immediately after device discovery where the subs may still be displaying values from their previous use, you can click on the 'Reset Outputs' button;-



A warning window will appear;-



If you click on OK, all gain and delays will be restored to zero, any inverted outputs will be re-inverted and any muted outputs will be un-muted.



Subs also have the facility to turn off any troublesome amplifiers by checking the 'Mute Output Stage' box;-



Then clicking the Mute button on any sub you wish to turn off.

As with other cabinets there is a noise gate which has the Threshold and Hold Time available for modification. The Default values can be restored at any time by using the Restore Defaults button;-

ENABLED	Restore Defaults		
Threshold (dB):	-84 🖨 Depth (dB):	100 🚔 Hold Time (ms):	5000 🚔

Both MSX and DSX have default values as shown above of a threshold of -84dB, a Depth of 100dB and a hold time of 5000ms.

When you have finished setting output parameters you can close the output window with a further click on the SHOW OUTPUT button. Any amplifiers that have been switched off will have the AMPS OFF indication above the temperature read-out;-



Block PEQ

Equalisation in the subs is referred to as 'Block PEQ' on the tab. It is almost identical to the EQ page for the MLA, MLD and MLA Compact with a low pass filter replacing the high pass as you might expect;-





There are also ten PEQ filters at your disposal, each with exactly the same functionality and control. The low pass filter in common with the high-pass in the MLA, MLD and Compact, can be either Bessel, Butterworth or Linkwitz Riley with slopes from 6dB per octave up to 48dB per octave. The frequency can range from 50Hz up to 500Hz;-



Sub Array/Block Ganging

Sub arrays can be ganged in virtually identical fashion to MLA, MLD and Compact, either by entire array, Input parameters, Zones (blocks), or individual Parameters.

-



aned Grou	ps:											
ILX Left		- F	B1 EQ	4× [
INPUT	\$> 4 × 8 =	-	B2 EQ	∢ × ₹		بالعالم	عالطاله	فالمالد	نطائطا			
		4	B3 EQ	⊲ × Į		المالم	فالعاله	فالمالد	 _ 			
LX Right		E	B1 EQ	∢ × {	r 🖬							
NPUT	1 4× 8 -		82.EQ	4× 8		المألما		فالمالد				
		4	B3 EQ	×		المالم			الم	14		

Ganging can be very useful for Cardioid arrays but it is important to remember that individual delays, mute and polarity are NOT ganged; they must be individually modified in the array output page. Note that all gain and delay parameters are offset ganged. If there is already a value entered before ganging is implemented this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value to any ganged gain or delay will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values.



MLA Mini

MLA Mini retains many of the network features of its bigger brothers but with a slightly different approach to the implementation within Vu-Net. Double clicking on an array (regardless of how the system has been deployed), brings up the following Window;-



As you can see, the main array window is almost identical to the other MLA System components; there are the usual six zones available each with a gain fader and mute switch. As with other systems, unassigned zones do not have a fader and the gain read-out and mute switch are greyed out. If you attempt to adjust gain or mute an un-assigned zone you will see the following window;-



There is the same LED badge option, up to 1,000ms of delay and a similar input select from either the back panel or U-Net (not presently implemented) and back panel input can be either Analogue, AES3 Left or AES3 right with the addition of an AES split mode which routes AESL to the MSX and AESR to the MLA Mini;-



In common with sub arrays there is a SHOW OUTPUT button to access array utility functions rather than double clicking on the array thumbnail.

MLA Mini Cell check

As long as Show mode is not active, clicking on the SHOW OUTPUT button;-





Noise Gate ENABLED CELLS MODULES MUTE ARRAY

Brings up an array diagram with each cell individually accessible as with MLA and MLA Compact systems. Clicking on the MUTE ARRAY button will mute every cell;-

A test signal such as Pink Noise can be applied to the array and each cell can be individually un-muted by clicking on it to test that everything is operating correctly and all components are in the correct position in the array. This can be done by individual cells if the Selection mode is in the 'CELLS' position or by an entire MLX and 4 Mini group if you click on 'MODULES'. This is particularly important as the amplifier modules are all in the MSX sub, it is possible to incorrectly wire from the MSX to the MLA Mini. You can either click on cells manually to unmute them and there is a "play" function to cycle through all cells in the array. Unlike the other systems, unmuting a cell will mute all others which speeds up the testing process as you no longer need to manually mute the last cell you listened to before un-muting the next.

As with the other cabinets, the array noise gate is accessible but in MLA Mini there is only the option to Enable or Disable the gate;-



When you have completed any testing, click on the HIDE button;-



Which will un-mute all cells and return you to the main array window.

Assigning Zones in MLA Mini



As with MLA, MLD and MLA Compact, there are up to six zones available for the system as the Array Overview shows. How these are defined is however different from the other MLA components. You may have noticed that the right-click function in the System diagram does not allow zone definition for an MLA Mini Array. Instead, zones are defined using the zone faders. If you look at the Array Overview thumbnail, you will notice that the MSX (two in our example) have a red border and the 8 MLA Mini have a blue border;-



By default, MSX are assigned to zone 1 and all MLA Mini to zone 2. Reassigning zones is extremely simple. In our example we will keep the MSX assigned to zone 1, the top four MLA Mini to zone 2, the next two to zone 3 and the final two to zone 4. First click on the Zone 1 label;-



You will notice All components that are already part of the zone will turn red;-



	MLAMINI LE HE
	001 MLAMini LF HF
M 101	MLAMINI LE HE
Asslogue 1 0.0 10 0.0 10	MLAMINI LF HF
	MLAMINI LF HF
	MLAMini LF HF
M 002	MLAMini LF HF
Aculogue 1 0.0 °C	MLAMINI LE HE

Click the Zone 1 label a second time and the two MSX will return to the normal view. Click on the Zone 2 label and you will see all of the MLA Mini turn blue;-



Now click on Zone 3 and there will not be any illuminated cabinets. Next click on boxes five and six, these will turn green;-





This indicates that these cabinets are now part of zone three. Finally click on Zone 4 and then the final two MLA Mini;-



If we click again on zone four the solid block of colour disappears leaving just the coloured outline to show which boxes are members of which zone. The array is now fully zoned as we wanted it;-



	MLAMini LF HF
	MLAMini LF HF
001 MSX	MLAMini LF HF
Analogue 1 0.0 °C 0.0 °C	MLAMINI LF HF
	MLAMini LF HF
	MLAMINI LF HF
1002 MSX	MLAMini LF HF
Analogue 1 0.0 *C 0.0 *C	MLAMini LF HF

MLA Mini PEQ

The MLA Mini Zone PEQ window appears like this;-



It is a slightly simplified version of the PEQ Tab that is available in all other array components. The six available zones can be selected by using the Zone buttons at the top of the window;-



Zone 1 is always the MSX sub so the EQ bands available are slightly different. There is a high pass filter, low pass filter and three bands of PEQ all of which may be adjusted in the same way as the PEQ in all other array types; grabbing the points on the graph,



adjusting the controls in the EQ panel on the right or directly entering the required values in the windows at the bottom of the EQ panel.



Zones 2 to 6 all have a high pass filter and six bands of PEQ;-

MLA Mini Ganging

Ganging for MLA Mini is handled in an identical way to all other devices. If you select the Array/Zone Ganging tab we see the following view. Note that for this example we have a Vu-Net project consisting of two main left and right arrays each with two MSX and eight MLA Mini, plus two "side" arrays each with a single MSX and four Mini. The larger array has four zones; one for MSX and three for the array, the side arrays have the default two zones;-

MLA Mini Left. INPUT NAX BORG A. 20NE 1 20NE 2 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 1 20NE 1 20NE 1 20NE 1 20NE 2 20NE 3 20NE 3 20NE 3 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 1 20NE 2 20NE 3 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 1 20NE 2 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE 3 20NE 4 20NE	
MLA Mini Right INPUT INPUT INP	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
MLA Mini Side Right INPUT INPU	 4×8 (4), (4), (4), (4), (4), (4), (4), (4),
	॰ 4× 8 lab. la la la ॰ 4× 8 la la la la la l a
MLA Mini Side Left INPUT	

In exactly the same way as other devices you can choose to gang the entire arrays, just the input parameters, the output parameters by zone or individual parameters. Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a



value entered before ganging is implemented this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value to any ganged gain or delay will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values.

There are the same 20 independent groups available for both types of ganging, selected by the coloured Group buttons along the top of the window in the Unassigned Groups section

Array Ganging

To gang an entire array, click on all arrays you wish to be ganged together. In our example we will gang the main left and right arrays and on a second group the two side arrays. There is no need to select a group they will be assigned automatically with different groups for each zone. You will need to select a different group to zone the side hangs;-

Unassigned Groups:	
MLA Mini Left	
MLA Mini Right	
MLA Mini Side Right	
MLA Mini Side Left	

If you wanted all four arrays zoned together you can use the double arrows that appear on any of the buttons when you hover the cursor over them for over a second;-



When you gang arrays which have different numbers of zones you will see this message;-



Any of the individual parameters can be excluded from a ganged system simply by clicking on them. A typical example might be to gang everything other than mute so you can ensure that arrays are matched left and right but have the ability to mute them



independently, useful during set-up. All parameters other than input source are ganged when using the array buttons so click one any you wish to exclude. Here we have added the input source and removed Mute from the ganging for both main and side arrays;-



Note that the reason for input source not being automatically included in array or input gangs is to cater for systems using an AES3 input where it is likely that the left array will use AESL and the right AESR. It is perfectly reasonable to gang the input source on all arrays if the signal feed is analogue.

Input Ganging

You can also choose to gang just the input functions of mute, gain, delay and noise gate by selecting the INPUT button for all arrays that you wish to gang. As with complete array ganging you can use the double arrow or click on input buttons individually



MLA Mini Left		ZONE 1 EQ 4X 8 La h. La la la	
		- ZONE 2 EQ 4× 8 10 10 10 10 10	
	INPUT TO 4X & THE	ZONE 3 EQ 4× 8 14 16 16 16 16	
MLA Mini Right		ZONE 1 EQ 4× 8 10 m. 10:10:10	
		- ZONE2EQ 4× 8 10:10:10:10:10:10	
	INPUT INPUT	ZONE 3 EQ 4× 8 10:10:10:10:10:	
		ZONE 4 EQ 4× 8 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	
MLA Mini Side Right	7	ZONE 1 EQ 4× 8 La b. 10. 10.	
	INPUT The dia and		
MLA Mini Side Left			
	INPUT TO AX 8 TH		

Zone Ganging

Zones are ganged in exactly the same way by first selecting a group and then clicking on the required zone. Ganging can run across the zones of all arrays or just across some. In this example we have ganged Zone 1 (the MSX sub) on all arrays and all other zones are paired across the main and side arrays. We have removed the ganging on the zone mutes so these can be independently muted and un muted during set-up



Individual parameter zoning is simply a case of selecting an unassigned group and clicking on individual parameter icons to add them to the gang.



DD12

DD12's are discovered in exactly the same way as any other device regardless of whether they are connected via a full U-Net network to a Merlin or directly via USB. The Device discovery will show all connected cabinets;-

Device Discovery		
Device Discovery Report.	ptionally run a wizard for the bosts you wish to control from VU-NET.	
USB		
D012 controllers (1 unit) D012 001 (425C72127983196406)		
Run Wizard		Feich

As there are no array-related options with the DD12 the 'Run Wizard' merely synchronises with all connected cabinets so the software reflects the settings in the devices.

Druce Discours Wood			ha hand die and die and
Review synchronization between VU	NET and devices.		
Device DEC2/001 (425C7022500184400)	Pagna	Pecifi OK	(Sennesa)
			Finit Cont.

A system connected via USB will appear like this;-

HWC-MEDDEMMEN-N.mackie.com		
PC	DD12 002	DD12 003
(0.10	₩ 2	M 3
CONNECTED		DD12
MARTIN	AUDI	0

A system connected via Merlin like this;-





Each DD12 icon in the overview screen features a Martin Audio logo. Double-clicking on this will illuminate the LED on the cabinet front grille to assist in identifying each DD12 which is very useful when multiple units are deployed.



There are a number of functions available by right clicking on a cabinet icon;-

	Open	
	Load Snapshot	
	Save Snapshot	
	Import Snapshot	
	Export Snapshot	
	Synchronize	
	Disconnect / Reconnect	
	Rename	F2
	Select All	Ctrl+A
×	Delete	Delete

'**Open'** functions in exactly the same way as double clicking on the cabinet icon and opens the DD12 overview screen to allow detailed control and monitoring

'Load Snapshot' brings up the snapshot window allowing you to select with one of the factory or User snapshots if any have been created;-



Lo	ad Snapshot				
ACTORY snapshots					
1	Pole Mount				
5	Stage Monitor				
з	Front Fill Stage Apron				
SER	snapshots				
Я.	Undefined				
Б	Undefined				
c	Undefined				
đ	Undefined				
£.	Undefined				
Ē.	Undefined				
R;	Undefined				
h.	Undefined				
c,	Undefined				
d.	Undefined				
E	Undefined				
F.	Undefined				
	Close				

Click on the snapshot number to choose the snapshot you need, you will be prompted to confirm;-

Load :	snapshot	
?	Load snapshot 2 ?	
		V OK X Cancel

'Save Snapshot' allows you to store a configuration that you have created to one of the User Snapshot locations. There are 12 locations available;-

the Sau	e Snapshot
USER	snapshots
a R	Undefined
ь	Undefined
c	Undefined
d	Undefined
ΞE	Undefined
⊖F.	Undefined
R	Undefined
0 b.	Undefined
0e	Undefined
d.	Undefined
30	Undefined
OF.	Undefined
	Save Cancel



Click on the Snapshot letter for the location you wish to use and you will be prompted to ass a snapshot name;-

Save Shapshot	
anapshot name:	

Type a name of up to 30 characters and the snapshot will be saved.

'Import Snapshot' allows you to recall a DD12 snapshot that has been exported to a file. Selecting Import brings up this window;-

VU-NET				-×
Import Snapshot. (1) Select a snapshot fi	ile, target snaps	hot and press Tr	nport'.	
Snapshot File Target Snapshot Load in Background	 			Select
			Import	Cancel

Click 'select' to navigate to the file location where you have stored DD12 Snapshot files. Next click on the target snapshot location within the User Locations, note that the imported file will overwrite any existing snapshot so if you need to retain any of those select a vacant location. Click 'Import' and the file will be imported and that snapshot immediately selected.

'Load in Background' allows you to load a file to a snapshot location of your choice and as long as you don't select the active snapshot location the file will be uploaded without disturbing the settings, even if the cabinet is in use passing audio.

'Export Snapshot' is how you create the DD12 .sn files which can be imported at future events. The Export windows appears like this;-

VU-NET	
Export Snapshot. (1) Specify the export options and press 'Export	ť.
 Export current settings Snapshot name: Output File 	 Export stored snapshot Stored snapshot:
	Export Cancel

You can elect to export the current settings giving the file an appropriate name, or one of the existing snapshots. Selecting this option will allow you to select one of the stored snapshots from a drop-down list. The drop-down ignores any undefined snapshot locations;-



Stored snapshot	I - Pole Mount 🔹		
	1 - Pole Mount		
	2 - Stage	Monitor	0
	3 - Front Fill Stage Apron		
	R - DD12 Delay rear		
	b - DD12 Vocal monitor		
	c - DD12	side fill	
Evno	rt III	Canc	el

Click Select and navigate to a suitable location on your PC and give the file a suitable name, the file will automatically have a .sn file extension generated. Click 'Export' and the file will be stored.

'Synchronise' is a manual synchronise that duplicates the automatic synchronise that occurs when a DD12 is discovered to ensure that what is displayed in Vu-Net matches exactly the parameters stored within the cabinet DSP.

'Disconnect/Reconnect' allows you to disconnect and individual cabinet which will turn red once disconnected;-



Selecting the same function will reconnect the cabinet and it will revert to the standard appearance.

'Rename' as with any other device allows the cabinet to be given a name of up to 50 characters;-

Rename	
Please enter new name (max 5	0 characters):
DD12 Left front	Ĵ
	OK Cancel
	Cancer

'Select All' selects all devices in the system Diagram, the keyboard shortcut for this is Ctrl + A.

'Load Preset' allows you to load one of the already stored Presets. The Preset window appears;-

Click on the required preset and you will see a Window asking you to confirm your selection;-



'Delete' removes the selected DD12. You will be prompted with the following Window to confirm the delete;-



If you selected Delete accidentally or have changed your mind, click 'Cancel', otherwise click 'OK' and the DD12 will be removed from the project.

Overview

Either double clicking or right clicking and selecting Open will bring up the overview option for the DD12 which shows all DD12s in the project;-

This gives an overview of the state of all DD12's allowing comprehensive monitoring of the system.

The box at the top will show any names that have been assigned to the cabinets by right clicking and selecting rename (or selecting and pressing F2 in the System Diagram;-





The gain fader allows gain adjustment from -40 to +15dB. Precise values can be entered by typing directly in the box below the fader or values can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons. The increments that the up/down buttons will step is determined in the Preferences section, by default it will be 0.25dB.

The mute button will mute the cabinet irrespective of the position of the gain fader and will turn red when active.

There is comprehensive metering available. The bargraph to the left of the fader shows input level up to the maximum before input clip of +18dBu. The smaller meters to the right show the amplifier output levels for both the low frequency amplifier driving the 12"driver and the high frequency amplifier driving the compression driver and show level prior to limit. If the levels reach the yellow segment you have reached the limiter threshold. A red segment indicated 3dB of gain reduction in the limiter.



There is also a temperature read out showing the temperature of both the DSP and amplifier module;-

There is delay available which is very useful for time aligning the DD12 when used as an extra fill with a larger mains system. The maximum delay available is 1 second. Values can either be typed directly into the Delay field or scrolled up and down using the arrow buttons. These increase or decrease the delay in increments of 10µs.

DELAY		DELAY		DELAY		DELAY	
1.10	0	1.10	0	0.00	0	0.05	0
ALCIALT		HIDUT		INDUT		INDUT	

The Input allows the connection mode to be changed from the default which is Analogue to AES/EBU or Unet (not currently available) taking its feed from either AES left or AES right. This can either be done individually for each DD12 or globally using the Input switch at the bottom of the DD12 overview Window. A global change will bring up the flowing window;-





Click 'Cancel' if you have changed your mind or 'OK' to accept the change of input mode. All DD12's will display the new input selection.

INPUT	INPUT	INPUT	INPUT	INPUT
AES L				

The Snapshot button gives access to either the loan or save snapshot functions available from the right-click menu in the Project System Diagram. Clicking on the button will bring up both options as shows;-

Analogue	
No Snapshot	LOAD Snapshot
POLARITY	SAVE Snapshot
100 1 00	

Clicking LOAD will bring up the Snapshot Menu with the currently active Snapshot shown highlighted in green;-

Los	ad Snapshot
FACTO	ORY snapshots
1	Pole Mount
2	Stage Monitor
З	Front Fill Stage Apron
USER	snapshots
R	Undefined
ь	Undefined
<u>د</u>	Undefined
d	Undefined
3	Undefined
F	Undefined
R,	Undefined
b.	Undefined
с.	Undefined
d.	Undefined
E.	Undefined
. F.	Undefined
	Close

Clicking on a new Snapshot number or letter will prompt you to confirm your selection;-



2 Load snapshot 2 ?	Load snapshot 2 ?	

Clicking 'OK' will confirm the selection and the preset will load. The Preset select window can be closed. The currently active Snapshot is displayed on the Snapshot button;-



Clicking SAVE will bring up the Save snapshot menu in the same way as the right click option in the system overview page;-

in Sav	e Snapshot	X
USER	snapshots	
9.R	Undefined	
ъ	Undefined	1
)e	Undefined	
d	Undefined	16
ΞE	Undefined	
F	Undefined	1
R	Undefined	
b.	Undefined	
С.	Undefined	
d	Undefined	
E.	Undefined	
F.	Undefined	
	Save Cancel]

Polarity will invert the phase of the cabinet. If in Show Mode a confirmation window will appear;-

Invert Polarity	- × -
? Set out of phase?	
	✓ OK X Cancel

On clicking 'OK' the phase will be inverted and the Polarity button will turn green;-

POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY
		10 NO 20		

Clicking the LED button will illuminate the front grille LED to help identify the DD12 under control in multiple deployment applications. This can be done individually for any cabinet;-

USER GUIDE





Or globally using the LED controls at the bottom of the DD12 Overview window;-



Pressing the "play" arrow will make the LEDs of all DD12s illuminate in sequence, cycling round continually until you click on the stop button Note that the global LED switches will overwrite any LEDs which have been activated on an individual DD12. The back and forward buttons allow manual cycling of all cabinet LEDs, each click will extinguish the currently illuminated LED and light the LED on the next or previous DD12.

EQ

The EQ button will open the EQ tab for that particular DD12. The EQ window is virtually identical to all other Vu-Net controlled devices;-



The window has three sections, the buttons along the top, the graphic display window and the controls on the right of the window. First we will look at the buttons along the top.

First there are ten parametric EQ buttons plus the high pass filter;-



As you can see there are a number of colour variations for these buttons. Unused bands are pale blue until they are selected for editing by clicking on them in which case the colour goes to a brighter blue and the image shows the button depressed. Unused is defined as the gain left at OdB. A red button indicates that the band has been bypassed, irrespective of whether any gain change has been made. Bypassed bands will change to a pale red when selected. Green buttons indicate a band that has either cut or boost applied, these will go a pale green when selected. Note that the high pass filter is always active so will always appear green.

The graphic view of the equalisation is a relatively standard frequency response graph;-





The horizontal axis is frequency in Hertz from 20Hz to 20KHz, the vertical axis is gain from -18dB up to +18dB. Colour coding is also used on the graph to represent the various modes.

First there are two traces, one red, and the other white. The red trace is the response of the band that is currently selected; the white trace is the overall response of the entire PEQ.

Each small red circle represents the position of each of the ten bands plus the high pass. For all of the EQ bands the position on the horizontal represents the EQ centre frequency, the vertical position is the cut or boost applied. A solid red circle is the currently selected band, any greyed-out band indicates that an EQ has been bypassed. The circle labelled "HP" identifies the cut-off frequency of the highpass filter.

In the right corner is this icon;-



This is used to cycle between standard and daylight modes. In daylight mode the display changes to look like this;-

.....





This is intended for use outdoors setting up a festival system where the normal display is difficult to view in bright sunlight. A further click on the icon will return to the default view.

In common with most PC controlled equalisation systems it is possible to make adjustments by dragging and dropping the filter curves. Left-click on any of the band rectangles and holding down the left mouse button, drag the icon horizontally to change the centre frequency or vertically to change the gain. Right-click and drag or Ctrl and drag up and down to adjust the filter Q factor. The graph will adjust and the audio adjustment will be made in real time.

The final section on the right of the window is the Properties panel;-

PEQ Filter					
BYPA	ss	EYPASS	ALL	FLAT	
Type: Peak					
Freque	ncy	Q	1	Gain	1
294 =	-	100 -	=		
101 =	=	1 1 1	111	10 -	
sk =	=	40 -	-		
4K = 3K =	-	30 -	-		
2< =	-	20 -	-	-	
™≣	Ξ	¹⁰ Ξ	Ξ	4	•
500 -	-	. 2	-	-10 -	
300 -	-	17	5		
200 -	-	1	21	-15 -	1
100 =	111	2-	-	-20 -	
5 S		t	-	-10	10000
- 22	-			-30 -	
56.1	÷	3	÷	0	


This shows all properties of the selected band. At the top are three buttons;-



'BYPASS' bypasses the individual band you have selected turning the BYPASS button and the filter button red. 'BYPASS ALL' bypasses every band. 'FLAT' will instantly change the gain to 0dB.

Next is a Filter type. Click on this and the drop down shows the options for each filter band;-

Туре:	Peak 🔹
Freque	Peak Low Shelf 2nd Order High Shelf 2nd Order

The default is 'Peak', a standard parametric EQ; the other options are 2nd order Low Shelf and 2nd order High Shelf.

Below are the three principal faders for adjusting the filter parameters;-

Freque	ncy	Q		Gair	
20K =	-	100 E		0 -	1
10К 🗄	=	50 =	111	10 -	
5K = 4K =	-	40 =	-	5 -	
3K = 2K =	-	20 -	-	0 -	
×	-	10 11	1111		
500 - 400 - 300 -			1	-10 -	1
200 -	-	3	-	-15 -	-
100 1111	11111	1=	-	-20 -	of the second
42 = 1	-			<u>t</u>	1
20 -	-		1	-30 =	-
327	÷	5.31	÷	6.5	÷

Parameters can be changed on the properties panel in three ways. The faders can be drag and dropped to a new value, the value can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons to the right of the value windows, and finally values can be directly typed into the value windows. The response graph will adjust according to the new values and vice versa, adjustments in the graph window will be reflected in the fader positions and values in the properties panel.

The High pass filter only has a single fader for the corner frequency. This may be adjusted in exactly the same way as the faders for the PEQ's. The 'Type' drop down offers three types of filter and slopes from 12dB up to 48dB per octave;-





To summarise, there are four ways to adjust filter parameters;-

- 1. Click and drag on the graph
- 2. Click and drag the properties faders
- 3. Use the up/down value buttons in the properties section
- 4. Directly type values into the value boxes.

Whilst this might seem over-versatility, it is intended to offer several options to suit the way that the system is being operated. If adjustments are being made with using a wireless tablet PC with a stylus whilst walking around a venue, certain options may be easier to use than if you were sitting at a desk with a mouse plugged in to the PC.

Zones

DD12 has a unique method for zone selection. Any cabinet can be a member of any (or none) of the twenty zones available which are labelled A to T. To select a zone click on the Zone button at the top of the Overview page;-





Click on the desired zone and it will be displayed on the zone button. The zones are colour coded to make it instantly obvious which cabinets are on the same zones. Colours are as follows;-

K is Lavender
L is Brown
M is Turquoise
N is Dark Brown
O is Flesh
P is Light Green
Q is Violet
R is Sand
S is Crimson
T is Azure

All functions on cabinets in the same zone will be duplicated regardless of which cabinet in the zone is used to make adjustments. Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a gain or delay value entered before a DD12 is added to a zone this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value to gain or delay on any cabinet in the same zone will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values;-



Noise Gate

The DD12 has a noise gate that is applied globally to all DD12's in the project. This is controlled using the section at the bottom of the overview window;-

NOISE GATE				-
ENABLED	Threshold:	0 🖨 Depth:	0 🜩 Hold Time:	0 🜩

Once enabled the Threshold, Depth and Hold Time can be adjusted, either by manually typing a value or using the up/down arrows to scroll though values. The default values are Threshold at -67dB, Depth of 10dB and Hold time of 5000ms.

.....



PSX

PSX's are discovered in exactly the same way as any other device regardless of whether they are connected via a full U-Net network to a Merlin or directly via USB. The Device discovery will show all connected cabinets;-

Device Discovery				×
evice Discovery Report.) Review discovered controllers per host an	d optionally run a wizard fo	the hosts you wish to control from	n VU-NET.	
USB				
PSX controllers (1 unit) PSX 001 (40C96EEF70A40FFB06)				
Run Wizard				
			0	Finish

As there are no array-related options with the PSX the 'Run Wizard' merely synchronises with all connected cabinets so the software reflects the settings in the devices.



Device Discovery Wizerd			
eview synchronization between VU-N	ET and devices.		
Device	Progress Result		
SX 001 (40C96EEF70A40FF800)		OK.	Synchronica
			Finish Cancel

A system connected via USB will appear like this;-



Each PSX icon in the overview screen features a Martin Audio logo. Double-clicking on this will illuminate the LED on the cabinet front grille to assist in identifying each PSX which is very useful when multiple units are deployed.

There are a number of functions available by right clicking on a cabinet icon;-



	Open	
	Load Snapshot	
	Save Snapshot	
	Import Snapshot	
	Export Snapshot	
	Synchronize	
	Disconnect / Reconnect	
	Rename	F2
	Select All	Ctrl+A
×	Delete	Delete

'**Open'** functions in exactly the same way as double clicking on the cabinet icon and opens the DD12 overview screen to allow detailed control and monitoring

'Load Snapshot' brings up the snapshot window allowing you to select with one of the factory or User snapshots if any have been created;-

to lo	ad Snapshot	aner, Sent
FACT	DRY snapshots	
4	DD6	
5) (XD12	
3	XD15	
1	Undefined	
5	Undefined	
6	Undefined	
USER	snapshots	
R	Undefined	
4	Undefined	
0	Undefined	
d	Undefined	
E	Undefined	
(F)	Undefined	
я.	Undefined	
h.	Undefined	
e.	Undefined	
4	Undefined	
E	Undefined	
	····	
		Close

Click on the snapshot number to choose the snapshot you need, you will be prompted to confirm;-





'Save Snapshot' allows you to store a configuration that you have created to one of the User Snapshot locations. There are 12 locations available;-

ten Sau	ve Snapshot	8
USER	snapshots	
e R	Undefined	
Óъ	Undefined	
c	Undefined]
C d	Undefined	
ΞE	Undefined	
F	Undefined	
R.	Undefined	
0 b.	Undefined	
U.e.	Undefined	1
d,	Undefined	
ΞĒ.	Undefined	
OF.	Undefined	
	Save Ci	incel

Click on the Snapshot letter for the location you wish to use and you will be prompted to ass a snapshot name;-



Type a name of up to 30 characters and the snapshot will be saved.

'Import Snapshot' allows you to recall a DD12 snapshot that has been exported to a file. Selecting Import brings up this window;-



VU-NET				-X-
Import Snapshot. Select a snapshot f	ile, target snapshot ar	nd press 'Impor	ť.	
Snapshot File Target Snapshot Load in Background	I (R.+)			Select
			Import	Cancel

Click 'select' to navigate to the file location where you have stored DD12 Snapshot files. Next click on the target snapshot location within the User Locations, note that the imported file will overwrite any existing snapshot so if you need to retain any of those select a vacant location. Click 'Import' and the file will be imported and that snapshot immediately selected.

'Load in Background' allows you to load a file to a snapshot location of your choice and as long as you don't select the active snapshot location the file will be uploaded without disturbing the settings, even if the cabinet is in use passing audio.

'Export Snapshot' is how you create the DD12 .sn files which can be imported at future events. The Export windows appears like this;-

VU-NET	
Export Snapshot. (i) Specify the export options and press 'Export	Δ.
Export current settings Snapshot name:	© Export stored snapshot Stored snapshot:
Output File	Export Cancel

You can elect to export the current settings giving the file an appropriate name, or one of the existing snapshots. Selecting this option will allow you to select one of the stored snapshots from a drop-down list. The drop-down ignores any undefined snapshot locations;-

Stored snapshot	! - DD6 🔻
	1 - DD6
	2 - XD12
	3 - XD15
	R - PSX & XD12 Monday venue
	b - PSX & DD6 Annual conference

Click Select and navigate to a suitable location on your PC and give the file a suitable name, the file will automatically have a .sn file extension generated. Click 'Export' and the file will be stored.



'Synchronise' is a manual synchronise that duplicates the automatic synchronise that occurs when a DD12 is discovered to ensure that what is displayed in Vu-Net matches exactly the parameters stored within the cabinet DSP.

'Disconnect/Reconnect' allows you to disconnect and individual cabinet which will turn red once disconnected;-



Selecting the same function will reconnect the cabinet and it will revert to the standard appearance.

'Rename' as with any other device allows the cabinet to be given a name of up to 30 characters;-

Rename	×
Please enter new name (max 50 charac	ters):
DD12 Left front	- I
	OK Cancel

'Select All' selects all devices in the system Diagram, the keyboard shortcut for this is Ctrl + A.

'Delete' removes the selected DD12. You will be prompted with the following Window to confirm the delete;-



If you selected Delete accidentally or have changed your mind, click 'Cancel', otherwise click 'OK' and the DD12 will be removed from the project.

Overview

Either double clicking or right clicking and selecting Open will bring up the overview option for the PSX which shows all PSXs in the project;-



PSX 001 NO.ZONE I PSX 002 NO.ZONE 2 IN SUB MAIN 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	PSX 003 NO ZONE 3	PSX 004 NO ZONE 4 NU ZONE 4 SUB MAIN +15 14 +15 14 +15 14 -13 -3 -3	
	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4		
	1 8 1 8 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	2 2	
all all <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
DELAY SUB DELAY MAIN 0.00 중 0.00 중	DELAY SUE DELAY MAIN	0.00 CONTRACTOR 0.00 CONTRACTO	
POLARITY SUB MAIN POLARITY SUB MAIN EQ No Snapshot EQ Snapshot b	POLARITY SUB MAIN EQ No Snapshot	POLARITY SUB MAIN EQ No Snapshot	
LED Analogue I LED Analogue	reshold: 0 - Depth:	0 + Hold Time: 0 +	

This gives an overview of the state of all PSX's allowing comprehensive monitoring of the system.

The box at the top will show any names that have been assigned to the cabinets by right clicking and selecting rename (or selecting and pressing F2 in the System Diagram;-

-				100			PT	
Г	PSX Left	NO ZONE 1	PSX Right	NO ZONE 2	DD6 Delay 1	NO ZONE 3	DD6 Delay 2	NO ZONE 4
1	-		1 1 1 1 1 1		11 251		1.000	

There are three gain faders, one for Input level and one each for control of the output of the internal sub and the external amplifier output. Each fader has a range of +15 to -40dB. Precise values can be entered by typing directly in the box below the fader or values can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons. The increments that the up/down buttons will step is determined in the Preferences section, by default it will be 0.25dB.

The mute button will mute the cabinet irrespective of the position of the gain fader and will turn red when active.

There is comprehensive metering available with a bargraph meter for input, Sub out and Main out. The input meter registers the level applied to the PSX up to the maximum of +18dB, the yellow and red segments indicating that the level is getting close to the maximum. The output meters indicate level prior to limit. The yellow segments indicate the onset of limiting; the red segment indicates 4dB of gain reduction.





PSX XD12 L NO ZONE 0	PSX XD12 R NO ZONE 0	PSX DD6 L NO ZONE 0	PSX DD6 R NO ZONE 1
10 -15 16 LH4	111 112 Lea 11 Lea	10 -15 10 Lee Lee Lee Lee Lee Lee Lee Lee Lee Le	
T.T.T.		T · T : T :	T · T · · ·
-16 -1 -12 -12 -12	-10 -1 -10 -12 -12	-16 -6 -16 -12 -12 -12 -12	-15 -6 -15 -12 -12 -12 -12
-10 -18 -18	100 - 100 -	40 -10 -10 -10	40 -10 -10 -10
36 34 36 36	ઝાં ઝાં	36 36 36	-34 -36 -36
46 45 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46	40 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45		
0.72 0 0.33 0 0.00 0	0.00 0 00.00 0 0.00 0	0.00 0 000 0 0.00 0	0.00 0 3.00 0 8.00 0

There is also a temperature read out showing the temperature of both the DSP and amplifier module;-



There is independent delay available for both the Sub and main outputs which is extremely useful for time aligning the PSX and the mid-top speaker that it is powering, particularly when used as a delay fill with a larger main system. The maximum delay available is 1 second. Values can either be typed directly into the Delay field or scrolled up and down using the arrow buttons. These increase or decrease the delay in increments of 10µs.

DELAY SUB		DELAY MAIN	ŧ.
0.50	~	2 05	1
0.50	~	0.90	~

Polarity can be inverted independently for the sub and main outs. When in Show Mode a confirmation window will appear;-

?	Set out of phase?	
		In a second second second

On clicking 'OK' the phase will be inverted and the Polarity button will turn green;-

POLARITY SUB MAIN	POLARITY SUB MAIN	POLARITY SUB MAIN	POLARITY SUB MAIN

The Snapshot button acts in the same way as the Load and Save Snapshot functions which are available from the right-click menu in the Project System Diagram. Clicking on the Snaphot button will bring up the option to Load or Save a snapshot;-



LOAD Snapshot
SAVE Snapshot

LOAD Snapshot brings up the Snapshot Menu with the currently active Snapshot shown highlighted in green;-

Lo.	ad Snapshot	×
FACTO	DRY snapshots	1
1	DD6	
2) XD12	1
3	XD15	
Ч	Undefined	
5	Undefined	
6	Undefined	
USER	snapshots	
<u>с</u> п.	Undefined	
ь	Undefined] =
E.,	Undefined	
в	Undefined	Ĩ
Ε	Undefined	
F.	Undefined	
R	Undefined	
Ъ.	Undefined	1
E.	Undefined	
d.	Undefined	
Ε.	Undefined	
1	1	1.
	Close	

Clicking on a new Preset will prompt you to confirm your selection;-

Load :	snapshot		
?	Load snapshot 3 ?		
		✓ OK	× Cancel

Clicking 'OK' will confirm the selection and the Snapshot will load. The Snapshot select window can be closed. The currently active Snapshot is displayed on the Preset button;-



Clicking on SAVE Snapshot brings up the Save snapshot window;-

USER GUIDE



an Sau	e Snapshot	- 22
USER	snapshots	
9 R	Undefined	
бъ	Undefined	
⊡e	Undefined	1
0d	Undefined	1
ΞE	Undefined	
F	Undefined	- 1
OR.	Undefined]
Ъ .	Undefined	1
0e	Undefined	1
Od,	Undefined	
OE.	Undefined	1
ÖF.	Undefined	
	Save	Cancel

Click on the Snapshot letter for the location you wish to use and you will be prompted to ass a snapshot name;-

	8
ОК	Cancel
	ОК

Type a name of up to 30 characters and the snapshot will be saved.

The Input allows the connection mode to be changed from the default which is Analogue to AES/EBU taking its feed from either AES left or AES right or a "split" mode which feeds AES Left to the Sub and AES Right to the Main out thus allowing individual control from two sends. This can either be done individually for each PSX or globally using the Input switch at the bottom of the PSX overview Window. A global change will bring up the flowing window;-



Click 'Cancel' if you have changed your mind or 'OK' to accept the change of input mode. All PSX's will display the new input selection.

LED	AES L						
-						4 J	

Clicking the LED button will illuminate the front grille LED to help identify the DD12 under control in multiple deployment applications. This can be done individually for any cabinet;-

Vu-Net			USER G	UIDE					
LED	AES L	LED	AES L		LED	AES L	LED	AES L	ON

Or globally using the LED controls at the bottom of the PSX Overview window;-



Pressing the "play" arrow in will make the LEDs of all PSXs illuminate in sequence, cycling round continually until you click on the stop button in Note that the global LED switches will overwrite any LEDs which have been activated on an individual PSX. The back and forward buttons in allow manual cycling of all cabinet LEDs, each click will extinguish the currently illuminated LED and light the LED on the next or previous PSX.

EQ

Clicking on the EQ button will bring up an EQ Window virtually identical to other Vu-Net controlled devices;-



The button in the top left corner of the window select EQ for the Sub or for the auxillary amplifier output, this is the Aux output;-





The window has three sections, the buttons along the top, the graphic display window and the controls on the right of the window. First we will look at the buttons along the top.

First there are ten parametric EQ buttons plus the high pass filter for both EQ windows and low pass filter for the Sub EQ;-



As you can see there are a number of colour variations for these buttons. Unused bands are pale blue until they are selected for editing by clicking on them in which case the colour goes to a brighter blue and the image shows the button depressed. Unused is defined as the gain left at OdB. A red button indicates that the band has been bypassed, irrespective of whether any gain change has been made. Bypassed bands will change to a pale red when selected. Green buttons indicate a band that has either cut or boost applied, these will go a pale green when selected. Note that the high pass filter is always active so will always appear green.

The graphic view of the equalisation is a relatively standard frequency response graph;-





The horizontal axis is frequency in Hertz from 20Hz to 20KHz, the vertical axis is gain from -18dB up to +18dB. Colour coding is also used on the graph to represent the various modes.

First there are two traces, one red, and the other white. The red trace is the response of the band that is currently selected; the white trace is the overall response of the entire PEQ.

Each small red circle represents the position of each of the ten bands plus the high pass. For all of the EQ bands the position on the horizontal represents the EQ centre frequency, the vertical position is the cut or boost applied. A solid red circle is the currently selected band, any greyed-out band indicates that an EQ has been bypassed. The circle labelled "HP" identifies the cut-off frequency of the highpass filter.

In the right corner is this icon;-



This is used to cycle between standard and daylight modes. In daylight mode the display changes to look like this;-



This is intended for use outdoors setting up a festival system where the normal display is difficult to view in bright sunlight. A further click on the icon will return to the default view.

In common with most PC controlled equalisation systems it is possible to make adjustments by dragging and dropping the filter curves. Left-click on any of the band rectangles and holding down the left mouse button, drag the icon horizontally to change the centre frequency or vertically to change the gain. Right-click and drag or Ctrl and drag up and down to adjust the filter Q factor. The graph will adjust and the audio adjustment will be made in real time.

The final section on the right of the window is the Properties panel;-



PEQ Filter					
BYPAS	s	EYFASS	ALL	FLA	T
Туре:	Pea	k			
Freque	ncy	0	1	Gai	n
-			R I	10.4	-
	- 1	100 -	= 1		
		=	E		1
10K -	-	- 2		10 -	-
111	Ξ1	65 -	-		
	=	45 -	-		13
51.00	-	201	66	5 -	-
	-	22 -	- 1		
30.4	- 1	- 46.45		é	4
20 -	-		- 1	10.0	Ŧ
					-
100.0		1993		122	1
1K =	=	10 =	=	1.4.5	-
=	=	-	21		ŀ.
-	21	-	- 1	1000	
430 -	-	0	-	-10 -	
200 -	- 1	4	51		ŀ.
		12	41	1	1
200 -	-		= I	198.5	-
		2.00	-		•
					0
100 E	Ξ			-20 -	-
5	3	1 -	-	1	1
50 -	1	100		1.00	
42.2	-				-
-30	-			1	:
25-	-			-30 -	-
30.1		3	1	0	÷

This shows all properties of the selected band. At the top are three buttons;-

FLAT

BYPASS bypasses the individual band you have selected turning the BYPASS button and the filter button red. BYPASS ALL bypasses every band. FLAT will instantly change the gain to 0dB.

Next is a Filter type. Click on this and the drop down shows the options for each filter band;-



The default is 'Peak', a standard parametric EQ; the other options are 2nd order Low Shelf and 2nd order High Shelf.

Below are the three principal faders for adjusting the filter parameters;-





Parameters can be changed on the properties panel in three ways. The faders can be drag and dropped to a new value, the value can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons to the right of the value windows, and finally values can be directly typed into the value windows. The response graph will adjust according to the new values and vice versa, adjustments in the graph window will be reflected in the fader positions and values in the properties panel.

The High and Low pass filters only has a single fader for the corner frequency. This may be adjusted in exactly the same way as the faders for the PEQ's. The 'Type' drop-down for the high pass offers two types of filter and slopes from 24dB to 48dB per octave, for the low pass Butterworth, Bessel and Linkwitz Riley are available with slopes from 6 to 48dB per octave. The high pass for the main out is 48dB per octave Linkwitz Riley only.

To summarise, there are four ways to adjust filter parameters;-

- 1. Click and drag on the graph
- 2. Click and drag the properties faders
- 3. Use the up/down value buttons in the properties section
- 4. Directly type values into the value boxes.

Whilst this might seem over-versatility, it is intended to offer several options to suit the way that the system is being operated. If adjustments are being made with the Lenovo tablet PC in tablet mode with the stylus whilst walking around a venue, certain options may be easier to use than if you were sitting at a desk with a mouse plugged in to the PC.

The Main out also has a limiter to protect the connected mid-top cabinet from excessive power. This is located at the top right of the EQ window above the properties section;-



The Limit is the threshold point in dB and can be adjusted from -18dBu to +2dBu. The Attack time can be adjusted from 0.3ms up to 90ms and the release is a factor of the attack time, either x2, x4, x8, x16, x32 or x64. When using factory snapshots the values will suit the DD6, XD12 or XD15, when using other speakers you can edit the values to suit the speaker and these will be stored along with all other parameters if saves as a user snapshot.



Zones

PSX has a very simple method for assigning cabinets to zones which will gang all parameters together. Any cabinet can be a member of any (or none) of the ten zones available which are labelled A to T. To select a zone click on the Zone button at the top of the Overview page;-



Click on the desired zone and it will be displayed on the zone button. The zones are colour coded to make it instantly obvious which cabinets are on the same zones. Colours are as follows;-

A is Blue	K is Lavender
B is Red	L is Brown
C is Green	M is Turquoise
D is Yellow	N is Dark Brown
E is Black	O is Flesh
F is Teal	P is Light Green
G is Deep Purple	Q is Violet
H is Moss Green	R is Sand
l is Pink	S is Crimson
J is Dull Green	T is Azure

All functions on cabinets in the same zone will be duplicated regardless of which cabinet in the zone is used to make adjustments Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a value entered before adding a PSX to a zone this will be retained and subsequent changes to gain or delay to any cabinet in the same zone will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values;- 

PSX Left ZONE D 1	PSX Right ZONE D 2	DD6 Delay 1 ZONE A 3	DD6 Delay 2 ZONEAT 4
000 + -5.84 + 2.84 + DSF.9 *C AMP.8 *C DELAY MAIN 0.00 + 12.45 + POLARITY SUB MAIN EQ No Snapshot LED Analogue	000 + -2.84 + 3.84 + DSP 48 *C AMP 48 *C DELAY SUB DELAY MAIN 0.00 + 12.45 + POLAHITY SUB MAIN EQ Snapshot 2 LED Analogue	0.00 ⊕ 0.00 ⊕ 0.00 ⊕ DSP.8 ℃ AMP.8 ℃ OELAY SUB DELAY MAIN 1.25 ⊕ 0.00 ⊕ POLARITY SUB MAIN EQ No Snapshot LED Analogue	0.00 + 0.

Noise Gate

The PSX has a noise gate that is applied globally to all DD12's in the project. This is controlled using the section at the bottom of the overview window;-

NOISE GATE				
ENABLED	Threshold:	0 🖨 Depth:	0 😴 Hold Time:	0 🗘

Once enabled the Threshold, Depth and Hold Time can be adjusted, either by manually typing a value or using the up/down arrows to scroll though values. The default values are Threshold at -67dB, Depth of 10dB and Hold time of 5000ms.



CDD Live

÷

Whilst connections to CDD live are made directly over Ethernet, Speakers from the range are discovered in the same way as other devices and will be discovered at the same time as any other products connected to the network whether via a Merlin and a U-Net network or USB for MLA Mini, DD12 or PSX.

Device Discovery				×
Device Discovery Report.	tionally and a wissed fo	. The basis concluded to a	entrol from UILNET	-
C never ascorbes controller per loss and o	nucleavy run e victaru ru	r the house you wan to c		
CDD/C 5X LIVE				
CDD LIVE controllers (2 units)				
CDD LIVE 001 (FF2080016000000) CDD LIVE 002 (FF2080007000000)				
CSX LIVE controllers (2 units)				
CSX LIVE 001 (FF20801B5000000)				
CBA LIVE 002 (PP208018A000000)				
Run Wizard				
				Finish

There are no array configuration options so clicking on 'Run Wizard' simply synchronises the cabinets with Vu-Net so that what is displayed in the application is exactly the configuration of the connected cabinets;-

Device Discovery Wisard			Printing and
leview synchronization between VL	INET and devices.		
Device	Progress	Result	
CDD LIVE 001 (FF2080019000000) CDD LIVE 002 (FF2080019500000) CSX LIVE 001 (FF208019500000) CSX LIVE 002 (FF2080184000000)		ок ОК ОК	Synchronice Synchronice Synchronice
			Finish Cancel

Once discovered the range will appear in Vu-Net like this;-





Each CDD Live device will be shown as an icon which includes the front grille LED. If you click on the cabinet to select it you can then click on the LED which will illuminate on the icon and on the speaker to make it easy to identify which cabinets you re controlling, useful particularly when you are arranging the overview screen in Vu-Net to represent the physical positioning of the system;-



Right clicking on any of the speakers brings up a number of menu options;-





'Open' has exactly the same function as double clicking on the speaker icon to open the full control window.

'Load Snapshot' opens the Snapshot window allowing you to recall any of the three Factory Snapshots or the fourth User Snapshot;-

Loa	id Snapshot
FACTO	DRY snapshots
1	Factory Snapshot 1
2	Factory Snapshot 2
3	Factory Snapshot 3
USER	snapshots
U	User Snapshot
	Close

'Save Snapshot' is the function used to store parameters that you have edited to the User Location "U". This location can be recalled using the Load Snapshot command or by selecting Snapshot 4 using the button on the speaker connector panel. To store a Snapshot once you have made all the parameter changes that you need, select 'Save Snapshot', you will see this window;-

Sav	e Snapsho	t	
USER	snapshot	S	
• U	User Sn	apshot	
		Save	Cancel

Click 'Save' and your setting are now stored and can be recalled when required.



'Import Snapshot' allows you to import a snapshot previously stored as a file on your PC. Selecting this option will open the following Window;-

VU-NET	282
Import Snapshot.	
 Select a snapshot file, target snapshot and press 'Import'. 	
	(
Snapshot File	Select
Save to back-panel user snapshot	
	Import Cancel

Click on the 'Select' button to navigate to the location on your PC where your CDD-Live files are located. If you would like to store the imported snapshot directly to the User Snapshot location so it can be stored and selected in future without a PC connected click on the 'Save to back-panel user snapshot' box. If this is left un-checked the snapshot settings will be imported but will be lost when a new snapshot is selected from the rear panel switch.

VU-NET			2
Import Snaps (i) Select a snap	h ot. shot file, target snapshot and press	Import'.	
Snapshot File	C:Wser Guide Files\CDD8 User	Guide.sn-cdd8	Select
		Import	Cancel

Click 'Import' and the snapshot is downloaded from your PC to the CDD-Live DSP.

'Export Snapshot' is used to store CDD-Live settings as a file to your PC. This can be used to archive snapshots to build a library of commonly used settings which can be quickly imported back into a system. This is the Export Snapshot Window;-

Specify the export options and press "Export".	
Export current settings	Export stored snapshot
Snapshot name:	Stored snapshot -
Output File	Select

You can choose to select the current active settings, a true snapshot of the system configuration, or to export one of the four Snapshots stored in the cabinet DSP. If you choose to Export the current settings you should first give the Snapshot a name so it is easy to identify when it is imported back into a cabinet "CDD-Live8 Stereophonics" for example.



If you click on 'Export stored snapshot' you next need to select one of the four internal snapshots, either 1 to 3 which are the factory snapshots or 4 which is the user snapshot location.

CAPOIL STORED S	hapshot
Stored snapshot	1 - Factory Snapshot 1
	1 - Factory Snapshot 1
	2 - Factory Snapshot 2
	3 - Factory Snapshot 3
	U - User Snapshot

Next click 'Select' to navigate to an appropriate location on your PC to store the file and give it a suitable same.

Export Snapshot. Specify the export options and press "Export".	
Export current settings Snapshot name: CDD-Live 8 Stereophonics	C) Export stored snapshot Stored snapshot U - User Snapshot
Output File C1User Guide Files1CDD Live8 Ster	reophonics.sn-cdd8 Select
	Export Cancel

Finally click 'Export' to upload the Snapshot to your PC.

'Synchronise' is a manual synchronise that duplicates the automatic synchronise that occurs when CDD Live is discovered to ensure that what is displayed in Vu-Net matches exactly the parameters stored within the cabinet DSP.

'Disconnect/Reconnect' allows you to disconnect and individual cabinet which will turn red once disconnected;-



Selecting the same function will reconnect the cabinet and it will revert to the standard appearance.

'IP Settings' allows you to change from the default Dynamic IP to static. Clicking on the option brings up this window;-



Obtain IP a	address automatically via D	HCP server: dynamic mode (default)
Set IP add	ress manually: static mode	
IP Address	0.0.0	
Subnet mask	0.0.0.0	
Gateway	0.0.0	(optional)

If you select Static IP you will need to enter a manual IP address and subnet mask in the same range as all other devices on the network that you need to communicate with.

'Rename' allows you to give the cabinet a name of your choice up to 30 characters, this can also be accessed by selecting the speaker and using the keyboard shortcut F2;-

Rename	- X-
Please enter new name (max 30 characters):	
CDD Livel 2 Left	
	OK Cancel

'Select All' selects all devices in the system Diagram, the keyboard shortcut for this is Ctrl + A.

'Delete' removes the selected CDD-Live speaker. You will be prompted with the following Window to confirm the delete;-



If you selected Delete accidentally or have changed your mind, click 'Cancel', otherwise click 'OK' and the speaker will be removed from the project.

Overview

Either double clicking or right clicking and selecting Open will bring up the overview option for the CDD Live which shows all CDD Live speakers in the project, a separate overview shows all CSX Live subs;-



	DIO STORE IN
THO ADDIE & THO ADDIE &	
COD-LIVE 158 COD-LIVE 156	COD-LIVE 12

6 (A)	
-8 LEHE -8 LEHE	4
TEMP TEMP	12 TEMP
- 8°C - 8°C	44 2 9 2
4 4	
34 dx 34 dx	41
dBu dBu	eta -
0.00 🖶 0.00 🖶	0.0
DELAY DELAY	DELAY
0.00 🖶 0.00 🖶	0.00 🖶
INPUT INPUT	AUTO
No Secondaria	
No shapshot	INO SHAPPING
POLARITY POLARITY	POLARITY
LED EQ LED EQ	LED EQ
100	
	NITO

This is the CSX Live Overview:-

NO ZONE 1	NO ZONE 2	NO ZONE 3	NO ZONE 4
CSX UVE 2188	*********	CSA UVE 1188	CSX UVE 1166
4 OUT	4 OUT	a out	4 OUT
-02 -08 TEMP 0 °C	-12 48 TEMP 0 °C	-13 46 TEMP 0°C	42 48 1EMP 0 °C
4 4 ×	a	34 4 X	a
-30 -41 dBu	dBu	40 -44 -44 -44 -44	-30 -46
0.00 -	0.00 T	0.00	0.00
AUTO	AUTO	0.00	0.00 T
No Snapshot	No Snapshot	No Snapshot	No Snapshot
LED EQ	LED EQ	LED EQ	LED EQ
LED	INPL	л	

This gives an overview of the state of all CDD and CSX Live speakers allowing comprehensive monitoring of the system.

The box at the top will show any names that have been assigned to the cabinets by right clicking and selecting rename (or selecting and pressing F2 in the System Diagram;-





The gain fader allows gain adjustment from -40 to +15dB. Precise values can be entered by typing directly in the box below the fader or values can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons. The increments that the up/down buttons will step is determined in the Preferences section, by default it will be 0.25dB.

The mute button will mute the cabinet irrespective of the position of the gain fader and will turn red when active.

There is comprehensive metering available. The bargraph to the left of the fader shows input level up to the maximum before input clip of +18dBu. The smaller meters to the right show the amplifier output levels for both the low frequency amplifier driving the LF driver and the high frequency amplifier driving the compression driver and show level prior to limit. If the levels reach the yellow segment you have reached the limiter threshold. A red segment indicated 3dB of gain reduction in the limiter.



There is also a temperature read out showing the temperature of the DSP and amplifier module;-



There is delay available which is very useful for time aligning CDD Live when used as an extra fill with a larger mains system. The maximum delay available is 1 second. Values can either be typed directly into the Delay field or scrolled up and down using the arrow buttons. These increase or decrease the delay in increments of 10µs.

DELAY	DELAY	DELAY
320.00	320.00 🖨	12.00
		Contraction of the second seco

The Input allows the connection mode to be changed from the default which is Auto to Analogue or Dante. This can either be done individually for each CDD or CSX Live or globally using the Input switch at the bottom of the overview Window. A global change will bring up the flowing window;-





Click 'Cancel' if you have changed your mind or 'OK' to accept the change of input mode. All CDD or CSX Live will display the new input selection.

INPUT	INPUT	INPUT
DANTE	DANTE	DANTE

The Snapshot button acts in the same way as the Load and save Snapshot functions available from the right-click menu in the Project System Diagram. Clikcing on the Snapshot button brings up the option to Load or Save;-

Roto	Noto J
No Snapshot	LOAD Snapshot
POLARITY	SAVE Snapshot
LED I EO	

Selecting 'LOAD Snapshot' will bring up the Snapshot Menu with the currently active Snapshot shown highlighted in green;-

Load Snapshot					
FACTO	RY snapshots				
1	Factory Snapshot 1				
2	Factory Snapshot 2				
3	Factory Snapshot 3				
USER	snapshots				
U	User Snapshot				
		Close			

Clicking on a new Snapshot number or letter will prompt you to confirm your selection;-





Clicking 'OK' will confirm the selection and the preset will load. The Preset select window can be closed. The currently active Snapshot is displayed on the Snapshot button;-

Snapshot 2

Selecting SAVE Snapshot will bring up the save snapshot window;-

USER	snapshots		
• U	User Sna	pshot	
	1	Save	Cancel

Click 'Save' and the following window appears;-

Confir	m Dialog	
?	Save user snapshot U?	
		V OK X Cancel

Click 'OK' and your setting are now stored and can be recalled when required.

Polarity will invert the phase of the cabinet. If in Show Mode a confirmation window will appear;-



On clicking 'OK' the phase will be inverted and the Polarity button will turn green;-

POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY	POLARITY
	ii			للحصي

Clicking the LED button will illuminate the front grille LED to help identify the DD12 under control in multiple deployment applications. This can be done individually for any cabinet;-

	LED EQ				
--	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------

Or globally using the LED controls at the bottom of the CDD or CSX Live Overview window;-

USER GUIDE





Pressing the "play" arrow i will make the LEDs of all CDD Live illuminate in sequence, cycling round continually until you click on the stop button i Note that the global LED switches will overwrite any LEDs which have been activated on an individual CDD or CSX Live. The back and forward buttons i allow manual cycling of all cabinet LEDs, each click will extinguish the currently illuminated LED and light the LED on the next or previous CDD or CSX Live.

EQ

The EQ button will open the EQ tab for that particular CDD or CSX Live speaker. The EQ window is virtually identical to all other Vu-Net controlled devices;-



The window has three sections, the buttons along the top, the graphic display window and the controls on the right of the window. First we will look at the buttons along the top.

First there are eight parametric EQ buttons plus the high pass filter;-



As you can see there are a number of colour variations for these buttons. Unused bands are pale blue until they are selected for editing by clicking on them in which case the colour goes to a brighter blue and the image shows the button depressed. Unused is defined as the gain left at 0dB. Green buttons indicate a band that has either cut or boost applied, these will go a pale green when selected. Note that the high pass filter is always active so will always appear green. The graphic view of the equalisation is a relatively standard frequency response graph;-

Vu-Net USER GUIDE

The horizontal axis is frequency in Hertz from 20Hz to 20KHz, the vertical axis is gain from -18dB up to +18dB. Colour coding is also used on the graph to represent the various modes.

First there are two traces, one red, and the other white. The red trace is the response of the band that is currently selected; the white trace is the overall response of the entire PEQ.

Each small red circle represents the position of each of the ten bands plus the high pass. For all of the EQ bands the position on the horizontal represents the EQ centre frequency, the vertical position is the cut or boost applied. A solid red circle is the currently selected band, any greyed-out band indicates that an EQ has been bypassed. The circle labelled "HP" identifies the cut-off frequency of the highpass filter.

In the right corner is this icon;-



This is used to cycle between standard and daylight modes. In daylight mode the display changes to look like this;-





This is intended for use outdoors setting up a festival system where the normal display is difficult to view in bright sunlight. A further click on the icon will return to the default view.

In common with most PC controlled equalisation systems it is possible to make adjustments by dragging and dropping the filter curves. Left-click on any of the band rectangles and holding down the left mouse button, drag the icon horizontally to change the centre frequency or vertically to change the gain. Right-click and drag or Ctrl and drag up and down to adjust the filter Q factor. The graph will adjust and the audio adjustment will be made in real time.

The final section on the right of the window is the Properties panel;-



This shows all properties of the selected band. At the top is a flat button;-

USER GUIDE



	FLAT	1
-		-

This will zero the gain of the selected filter.

Next is a Filter type. Click on this and the drop down shows the options for each filter band;-

Type:	Parametric	•
Freque	Parametric Low Shelf	
20K -	High Shelf	

The default is Parametric, the other otions are Low and High Shelf filters.

The High Pass Filter has the following options for filter type and slope;-



Below are the three principal faders for adjusting the filter parameters;-





Parameters can be changed on the properties panel in three ways. The faders can be drag and dropped to a new value, the value can be scrolled up or down using the up/down buttons to the right of the value windows, and finally values can be directly typed into the value windows. The response graph will adjust according to the new values and vice versa, adjustments in the graph window will be reflected in the fader positions and values in the properties panel.

To summarise, there are four ways to adjust filter parameters;-

- 1. Click and drag on the graph
- 2. Click and drag the properties faders
- 3. Use the up/down value buttons in the properties section
- 4. Directly type values into the value boxes.

Whilst this might seem over-versatility, it is intended to offer several options to suit the way that the system is being operated. If adjustments are being made with using a wireless tablet PC with a stylus whilst walking around a venue, certain options may be easier to use than if you were sitting at a desk with a mouse plugged in to the PC.

Zones

Any cabinet can be a member of any (or none) of the twenty zones available which are labelled A to T which will gang together all parameters for every cabinet in the zone. Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a value entered before adding a CDD Live cabinet to a zone this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value for any gain or delay to any cabinet in the same zone will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values. To select a zone click on the Zone button at the top of the Overview page;-





Click on the desired zone and it will be displayed on the zone button. The zones are colour coded to make it instantly obvious which cabinets are on the same zones. Colours are as follows;-

A is Blue	K is Lavender
B is Red	L is Brown
C is Green	M is Turquoise
D is Yellow	N is Dark Brown
E is Black	O is Flesh
F is Teal	P is Light Green
G is Deep Purple	Q is Violet
H is Moss Green	R is Sand
l is Pink	S is Crimson
J is Dull Green	T is Azure

All functions on cabinets in the same zone will be duplicated regardless of which cabinet in the zone is used to make adjustments. Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a value entered before adding a CDD Live to a zone this will be retained and subsequent changes to gain or delay to any cabinet in the same zone will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values;-






Merlin

The Merlin system controller is most often employed in MLA systems as a PC to U-Net interface however the Merlin is a four input, ten output audio processor with a host of extremely powerful functions available, all of which can be controlled via Vu-Net on exactly the same platform as MLA, MLA Compact, MLA Mini and other U-Net compatible systems . As well as being used as a simple matrix for controlling main arrays, side hangs and subs, it could easily be deployed to control conventional non-powered speaker products in use at events as stage front fills for example. The fact that everything can be controlled on the same tablet PC running Vu-Net makes system alignment and trim very straightforward indeed.

Gain, Mute & Limiters

Double clicking on the Merlin in the System overview page opens the Merlin System Control window which by default opens on the first Gain/Mute/Limiter tab;-



This has all input and output channel faders, meters and mute buttons available. As with the gain control on other Vu-Net controlled devices there is up to +15dB of gain or -40dB of cut available on all inputs and outputs. Metering is different for input and output. Input shows absolute input level in dBu, the upper point is +22dBu which is the highest level signal which can be applied to the input prior to clipping. The output meters display level before limit therefore their range will be determined by the limiter threshold that has been set for that particular output. The metering shows green up until it reaches 3dB from the limiter threshold whereupon it shows amber and finally red when the limiter threshold is reached. The upper most point of the meter shows 3dB of gain reduction- essentially 3dB over the limit threshold.

Limiters are accessed by clicking on the 'SHOW LIMITERS' button;-

S	HOW	LIMIT	ERS	
		_		_

This brings the output limiter controls up at the bottom of the window;-

	CLIP LEVEL	अ	•	34		134		34	-	34	1	34	•	34 -	- K	34	•	34	••
Auto Time Constant	PEAK LEVEL	22	•	22	•	22	•	22 -	-	22 -	1	22	•	22 -	22 -	22	•	22	•
	ATTK (ma)	90		90	•	90	•	90 -	•	90 -	1	30	•	90 -	90 *	90	•	190	•
HIDE LIMITERS	RELEASE	64xAt	÷	64xAt	•	[64xAt	•	64xAt -	·	[64xAt -	1	64xAt	•	64xAt =	64xAt =	64xA	•	64xAt	-



By default the time constants are set to Manual but they can be set to Automatic by clicking the Auto Time Constant button which will then grey out the Attack and Release windows. Auto Time constants select the most appropriate time constants for the frequency band that has been selected using the high and low pass filters in the PEQ window for each output. Parameters are set by clicking on the drop-down arrow and selecting the desired value from the list;-

	CLIP LEVEL	34	•
Auto Time Constant	PEAK LEVEL	32	•
	ATTK (ms)	30	-
HIDE LIMITERS	RELEASE	29 28	-

Clip level is a clip limiter designed to catch very fast peaks that might exceed the input headroom and can be set from +2dBu to +34dBu in 1dB increments.

Peak Level is the principal limiter threshold with time constants determined by the Attack and Release controls. The threshold range is from -10dBu to +22dBu also in 1dB increments.

Attack time is in milliseconds and can be the following values; 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.7, 1.0, 1.4, 2.0, 2.8, 4.0, 5.7, 8.0, 11, 16, 23, 45 or 45ms

Release is specified as a multiple of the selected attack time and can be either 2x, 4x, 8x, 16x, 32x or 64x.

The limiter can be hidden again by clicking the 'HIDE LIMITER' button.

Routing

The Routing Tab brings up the routing matrix window which allows the input and output modes to be selected and the routing freely configured;-



The routing page is also used to label inputs and outputs, simply type the required name in the appropriate box. The name can be up to 12 characters and will appear in all other Merlin tabs within Vu-Net and on the unit itself but as there is limited space on some windows, the Gain/Mute/Limiters page for example, we would recommend keeping name as short and succinct as possible.

You may also select input or output routing to be AES3 or analogue by clicking on the boxes for all input and all outputs. Note that it is possible to change inputs and outputs independently;-

USER GUIDE





Note that selecting AES for either inputs or outputs changes how physical connections are made to the Merlin rear panel connectors. This is duplicated on the routing page to help make it clear exactly how the Merlin needs to be patched, see the chapter on the Merlin for more details. This for example is how the routing looks for a system with analogue inputs and AES3 outputs.



The routing matrix is shown with the inputs forming vertical columns and the outputs as horizontal lines. Each node can be selected to route any input to any or all output. This is entirely freely configurable, there are no restrictions on where or how many outputs and of the inputs are routed to. Note that any changes to the routing will remove any delay settings that have been configured for any of the output channels. Here is a routed and labelled system;-





Input Channels

The input and Output channel tabs are very similar to the PEQ window for MLA, MLD and MLA Compact with a few notable differences;-



As with other Vu-Net EQ windows, the daylight icon is available;-



This is used to cycle between standard and daylight modes. In daylight mode the display changes to look like this;-



This is intended for use outdoors setting up a festival system where the normal display is difficult to view in bright sunlight. A further click on the icon will return to the default view.



In common with most PC controlled equalisation systems it is possible to make adjustments by dragging and dropping the filter curves. Left-click on any of the band rectangles and holding down the left mouse button, drag the icon horizontally to change the centre frequency or vertically to change the gain. Right-click and drag or Ctrl and drag up and down to adjust the filter Q factor. The graph will adjust and the audio adjustment will be made in real time.

The input that is being controlled is selected by clicking on one of the four buttons labelled A-D;-



Each input has eight filters which can be selected from the buttons along the top. Also available are a delay and gain button which are "short cuts" to the delay and Gain/Mute/Limiter windows.



Filters may be manipulated in exactly the same way as the PEQ filters in the cabinets. The filter can be grabbed and drag and dropped to select the desired frequency and gain, using right click to modify Q factor.

The parameter section allows precise values to be typed into the value windows, the faders drag and dropped or values cycled up or down using the appropriate arrows. There are additional options for the filter type selected by the 'Type' drop down;-

Туре:	Parametric 🔹
Frequency	Parametric High Shelf 2nd Order Low Shelf 2nd Order HP Vary Q LP Vary Q

High Shelf 2nd order is a high shelf filter with gain available from -15dB to +15dB and Q from 0.25 up to 1.0;-



Low Shelf 2nd Order is a low shelving filter also with +/-15dB of gain and Q factor from 0.25 to 1.0;-



There are no dedicated high and low pass filters on the inputs but High pass and lowpass with variable Q are options for filter types;-





You can also select 'Show All' to display all four input channels overlaid with different colours for each;-





As well as eight bands of equalisation there are buttons for delay and gain;-



These are a shortcut directly to the tabs for those functions.

The name allocated to each input is displayed above the EQ parameter controls on the top right of the window;-



Output Channels

The output channel page is almost identical to the input pages;-





There are naturally a few differences, the output channel being viewed is selected by the 10 buttons at the top of the window;-



There are also eight filters available selected by the buttons top left but in addition there are also dedicated high and low pass filters;-

The last three buttons are short cuts to the delay, gain and limiter sections.

The parametric EQ have the same options as the input channels, parametric, high and low pass 2nd order shelving EQ and high and low pass filters with variable Q;-

Parametric	-
Parametric	
High Shelf 2nd Order	
Low Shelf 2nd Order	1
HP Vary Q	
LP Vary Q	

The High and lowpass filters can be configured as either Bessel, Butterworth or Linkwitz Riley types with slopes of either 12, 18, 24 or 48dB per octave (48dB/oct is only available on Butterworth or Linkwitz Riley);-

Bessel 18dB	•
LinkWitz Riley 12dB Bessel 18dB	1
ButterWorth 18dB Bessel 24dB	
ButterWorth 24dB LinkWitz Riley 24dB	111
ButterWorth 48dB LinkWitz Riley 48dB	-





As with the input channels, the output channel name is shown above the EQ controls;-

Ch. Name:	Main L	
-----------	--------	--

Delay

The delay window offers a sophisticated system for controlling time alignment if all systems routed via the Merlin. The maximum <u>through</u> delay from input to output is 1 second so for example you can add 999.99ms to an output but then you will not be able to add any delay to the input and vice versa, or you could have up to 500ms on the input and the same on the output.

It is important to note that if you make any changes to routing after you have set delays, all delays on a re-routed channel will be reset to zero.

This is how the routing window appears;-



	8	N.B. Rou	ted individual input channel del	ay (including any	/ linking channel's
Input B 500 ms No Link • 500 ms		dela	y) plus routed individual output	channel delay (i	ncluding any
Input C 500 ms No Link - 500 ms	- C	14.05	ny chamere unay) is amays	1000 His of 1892.	
Input D 500 ms No Link + 500 ms		1			
		500 ms	No Link S00 ms	Output 1	INVERSE POLARIT
		500 ms	- No Link + 500 ms	Output 2	INVERSE POLARIT
		500 ms	• No Link • 500 ms	Output 3	INVERSE POLARIT
		500 ms	• No Link • 500 ms	Output 4	INVERSE POLARIT
	- +	500 ms	• No Link • 500 ms	Output 5	INVERSE POLARIT
DOWN	•	500 ms	No Link + 500 ms	Output 6	INVERSE POLARIT
Step Size : 0.01 ms ·	• •	500 ms	No Link • 500 ms	Output 7	INVERSE POLARIT
Unit : • Time • Metres • Feet		500 ms	• No Link • 500 ms	Output 8	INVERSE POLARIT
Temperature (°C) : 20.0 -		500 ms	• No Link 🔹 🗧 500 ms	Output 9	INVERSE POLARIT
			Contraction of the local division of the loc	-	

Delay times can be specified by time in milliseconds, or distance in either Metres or Feet. This is set in the bottom left of the window;-

20.0 +

The temperature can be set to match the ambient temperature at the venue and will compensate for the variations in speed of sound through the air as temperature varies when distance has been selected. The temperature adjustment does not affect delay times when Time has been selected as the unit of display. The temperature is selected from a drop-down list from -20 to $+40^{\circ}$ C. You may wish to consider cancelling any shows where the ambient temperature is -20° C; ticket sales are likely to be poor...

The other option available is the step size selected from the box just above the units selection;-

	UP	1
	DOWN	
Step Size :	0.01 ms	-

As well as entering an absolute value, any selected delay may be stepped up or down using the 'UP' or 'DOWN' buttons. This is particularly useful when time aligning systems by ear, perhaps using an audible click, the delay can be gradually adjusted until the clicks are perfectly in sync. Step size can be selected from the drop-down and can be 0.01, 0.1, 1.0, 10.0 or 100.0 milliseconds.

The delay window displays the entire routing matrix and input and output channel names so it is easy to see where delays need to be applied. The input and output sections are broadly similar, first here is an input channel;-





This is Input A as shown by the designation to the right. It has been re-named in the Input Channel tab as "Mixer L". The first box with a pale green fill is for display only and shows the total delay applied to that input. The total comprises the delay added by virtue of a link to another channel (which will be explained in a later chapter) added to the delay in the final box which is where the required delay for the channel is entered. To enter a delay the input (or output) needs to be selected with a single click whereupon the box fill will change from white to a brighter lime green;-



The existing value can then be selected and over-written with the new value following which it can be scrolled up and down if required using the 'UP' and 'DOWN' buttons. Note that only one delay can be selected at any time but multiple delays can be changed simultaneously by using the link function as we will see.

The output channels are very similar;-

500	+	No Link 🔻	=	500 ms	Sub L	INVERSE POLARITY
Statement of the local division of the local			the a		the state of the s	

The order of the boxes is reversed. The first box is the active box in which the delay for the output is entered. Next comes the link drop-down. Then the delay display box shows the total delay allocated to that particular output. The output channel name is next and finally a phase button to invert the polarity of the output. The button changes colour to green when Inverse Polarity has been selected;-



Delay Link

As the name suggests, the delay for multiple inputs or outputs can be linked together to allow simple set up without having to enter the same figures several times. Input link and output link work in the same way but you cannot link an input to an output or vice versa. In its simplest format, you can link several inputs or outputs together. Inputs for example can be linked to any of the other three, in this example, the drop down for input A shows it can be linked to input B, C or D;-

-	
No Link	•
No Link	
Link-B	
Link-C	- 8
Link-D	

Similarly, Outputs can be linked to any of their other neighbours; here is the link drop-down for output 1



Link-02	-	and the second second
No Link		i
Link-02		ł
Link-04		l
Link-05		l
Link-06		k
Link-07		l
Link-08		Į
Link-09		ĺ
Link-10		

Note that if you link a particular input to another, the "master" input cannot be linked to another channel. This also applies to outputs.

In its simplest use, you can link one or more inputs or outputs to one other and use that to simultaneously change the delay of all linked channels. Here inputs A, B & C have been linked to input D and a delay of 15ms has been applied to input D;-

Mixer L	15 ms	= Link-D 🔻	+ 0 ms
Mixer R	15 ms	= Link-D 💌	+ 0 ms
Sides	15 ms	= Link-D 💌	+ 0 ms
Fills	15 ms	= No Link 💌	+ 15

As you can see, although the individual channels A, B & C have nothing entered, the delay display shows 15ms for all inputs.

In addition to this simple matched delay, channels linked to others can also have a delay entered and the total delay will equal the delay entered for the "master" channel plus whatever delay is entered for that channel. Any changes to the "master" delay will be tracked by any channels linked to it. In this example, Output channels 2, 3 & 4 are linked to output 1. Output two has its own delay of 10ms, output three 20ms and output four 30ms. We add 10ms to output 1 and see the following;-

10	+ No Link 🔻	10 ms	Sub L	INVERSE POLARITY
10 ms	+ Link-01 💌	20 ms	Sub R	INVERSE POLARITY
20 ms	+ Link-01 💌	30 ms	Main L	INVERSE POLARITY
30 ms	+ Link-01 -	40 ms	Main R	INVERSE POLARITY

If we now increase the delay on Output one to 20ms we see this;-

20	+ No Link 🔻 =	20 ms Sub I	INVERSE POLARITY
10 ms	+ Link-01 •	30 ms Sub I	R INVERSE POLARITY
20 ms	+ Link-01 ▼ =	40 ms Main	L INVERSE POLARITY
30 ms	+ Link-01 -	50 ms Main	R INVERSE POLARITY



The delay on Output one will always match what is entered, the other three outputs will always match output one plus their individual delay. Linking works in identical fashion to output channels.

Ganging

The Merlin has an extremely comprehensive ganging capability accessed from the Ganging tab. This operates in exactly the same way as ganging between the same speaker model and allows ganging of an entire Merlin, individual inputs, individual outputs or even individual parameters. The Ganging window appears like this;

lerlin Master	
NPUTA 🛛 🛪 😵 🕼 🌬 🕼 🏠 🕼 🏎	олтялта их 8 🗠 La b. La
	OUTPUTS 4× 8 🚭 La b. La' la' la' la' la' la la la la a
INPUTO 4× 8 14:14:14:14:14:14:14:	
	OUTPUTS 4× 8 - IAB. IA'IA'IA'IA'IA'IA'IA'IA'IA'
	OUTPUT 7 4× 8 🚭 La b. La
	OUTPUT 10 4× 8 😁 La b. La La La La La La La La 🖉
Merlin Slave	oumur 1 🐟 8 🚭 La 🗛 La La La La La La La La La

All Merlins in the project will be available, our Master Merlin is shown at the top with our Slave Merlin below, the parameters not visible can be accessed by scrolling down.

Note that all gain and delay parameters are *offset* ganged. If there is already a value entered before ganging is implemented this will be retained and subsequent changes to a value to any ganged gain or delay will increase or decrease all values according to any edits you make but will retain the offset between all values.

Ganging entire Merlins

By clicking on the Merlin name button we can gang any or all of the other Merlins by clicking again on the other Merlin name buttons. Alternatively we can use the double arrow which appears when we hover over the button for a second. This gives us the option of ganging all Merlins in the project selected with the window that appears;

APPLY TO
Merlin Master
Merlin Slave
Slave 2

Select as many Merlins as you need to gang and click again on the first Merlin name button. This shows all Merlins ganged;-



erlin Master	
	OUTRUT 4 8 4 La L.
NPUTD 🛃 🕹 🕼 الما الما الم الم	
	ournurs 🐟 🖇 🛶 🖾 🖾 🔤 ໄລ ໂລະ ໂລະ ໂລະ ໂລະ ໂລະ ໂລະ 🖉
erin Slave	

Input and output Ganging

You can gang all input channel parameters on one or more Merlin by using the Input and Output buttons. Click on an unassigned group and click on any input button you need to gang, either on one Merlin or several. Click on another unassigned group and repeat for any outputs, choosing a new unassigned group for each new gang. This example shows all input parameters ganged and outputs of each Merlin ganged in pairs as they are routing to stereo pairs;-

Unassigned Groups:	
Merlin Master	
and the second	
Merlin Slave	



Individual parameter ganging

You can use exactly the same process to gang individual parameters which could be in the same Merlin or across several. As with output ganging, select unassigned Groups first then click on all parameters that you need to gang. The parameters are fairly obvious by their icons, the input channels have mute, gain and eight bands of EQ, output channels have mute, gain, polarity, high and low lass filter, eight bands of parametric EQ and limiters. If you are not sure what any icon is for just hover the cursor over the button and its label appears;-



Here we see a number of individual parameters ganged across a couple of Merlins;-

Unassigned Groups:	
Merlin Master	
	OUTPUT 2 📲 🚰 🖾 🖾 🖾 🖾 🖾 🖾 🖾 🖾
вирот в 🔺 🖉 🔄 С. С. С. С. С. С. С.	
ририт с 🛛 🛋 🛃 🔄 🔤 🔤 🔤	
INPUT D 🛛 🗶 🔄 🔄 🔄 🔄 🔤	OUTPUTS 🐟 🖉 🚘 🛋 🛋 🛋 🛋 🛋 🛋 🛋 🛋
	OUTPUT 10 🐟 🖉 🔂 La 🖻 La 🕼 🕼 🕼 🕼 🕼 🕼
Merlin Slave	
ляла 🖈 🖁 🚮 🖬 🗛 Баласта 🖓 🖈	OUTRUTS 📲 🛠 🖾 🔈. 🗛 🗛 🎝 🎝 🎝 🎝 🖓
INPUTC 4× 8 14 14 14 14 14	

Turning Ganging Off

To clear a gang just click again on the button you have just used, the gang controls toggle between ganged and un-ganged with each subsequent click. You can clear all ganging from a Merlin by clicking on its name button.

Un-ganging with a single click makes it very easy to create practical ganged systems. For example, perhaps we want all Merlins ganged with the exception of the mute controls so these can be changed independently to make set-up easier. Simply gang all Merlins by clicking on the name buttons, then click on all Mute icons to remove these from the ganging;-

.....



Merlin Master	
NPUT D 🕨 🖌 🗛 🗛 🗛 🗛 🗛 🗛	
Aerlin Slave	



Loading Presets

Once an array has been discovered and tested, the next stage is to upload the optimisation file that has been created using Display 2. This is done using the Preset Loader which is found in the Tools menu;-

	Preset Loader	-
Test	Firmware Update Wizard	aht
Testi	MLA/MLD Conversion Tool	Bur

This brings up the Preset Loader window. In this example we have a small MLA system with two 6 box arrays;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files	Arrays	Assigned D2 Presets	Available D2 presets
NORMAL	UNASSIGNED	MLA Main Left (11 MLA,1 MLD)	UNASSIGNED	
ROCK	UNASSIGNED	MLA Main Right (11 MLA,1 MLD)	UNASSIGNED	
RCHESTRALISPOKEN WORD	UNASSIGNED	Compact Side Left (10 MLAC)	UNASSIGNED	
	UNASSIGNED	Compact Side Right (10 MLAC)	UNASSIGNED	

There are a number of options available but particularly when loading the first preset into an array the first step should always be to click on 'Select D2P File' to navigate to wherever you have saved the D2P file saved when you did your Display 2 optimisation;-

Contraction of the second	ti • My Documents • Mattin Audie • D2 Projects •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	AL Property	
Organize • New folder			15.+/	0
😭 Favorites 🚾 Dexistop	Documents library	Amongolity	Folder •	
a Dewnloads	II tarne	Data modified	Type*	
 Kloud Photos 	- Incode	18/00/2016 15:06	the state	
2 Recent Places	Duer Manual Show	18/10/2016 14:33	First	
Martin Audio	Oosterwoort	23/06/2010 16/27	Field	
Price Lists	Plana Party	24/10/2014 1564	Field	
Enclographs	v2.2 User guide settings all d2p	19/10/2016 17:19	D2P	
	v2.2 Uter guide settings.d2p	18/10/2010 17:18	DZP	Gelect a
2 Becoments	_ 2_box_optimization.dlp	20/09/2016 15:58	DIP	be provi
A Mair	CS_Demo.d2p	21/94/2016 13:39	(12P	
E Pictures	Jamm, Briston-settings. dQp	00/03/2016 13:48	02P	
H Videos	Museum_of_London-settings.d2p	18/02/2014 13:59	(USP	
- 1997	Lanchcroft_v2-settings.d2p	35/12/2015 12:18	(12P	
Computer	Lanchcroft.d2p	38/12/2015 13:14	(12P	
Local Disk (C)	Mini_Demo_room_on_pole.d2p	07,67/2015 18:30	(12P	
CA HP, TOOLS (E)	Demo_Room_4_Box-settings.d2p	26/06/2013 10:04	(12P	
HP_RECOVERY (G)	6_box_test-settings.d2p	12/06/2015/09:51	02P	
😪 Nigel.Meddemmen (\'LOUD-FILE)	B'he • •	and and the	1.8	
File name:		 D2 Preset 	(*.d2p)	



It is essential that you select a d2p file which matchers the array configuration size and type that matches the array to which you wish to upload optimisations. You cannot load a non-matching d2p file!

There are a couple of possible outcomes when you have selected a d2p file. If you have only created one optimisation for your project it will be automatically placed in the array thumbnails ready for synchronisation. In the above list of d2p files, "v2.2_User_guide_settings.d2p" is an example of this. Note that the optimisation will always specify the type of cabinet, in this case MLA. You will be able to select any d2p file but will not be able to synchronise a file created for the wrong type of cabinet. The Window will appear like this;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files	Arrays	Assigned D2 Presets	Available D2 presets
NORMAL	UNASTROPIED .	MLA Main Left (11 MLA,1 MLD)	MUALR	MALR (TIMAS HD)
ROOK	UNABBIGRED	MLA Main Right (11 MLA,1 MLD)	MLALR.	
CHESTRAUSPOKEN WORD	UNASSIGNED	Compact Side Left (10 MLAC)	UNASSIGNED.	
	UNABBIGNED	Compact Side Right (10 MLAC)	UNASSIGNED	
Add Custom PEO File	Least in Barkmonin	a Tarred Preset A -	Preserve array names	Select D2P File

You can see that the optimisation contained within the file called "Main LR" appears in the Available D2 presets list on the right. It is also already showing in the Assigned D2 Presets for both of the Main left and right arrays in our system.

If we created several optimisation for the array, trying a few different goals for example which was done in the file "v2.2_User_guide_settings.d2p_all" in our examples, this is how the window will appear;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files	Arrais	Assigned D2 Presets	Available D2 presets
NORMAL	UNHABBIONED	MLA Main Left (11 MLA,1 MLD)	UNASSIGNED	Basyz(tt)RATHED)
ROOK	UNA-DESCARED	MLA Main Right (11 MLA,1 MLD)	UNASSIGNED	MLALR (TT MLA.1 MLD)
CHESTRAL/SPOKEN WORD	UNASTIGNED	Compact Side Left (10 MLAC)	Correlact Sides	Compart Dides (10 MLAC
	UNASSIONED	Compact Side Right (10 MLAC)	Compact Sides	

This example has three optimisations contained within the file, "Compact sides (10 MLAC)" which has been immediately added to the two MLA Compact arrays as there is only one matching optimisation for the Compact side hangs. There is also "Main v2 (11 MLA, 1 MLD)" and "MLA LR (11 MLA, 1 MLD)". Neither of these have been added to our MLA arrays as they both match therefore we can make the choice of which one we would like to synchronise. At this point you are able to select which file you would like to use by simply clicking and holding with the left mouse button and dragging and dropping from the available list onto the Assigned Presets boxes. Note that you do not necessarily have to load the same optimisation into each array. In the following example, we now have main and side hangs of six cabinets, our d2p file is the same as the previous example and



contains two optimisations. We have dragged "User Manual 6 MLA" over to the Main left and right arrays, and "6 Box alt" over to the side hangs;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files	Artays	Assigned D2 Presets	Available D2 presets
NORMAL	UNIXSSICHED	MLA Array Right (6 MLA)	Usel Manilet 6 MLA	User Manual & MLACE MLA
ROCK	UNASSIGNED	MLA Array Left (6 MLA)	Cover Manual & MLA	I BREAT BUNCAL
RCHESTRALSPOKEN WORD	UNASSCRED	MLA Array Side Left (6 MLA)	6 Bits at	
	UNASSICHED	MLA Array Side Right (6 MLA)	5 Birr at	
	Fault in Bickwoolid	Transferrer 6 al	Preserve array frames	Relat 100 Da

Note that as well as uploading the optimisation file to each array, optimisation files created in Display version 2.2 onwards also contain detail of the spl reference set during the design process, Vu-Net uses this information to make changes to the gain of the subs to maintain a good balance between the arrays and subs. These are the gain changes;-

Optimisation reference of 110db or more: Optimisation reference 105dB: Optimisation reference 100dB or less: Sub Output Gain +10dB Sub Output Gain +5dB Sub Output Gain 0dB

PEQ files

On the left side of the Window you can see three available PEQ files, Normal, Rock, and Orchestra/Spoken Word. Note that the available list of PEQ files may change depending on the product, MLA Mini for example only has a 'Normal' PEQ available. These may also be dragged over to the Assigned PEQ file position;-



It is important to do this not only to add some tonal EQ to the system but the PEQ synchronisation also performs a reset function on certain parameters in the array. It matches the input setting for every cabinet in the array to the first enclosure and resets the array delay to the default setting. Here we have applied the Rock PEQ to all arrays;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files
NORMAL	ROCK
ROCK	ROCK
ORCHESTRAL/SPOKEN WORD	ROCK
	ROCK



There is also the option to load a Custom PEQ file;-



A PEQ file that has been created in an array can be saved as a file by right-clicking on the array in the System Diagram window. To up-load the file at the same time as synchronising Optimisations, click on the 'Add Custom PEQ File..."button and navigate to the file location where the .mlap PEQ file is saved. Click on the file and it will appear in the list of available PEQ files and can be dragged across in the same way as any other;

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files
NORMAL	User Guide PEQ
ROCK	User Guide PEQ
ORCHESTRAL/SPOKEN WORD	User Guide PEQ
User Guide PEQ	User Guide PEQ

It is important to understand that a Custom PEQ will NOT perform the same system reset as one of the factory PEQ's so we would always recommend using a Factory PEQ for your first Sync and then add your own PEQ if you load any subsequent new Optimisations or use the right-click 'PEQ- Load PEQ' function in the array thumbnail on the System Diagram Window.

Note that you do not have to have the same PEQ applied to every array and if you wish to change the file prior to Synchronisation just drag the new file over to the array and it will replace the existing file type;-

Available PEQ Files	Assigned PEQ Files
NORMAL	ROCK
ROCK	ROCK
ORCHESTRAL/SPOKEN WORD	User Guide PEQ
User Guide PEQ	User Guide PEQ

Note that Optimisations created using Version 2.2 onwards contain version information that Vu-net uses to make subtle changes to the default EQ curves loaded.

Other options

There are some other options available in the Preset Loader. From right to left you will find 'Preserve array names';-

Preserve array names

If you have already named your arrays check with box prior to synchronisation. Without it the arrays will be renamed with the same name as the D2 optimisation.

Target snapshot allows you to select the cabinet snapshot into which an optimisation will be loaded;-



Target snapshot:	8 -
	8
	D
	E
	G
	H
	1
	ĸ

There are ten available labelled from B to K. A is the default factory preset with basic box EQ which may be used whilst checking a system or in an emergency, all other are available for your optimisations and once uploaded can be selected in a few seconds. Select the desired location using the drop down button.

Load in Background is very useful for uploading new optimisations after your first files have been synchronised. Clicking on the Load in Background button removes the PEQ options and the window appears as follows;-

VU-NET				o B ×
Preset Loader Please select 02P file, drag & drop	o the D2 presets from the right panel ar	d the PEQ files from the left pane	I to the arrays in the centre and pres	s Synchroniae'.
	Assigned PEQ Files	Arrays	Assigned D2 Presets	Available D2 presets
	PRESERVE	MLA Array Right (6 MLA)	User Manual 6 McA	User Manuar 6 MLA (6 HLA)
	PRESERVE	MLA Array Left (6 MLA)	User Manual & MLA	6 Box at (6 MLA)
	Load in Background	Target Preset E •	🕜 Preserve array names	Select D2P File
				Synchronise Close

The PEQ already uploaded will be preserved and if you select an alternative snapshot to the one currently being used you can even synchronise while the system is in use. It will synchronise in the background as the name suggests without disturbing system performance and you can then wait for an appropriate break in a show or rehearsal to select the new snapshot.

Synchronise

Once you have completed your selection of the available options, the final step is to click on the Synchronise button to start the Preset upload. You will see a series of Windows that show the process of the upload including the following;-

Uploadin	g D2 preset to 'MLA Array Left' array.	

The presets are loaded to each array in turn, in our example first the left array. The optimisation is then stored in a snapshot;-



0°	toring snapsho	ot in 1 seconds.		
			-	-

The snapshot will be recalled;-



The PEQ's will be loaded. This step will not take place if you selected 'Load in Background';-

0	Loading PEQs into 'User Manual 6 MLA' array.	
		Cancel

It will repeat these steps for all arrays on the network. Once finished you will see this window;-



You can then close the Preset Loader. It can be re-used whenever you wish to upload new optimisations. In particular if you have created several optimisations for an array in the same D2P file or independently, just repeat the Preset Loading process selecting the same D2p file but dragging the alternative optimisations into the array. Select the load in Background option as there is no need to keep uploading PEQ files, and select a different target preset. Once uploaded you can compare your optimisations by selecting the different presets by right-clicking on the array thumbnail and choosing the 'Load Preset' option.



Master Overview

Vu-Net features a Master Overview window intended for use following set-up when it is useful to view the entire system on a single page with the ability to monitor all levels and make changes to essential functions.

Here we see a project with a variety of U-Net enabled devices connected including an array of one MLA and an MLD, a flown MLA Mini system, a PSX, DDD12 and a Merlin;-



If we click on the Master Overview button;-



A new tab is opened with a window showing all devices in operation;-





The MLA array shows the input bargraph plus all Cell output bargraphs for all cabinets in the array, all other arrays and speakers show input and output levels and all Merlins display input and output meters. All bargraphs are updated in real time which makes monitoring an entire system very easy from a single page.

In addition to monitoring the meter response, essential features are accessible. The function control is the same for all Array and speaker types;-



The top line shows the input configuration for the array, if this needs to be changed clicking on the top line takes you to the array input overview screen where you can change the input configuration. If the array isn't already open it will be opened by clicking on this button.

On the second row is GAIN. Gain adjustments can be made by clicking on this button. A pop out fader appears which can be adjusted in real time, either by dragging and dropping the fader knob until the desired gain value is displayed,





Using the up/down arrows to adjust the gain up or down in 0.1dB increments;-



Or by directly typing the gain figure you need;-



A click anywhere in the Master Overview Window away from the gain control will close it once you have made any necessary adjustments.

Next to the gain is Mute, clicking on this will mute the array and the button will turn red;-



Note that when in Show Mode a pop-out Window will appear to confirm that you want to mute the array.

Clicking on Delay opens a pop-out window showing the gain figure with a series of arrows for adjustment;-

USER GUIDE





Clicking on the arrows will adjust the delay up or down by either 100's, 10s, individual or tenths of a millisecond making it very quick and easy to enter a precise figure. As with gain, clicking anywhere else once you have completed adjustments will close the window.

The Window for PSX is slightly different in that it has individual delay adjustment for both the sub and main outputs;-



The EQ button will take you directly to the EQ Window for the array, opening it in a new tab if it is not already present.

Double clicking on Merlin will also open it in a new tab, the tab on view will be the last tab that was in use if the Merlin has already been opened, or the Gain/Mute/Limiters tab if it is not already open.

The layout of the Master Overview screen will by default show the arrays in size order. This will automatically re-size to ensure that all elements fit in the window. Elements can be dragged and dropped to arrange the system to your requirements. A series of buttons and a display on the right hand size of the window allow adjustment of the view and shows the current zoom;-



'Fit to screen' offers a quick method of re-sizing the window to ensure that all elements are visible.

System Layout' will move all elements to match the layout in the system diagram, If you moved all devices during set-up in the system diagram to represent their actual physical positions around the venue default, clicking on this button will duplicate your layout in the Master Overview.

You can choose to return to the default Auto layout by clicking the Auto Layout button, this will bring up a confirmation window



?	This will reset Master Overview layout. Continue?
---	--

Clicking 'Yes' or pressing Return will reset the layout to the default and the display will confirm the new zoom and that Automatic layout has been activated;-



As soon as you move any elements or zoom in or out the Auto Layout will disappear.

The Zoom in and out buttons will change the zoom in steps of 10% up or down. This can also be achieved if you have a mouse connected with a scroll wheel. Zoom 1:1 restores the window to 100% regardless of whether any elements will be outside of the view.



Show Mode

Show mode is designed to offer a degree of protection once set-up is complete and a show has started to prevent the user from muting part of the system accidentally. With Show Mode inactive during set-up, all mutes can be used as and when required with a simple mouse click; the array will mute and unmute instantly under command of the button. When Show Mode is activated, clicking a Mute button anywhere in the system will bring up a confirmation window;-



The window is slightly different for a zone mute;-



For a DD12 or CDD Live speaker;-



The Sub and main Mutes for the PSX have different mute messages;-







And finally the input and output channels on a Merlin;-



If you definitely want to mute the array, zone or speaker, click 'Yes' or press Return. If you accidentally clicked on a Mute, click 'No' and the window will disappear with no change to the mute state.

Un-muting part of the system could also potentially be destructive so a similar message will prompt you to confirm the action;-



Note that the Master system Mute on the toolbar is not affected by Show Mode, as it is so destructive it always produces a prompt to verify that you wish to proceed.

The Output diagnostics for MLAS, MLA Compact or MLA Mini is also unavailable in Show Mode. Double clicking on the array thumbnail will bring up the following window;-



If an array has the diagnostics window already open before activating Show Mode, the Mute Array button and individual cell mutes for each cabinet will be unavailable, you will see the following window if you click on any of these;-





You will however be able to click on the 'Hide' button to close the diagnostics screen and any muted cells will be un-muted. You will not be able to go back to the diagnostics page until Show mode is switched off.



Firmware Updates

Martin Audio is constantly striving to make improvements to the MLA family of products. The phenomenal processing power available makes them extremely future proof so as Martin Audio improve the optimisation capabilities of Display2 or add additional functions to Vu-Net. The MLA Series will seamless run the improvements. Occasionally an update to the cabinet Firmware is needed which is catered for in Vu-Net using the Firmware update Wizard.

If you have sub-rented additional cabinets you may find that your rental partner has not been quite so diligent in keeping their system firmware up to date and device discovery will show some cabinets with a differing firmware versions. In this instance it is essential to update firmware on the miss-matched cabinets, do not try to run a system with a mixture of firmware, it could cause compatibility

In common with many digital systems, a firmware update puts the product in a venerable state known as "boot mode". It is vital that the firmware update is not interrupted by either a mains outage, cable disconnect or closing Vu-Net. Any of these could render the product unusable which may mean a return to Martin Audio for repair therefore you should take every possible precaution before commencing a firmware update. ALWAYS use a hard wired connection from your PC to the system, do not rely on Wi-Fi. Always use your PC with its mains PSU, do not rely on battery power. Try and ensure that your mains supply is reliable and is not likely to fail mid-update. Finally, the update process takes around 13 minutes per enclosure so on a large system is very time consuming. It is strongly recommended that firmware is checked when a system is prepped prior to a show back at your warehouse, it is not a task for set-up on a show day.

Get Firmware Updates

To make sure that you are loading the latest updates Vu-Net includes a system for checking that you have the latest firmware files installed so they are available to upgrade your system. The files are held in a server at Martin Audio and are accessed over the internet so to get the latest files you will need internet connectivity to your PC. Note that you can get Firmware update files completely independently, you do not need to be connected to an MLA system, the simple method is to take the tablet PC supplied with your system to your office, connect to the web and check for updates. Note also that whenever new firmware is released you will be notified by e-mail.

The Get Firmware Updates button is in the bottom right corner of the Vu-Net window;-



Click on the button and the following Window gives you three options;-



	VUNet Firmware Database is 71 DAY(S) OLD.
	DOWNLOAD THE LATEST FIRMWARE FILES
Download A connec	t the latest firmware files to the VUNet Firmware Database. tion to the Internet is required.
PROC	EED WITH FIRMWARE UPGRADE USING VUNET FIRMWARE DATABASE
Upgrade I A connec	irmware in the connected devices using the VUNet Firmware Database tion to the Internet is NOT required.
ş	PROCEED WITH FIRMWARE UPGRADE USING EXTERNAL VUA FILE
Upgrade I file which Please us be update A connec	immware in the connected devices using the ".VUA (VUNet Update Arch can be downloaded from the Martin Audio website e this option only if the VUNet Firmware Database is obsolete and cann ed using the "DOWNLOAD THE LATEST FIRMWARE FILES" button. tion to the Internet is NOT required.

The first option as described accesses the firmware server via the internet. The URL for the Update file location is retained in the Vu-Net Preferences;-

Firmw	are update $\phi \star \bullet \star \star$
Upda	ate Server
-	

Do not change this unless told to do so by Martin Audio!

Click on the 'DOWNLOAD THE LATEST FIRMWARE FILES' option and you will see the flowing window;-

Retrieving firms	vare files	
		Cancel

This is usually very rapid but depends on the speed of your internet connection. The latest files are now saved within Vu-Net ready for an upgrade. At the top of the Firmware Update window you will see;-





The Second option is to proceed with the update using the already installed firmware files. This is perfectly acceptable if you have already uploaded the latest files following a message from Martin Audio that there is a new release, or if you have periodically gone on line to load the latest files routinely. Clicking the 'PROCEED WITH FIRMWARE UPGRADE USING VUNET FIRMWARE DATABASE' button and the window closes and the Firmware Update process starts.

The final option is to update the Firmware using an external VUA file. If for any reason you are unable to update the Firmware database via the internet if it is impractical to connect the Tablet PC for example, but have access to the web on another computer, it is possible to download the firmware file and transfer it to the system Tablet via a USB drive or similar.

Clicking on the 'PROCEED WITH FIRMWARE UPGRADE USING EXTERNAL VUA FILE' button will bring up a file browser. Navigate to the drive where the VUA file is located, in this case on a Martin Audio USB Key;-

Organize . New folder			B. D. 0
Desktop Downloads Dropbox Icloud Photos Recent Places Documents Documents Music Photoes Pictures Videos	Namie	Date modified 31/10/2013 16:11	Type VUA File Select e to previe
Computer Local Disk (Ci) Local Disk (Ci) Local Disk (Ci)			

Select the VUA file, it will be saved and the update wizard will commence.

Starting a Firmware Update.

Selecting the Firmware Update Wizard in the Vu-Net Tools menu opens the same window as the Get Firmware updates to doublecheck that you have the latest versions. Assuming that you have definitely installed the very latest versions you can click on 'PROCEED WITH FIRMWARE UPGRADE USING VUNET FIRMWARE DATABASE'. Vu-Net will scan the U-Net network for connected devices in the same way as a Device Discovery;-

ogress Intor	mation		
O Plei	ase wait, discoverin	ig devices on the netw	vork
	_	-	

When the scan is complete, a window will appear with a list of all devices found together with their type, Serial number and the installed firmware;-



scovered devices: 1 Merlin, 12	MLA			
Name	Туре	UNET serial number	Firmware	Upgrade available
Merlin Sys Ctrl	Merlin	78742CC0075230A	2.0.3	NO
MLA-025	MLA	45CE466F00836504	1.2.48	NO
MLA-012	MLA	D9F0466800912609	1.2.48	NO
MLA-015	MLA	E6C145D800382601	1.2.48	NO
MLA-035	MLA	B68244C100759101	1.2.48	NO
MLA-011	MLA	CD1040D600097101	1.2.48	NO
MLA-013	MLA	F4AF401600484200	1.2.48	NO
MLA-041	MLA	C19D466F00836504	1.2.48	NO
MLA-028	MLA	6AE542AC02C94101	1.2.48	NO
MLA-022	MLA	CB97466F0083650A	1.2.48	NO
MLA-024	MLA	3E9B41A46F9407AD	1.2.48	NO
MLA-007	MLA	56E1435C0041810B	1.2.48	NO
MLA-002	MLA	86794A6701C2030C	1.2.48	NO
elect All Upgradable (green)	eselect All			Refresh

Vu-Net compares the discovered Firmware version with the latest version stored in its database and will indicate in the final column whether an upgrade is available. In this instance a single Merlin and twelve MLA have been found and all have up to date firmware however we can still proceed with an update to show how the process works.

In the left hand column there is a check box to select any device which you would like to update. The button at the bottom gives you the option to select all cabinets if required with a single click. If you have made an error in selecting devices you can use the 'Deselect' all switch to start again. We will do an update on the final two MLA;-

			110
MLA	56E1435C0041810B	1.2.48	NO
MLA	86794A6701C2030C	1.2.48	NO
	MLA MLA	MLA 56E1435C0041810B MLA 86794A6701C2030C	MLA 56E1435C0041810B 1.2.48 MLA 86794A6701C2030C 1.2.48

Click next and you see the following window;-

Name	Type	UNET serial number	Current firmware	Upgrade/Downgrade to
MLA-007	MLA	56E1435C00418108	1.2.48	select
/ILA-002	MLA	86794.46701.C2030C	1.2.48	select



The current firmware is shown and the final column has an option to select the required firmware which in most cases would be a new version but could be an old firmware if say a bug has been found in a current version and it is necessary to downgrade to an earlier version. If there are several versions available, clicking on the Upgrade/Downgrade cell will bring up a drop-down showing the version numbers. Select the version you wish to use and it will appear in the final column;-

elect appropriate firmware vi	rsion for each device			
Name	Туре	UNET serial number	Current firmware	Upgrade/Downgrade to
MLA-007	MLA	56E1435C0041810B	1.2.48	1.2,48
MLA-002	MLA	86794.46701C2030C	1.2.48	1.2.48

Click on 'Next' to start the update. You will first see the following warning to ensure that every measure has been taken to ensure that the update will complete successfully;-

Warning Update is about to start		60
USE A WIRED CONNECTION B DO NOT TURN OF OR DISCON IT IS RECOMMENDED TO DISC UPDATING MERLIN FIRMWARE	ETWEEN PC AND THE DEVICES NECT DEVICES ONNECT ALL UNET DEVICES(SI	PEAKERS) WHEN
	< Back Next >	Finish Cancel

Click 'Next' and the upgrade will start. A progress window will appear showing the processes in the upgrade taking place. The system tackles one device at a time, placing it into Boot Mode, uploading the firmware and rebooting the device back into an operating mode;-


Firmware update	
Update Update process	0,0,0
binary 6OK → Verifying data binary 1 OK binary 2 OK binary 3 OK binary 4 OK binary 5 OK binary 5 OK → Rebooting module to standard mode → Wating for the device to boot up	
< link - Not >	Finish Cancel
Firmware update	
Update process	10,0,0
binary 6 OK > Verifying data binary 1 OK binary 2 OK binary 3 OK binary 4 OK binary 5 OK binary 6 OK	
	Update Update Update Update Update Update Update Simary 6 OK Simary 2 OK Simary 2 OK Simary 3 OK Simary 4 OK Simary 5 OK Simar

Once completed you will see the following;-

.....



Click 'OK' and then click on 'Finish' on the Update Progress Window. The update is complete.



MLA/MLD Conversion Tool

The MLA and MLD use identical amplifier modules but require different firmware to be installed for correct operation. This utility function is fairly obviously best performed back in the warehouse when a system is prepped but may be necessary in an emergency if a module fails in an MLA and the only spare module is an MLD or vice versa. As with a Firmware upgrade, the process involves placing a cabinet into Boot Mode, deleting the currently installed Firmware and re-flashing the module with new Firmware. Whilst a conversion is taking place the module is in just as venerable a state as for a firmware upgrade so exactly the same precautions need to be taken. Make absolutely certain that the mains feed will not be interrupted. Use a hard-wired network connection and make sure that you have minimised the possibility of any cables being disconnected.

To use the tool your Vu-Net project cannot have any devices already in the System Diagram so either delete all devices (making sure you save your project first) or better still start a new project. Select the MLA/MLD Conversion tool from the Tools menu, you will see an 'Operation in progress' window while Vu-Net scans the U-Net network for all connected MLA or MLD in a similar way to a Device Discovery;-

Progress Information	a based, break lines
Operation in progres	14-a
-	
	Cancel

The following Window will appear once the scan is completed;-

ILA/MLD list					
Controller	Name	IP	Instance ID	Firmware	Refresh Device List
MLA	MLA-025	10.11.2.29	19	1.2.45	
MLA	MLA-012	10.11.2.29	0C	1.2.48	Conver to MLD
MEA	MLA-015	10.11.2.29	0F	1.2.48	Converte MLA
MLA	MLA-035	10.11.2.29	23	1.2.48	2 hactature contractor
MLA	MLA-011	10.11.2.29	08	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-013	10.11.2.29	0D	1.2.48	
MLA.	MLA-041	10.11.2.29	29	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-028	10.11.2.29	1C	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-022	10.11.2.29	16	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-024	10.11.2.29	18	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-007	10.11.2.29	07	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-049	10.11.2.29	31	1.2.48	

All devices will be listed showing their unique name the network IP and ID plus the firmware presently installed. Click on the cabinet you wish to convert, the Conversion Tool can only change one cabinet at a time although it is unlikely you will need to do more than one in most situations. If you select an MLA you will have the option to convert to MLD and vice versa. In this example we will convert the last MLA in the list (MLA-049) to an MLD. Once the box is selected click 'Convert to MLD'. You will see a window asking you to confirm which Firmware version you would like to use. Generally there will not be a choice but if there are still older firmware versions installed you have the option to down-grade to the older version;-

USER GUIDE





One you have selected the firmware click on 'Upgrade', you will see a window which shows the progress of the firmware conversion;-

	Update progress	×
*	Updating MLA (MLA-002) Retrieving update files OK UNET MODULE UPDATE > Rebooting module to update mode > Waiting for the device to boot up OK > Rebooting module to standard mode > Waiting for the device to boot up OK > Fining BOOT ID > Waiting for the device to boot up OK > Rebooting module to update mode > Waiting for the device to boot up OK > Rebooting module to update mode > Waiting for the device to boot up OK > Erasing flash memory OK > Witing data binary 1	
0K	Update progress:	0K 23
*	 Waiting for the device to boot upOK >> Waiting for the device to boot upOK >> Waiting for the device to boot upOK >> Erasing flash memoryOK >> Writing data binary 1OK binary 3OK binary 4OK binary 1 OK binary 2 OK binary 2 OK binary 2 OK binary 3 OK binary 3 OK binary 3 OK binary 3 OK binary 5 OK 	
		XX Update progress UPdating MLA (MLA-002) Retrieving update files OK UWET MODULE UPDATE -> Rebooting module to update mode -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Febooting module to standard mode -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Febooting module to update mode -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Faing BOOT ID -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Faing BOOT ID -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Faing Blash memory OK -> Sebooting module to update mode -> Waiting data binary 1 -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Frasing flash memory OK -> Waiting for the device to boot up OK -> Rebooting module to update mode -> Witting data binary 1 -> Witting data binary 1 -> CK -> Writing data binary 2 -> OK -> OK -> Writing data binary 1 -> OK -> Fasing flash memory OK -> Writing data binary 1 -> OK -> OK -> Writing data binary 1 -> OK -> OK -> Writing data binary 2 -> OK -> OK -> Writing data binary 3 -> OK -> OK -> Very driving data binary 2 -> OK -> OK<

When the conversion is finished you will see a confirmation window;-



Click 'OK' and close the update progress monitor. Vu-Net will then re-scan U-Net to check all connected devices;-

.....

USER GUIDE



	Operation in progress	0

You will then see the same Window as previously showing all connected devices, note how the last enclosure in the list is now an MLD;-

LA/MLD list					
Controller	Name	3P	Instance ID	Firmware	Refresh Device List
MLA	MLA-025	10.11.2.29	19	1.2.48	And the second second second
AIN	MLA-012	10.11.2.29	0C	1.2.48	Conver to MLD
MLA.	MLA-015	10.11.2.29	OF	1.2.48	Converts MLA
MLA	MLA-035	10.11.2.29	23	1.2.48	
VILA.	MLA-011	10.11.2.29	08	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-013	10.11.2.29	00	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-041	10.11.2.29	29	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-028	10.11.2.29	10	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-022	10.11.2.29	16	1.2.48	
MLA	MLA-024	10,11,2,29	18	1.2.48	
MLA.	MLA-007	10.11.2.29	07	1.2.48	
MLD	MLD-002	10.11.2.29	02	1.2.48	

The window can be closed and a system discovered and used in the normal way.